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CERTAIN TERMS
 

Unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) to “Rekor Systems, Inc.,” “Rekor,”
“Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Rekor Systems, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
 
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. federal securities laws. All statements other than statements of
historical facts, such as statements regarding the objectives of management, timing and the likelihood of success of various activities, the future
performance of current and prospective products and services and our future results of operations and financial position, are forward-looking statements,
which include all expressions of the expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions, plans, prospects or strategies of the Company. These statements involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from
any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terms such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “target,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “contemplates,” “believes,”
“estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” “possible,” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. These forward-looking statements
are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the management of the Company in light of their respective experience and perception of historical
trends, current conditions and expected future developments and their potential effects on the Company as well as other factors they believe are appropriate
in the circumstances. They speak only as of the date of this Annual Report and are subject to several substantial risks, uncertainties and assumptions
described under the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Because forward-looking statements are inherently subject to
risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified and some of which are beyond our control, actual results or performance to be
materially different from those expressed or implied and you should not rely on these forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. There can
be no assurance that future developments affecting the Company will be those anticipated. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or
should any of the assumptions being made prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-
looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
 
Overview
 

We are a global leader in the development and implementation of intelligent infrastructure focused on addressing critical challenges across
transportation management, public safety, and key commercial markets. With a real-time intelligence platform driven by deep access to data, AI-powered
software, and smart optical devices at-the-edge, we combine our industry expertise and advanced proprietary technologies to deliver unrivaled insights that
increase roadway safety, efficiency, and sustainability while enabling safer, smarter, and more connected cities and communities. We operate across 80
countries as we deliver transformative mission-critical intelligent infrastructure solutions and services for government agencies and commercial clients in
the United States and around the world. 
 

Digital Divide
 

Society is increasingly digital, automated, and real-time. Technological advancements in the past decade have transformed the way people connect,
interact, and transact with others and with the world around them. Infrastructure is the backbone of a functioning economy: people, vehicles, materials, and
information all require 24/7 mobility, something that depends on well-maintained, synchronized networks and systems. Unfortunately, many areas of the
world are faced with aging and legacy infrastructure today resulting from decades of neglect and underinvestment, particularly in the sectors of
transportation, mobility, and public safety. The cost, complexity and interdependency of these systems have made many organizations slow to adopt
advances in technology.  This creates a digital divide between what is made possible by technology, and the current reality of infrastructure today. We see
an array of corresponding concerns around mobility, public safety, and sustainability impact:

 

 

● Staggering fatalities and injuries: Globally, roadway crashes cause nearly 1.3 million
preventable deaths and 50 million injuries each year – making it the leading killer of children
and young people worldwide. These numbers in both absolute and relative terms, have
remained largely unchanged for the past 20 years.

 

● Urbanization complexities: As of 2021, 57% of the world's population lives in urban areas,
and expected to increase to 68% by 2050, adding about 2.22 billion “connected” people to
urban areas. Complexities of urban traffic has been forcing city planners and governments to
find smarter ways to improve mobility by reducing traffic congestion, ensure road safety and
above all limit serious environmental damage due to increased pollution.

 ● Mushrooming Congestion: Traffic congestion costs Americans an average of 97 hours and
more than $1,000 in wasted fuel and time every year.

 

● Disjointed systems and siloed communication: Traffic managers and first responders today
rely on a patchwork of separate, non-integrated systems.  The inability to seamlessly share
data between systems and communicate analytical results between agencies and departments
in real time, means critical decisions are being made without the most accurate and up-to-date
information.

 

● Legacy and underused technology: Most technology currently used for traffic management
and public safety is limited to a single purpose and does not make use of the most recent
advances in imaging, data science and communications. It is also often priced at a premium,
placing it outside the reach of many agencies and departments.

 

● Manual and analog approaches: Current incident and hazard detection relies heavily on
physical inspections, observation, and citizen reporting. This creates knowledge gaps,
burdens resources, and slows responses. Traffic managers and first responders are obligated
to use manual processes to monitor roadway status and communicate with supporting
departments.

 
● Outdated, damaged highways: The National Highway System was built in 1956.  Since

then the population of the United States has more than doubled, while vehicle miles traveled
have quadrupled. Today, 50% of roads are rated in poor or mediocre condition.

 
Continued population growth and increased urbanization present unprecedented economic, mobility, public safety, and environmental challenges to

cities, states, and metropolitan areas. Today’s challenges cannot be solved by simply replicating existing approaches and adding more legacy technology.
For the ongoing mobility transformation to keep up with fast-changing global dynamics requires inventive approaches. Enhancements in data collection,
analytics and communications can be employed. 
 

Smarter, data-driven solutions can make better use of existing infrastructure, rather than tearing it up and starting over. Roads, bridges, tunnels, and
residential areas have much “to tell us” about how to optimally serve the public with an efficient, safe, and healthy living environment if we tap into the
data it can provide and exploit that knowledge intelligently. Successful approaches will leverage AI-powered software, smart devices, data, and solutions
that can integrate into existing infrastructure and workflows. We see this as the path to intelligence-driven infrastructure and one that gives us a clear
market advantage. 
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Bridging the Divide
 

Spurred by the 2021 Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act in the United States, we expect the world to see a once-in-a-generation surge of investment
in infrastructure and competitiveness. The bill allocates $550 billion in new spending, spread out over five years, to rebuild roads, bridges and rails, and
airports, in addition to providing high-speed internet access and addressing climate concerns. As part of this, federal, state, and local governments are
prioritizing strategic investments dedicated to improving existing transportation management and increasing public safety through modern, efficient, and
connected infrastructure. Officials are also planning for roadways of the future that can account for connected and autonomous vehicles. With these
investments, we estimate an addressable global intelligent infrastructure market of $148 billion by 2026.
 

With access to multiple sources of data and our award winning AI-driven innovations, we believe we have established a leadership position in
intelligent infrastructure solutions that puts us at the center of this emerging opportunity. With our advanced technology and domain expertise, we have
developed solutions that address diverse use cases across a number of public and private sector segments.  Using our proprietary centralized platform to
maximize the value of our technology to customers, we are well positioned to help governments and businesses collect, analyze and turn infrastructure data
into insights with new products and services that increase mobility and safety, drive revenue, and power innovation for billions of people and trillions of
interactions.
 
Intelligence-Driven Innovation
 

As described below, we have concentrated on developing our intelligent infrastructure solutions to work through a single integrated platform, which
creates a unique, market-advantaged position for us. The volume, variety, velocity, and veracity of data that we capture and apply to our proprietary
artificial intelligence and machine learning models provide us with an even greater advantage. From the very beginning, we have been collecting,
aggregating, cleansing, extracting, transforming, and using data to build and improve our models. 
 

Today, we can look at the roadway and extract and process a deeply detailed picture of the environment and what is moving in that environment with
an unmatched level of accuracy in our inferences, predictive analytics, and insights. We are rapidly growing the geographic area connected by smart optical
IoT devices at-the-edge to the open architecture of our Rekor One intelligence platform. In addition to digitizing existing infrastructure by capturing real-
time data from new and existing roadway devices, our platform enables us to extend the scope of our knowledge via proprietary algorithms that pull the
data and process it through our models. This reduces our clients’ need to invest in legacy system upgrades and gives them the ability to gain additional
value from existing infrastructure. Beyond this, we are augmenting our own data through a growing network of data partners.  This provides multiple
trillions of additional data points that unlock further real-time and predictive operational insights about what is happening in a given transportation
environment at every moment. Example data sources from our partner network include mobility, navigation, and traffic applications, in-vehicle data,
connected, autonomous vehicles ("CAV") datasets, weather, supply chain, event management, and a rapidly growing list of customer-provided and crowd-
sourced data. The more data we capture and inject into our machine learning models, the smarter and more accurate they become. Due to the incredible
strength and accuracy of our models, we can extract more data from the roadways than ever before possible, and generate rich multi-dimensional insights
for our customers about what is happening in real-time. In addition, we use AI-driven predictive analytics to forecast what will happen in the next five
minutes, in 12 or 24 hours, and even days and months into the future. From these insights, customers can make better informed proactive decisions and
achieve improved operational efficiency through a more strategic allocation of resources. All of this is facilitated by our proprietary Rekor One™
intelligence platform.
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Fueled by Data and Artificial Intelligence
 

At the core of all our intelligent infrastructure solutions is the Rekor One intelligence platform. Fueled by rich data and powered by AI, Rekor One is
purpose-built to be a single source of truth and insights serving multiple customer segments and multiple missions. From Rekor One, we can
simultaneously deliver vertical-specific solutions for traffic management, public safety, and commercial markets.
 

 
With the Rekor One platform as our foundation, we collect and transform data into information, and information into knowledge to give governments

and businesses a comprehensive picture of roadways, vehicles, traffic, incidents, and more. Our solutions deliver unrivaled insights that increase roadway
safety, efficiency, and sustainability while enabling safer, smarter, and more connected cities and communities.

 
Built on the foundation of Rekor One, we deliver vertical-specific solutions for traffic management, public safety, and commercial markets.

 
Example use-cases we can support include:

 
 ● Traffic management and analytics
 ● Predictive traffic congestion modeling and forecasting
 ● Roadway monitoring and incident detection and response
 ● Support systems for integrated corridor management
 ● Electric vehicle adoption and charge station planning
 ● Commercial vehicle and tonnage monitoring and analysis
 ● Real-time emissions analysis, sustainability, and green initiatives
 ● Live and archival HD video management and traffic surveillance
 ● Law enforcement and intelligence-based policing
 ● Contactless compliance and enforcement
 ● Vehicle and license plate recognition for public safety
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The Road Ahead
 

We believe the world is at an inflection point. In the next five years, governments will make significant investments to improve aging infrastructure,
roadway conditions, and public safety via modern, efficient, and connected infrastructure. Recent technological developments such as artificial intelligence,
the internet of things, edge- and cloud-based computing, and advances in rich data management have put us in a unique position to help revolutionize
mobility through intelligent infrastructure and close the gap between rapidly evolving technology and aging, legacy infrastructure. These are not just our
aspirational goals, but things we’re working on now. By aggregating data from optical sensors, connected vehicles, and third-party providers, processing it
using artificial intelligence, and packaging it to provide real-time insights and long-term solutions for intelligent infrastructure, we sustainably help
governments and businesses address both issues of aging infrastructure and the unprecedented mobility, public safety, economic, and environmental
challenges they face.
 

We believe our leadership in intelligent infrastructure solutions, advanced technology, and breadth of use cases across multiple industries puts us in an
advantaged market position at the forefront of developing a new economy and poised to unlock massive gains as we provide governments and businesses
with new products and services that use trillions of intelligent infrastructure interactions to increase safety and sustainability, drive revenue, and power
innovation for the benefit of billions of people.
 

Our operations are conducted by our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Rekor Recognition Systems, Inc. (“Rekor Recognition”) and Waycare Technologies,
Ltd. (“Waycare”).
 
Platforms, Products, and Solutions
 

We generate revenue through the sale of software and software related data services as well as through the sale of associated hardware and peripheral
products. Our Rekor One™ platform has been designed as the engine of a unifying operating system that supports the assimilation analysis and distribution
of the data generated from these products and services as well as data incorporated from other sources. While we expect to continue to provide long-term
licenses with maintenance contracts in the case of certain strategic partnerships and customized fulfillment for large customers, we expect the bulk of our
current solutions to be sold through subscriptions using a software as a service (“SaaS”) sales model. In some cases, these subscriptions are associated with
hardware sales, while in others they are provided for use with existing systems. An advantage of the Rekor One™ platform is that it is designed to enable
customers to subscribe to our software services for use on a network of existing sensors and then supplement and upgrade the network over time using our
custom-designed proprietary sensor systems.
 
Rekor One™ Intelligence Platform
 

Rekor One™ was purpose-built to be our foundation as a single AI-powered intelligence platform designed to serve multiple missions. Rekor One™ is
a modular, configurable, rapid development platform that houses the machine learning models and other proprietary technology that power all our business
lines and solutions, including Rekor One™ for Traffic Management, Rekor One™  for Public Safety, and multiple commercial use-cases. 
 

Rekor One™ and all our intelligent infrastructure solutions powered by Rekor One™ use industry leading security technologies and standards to
protect all captured and connected data from unauthorized access or use. We use end-to-end encryption and proprietary data filters as additional protective
measures. Data that we capture is used to feed our services and solutions under strict privacy protocols. Customers can access their data 24/7 until it is
purged and have the flexibility to manage their data retention periods based on their needs and local regulations. Our platform also uses AWS GovCloud
hosting for secure data handling and is stored in secure databases where only authorized system admins have access. Additionally, Rekor One™
incorporates Rekor’s privacy filter to strip personally identifiable information (“PII”) from data using our proprietary algorithm that is completely
irreversible. 
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Rekor One™ Traffic Management Solutions
 
Our suite of Traffic Management solutions is powered by the Rekor One™ intelligence platform and its proprietary data, artificial intelligence, and

machine learning technologies. Within the Traffic Management vertical, we provide a wide range of solutions that can benefit cities, states, municipalities,
departments of transportation and transit agencies. These products include software modules for Roadway Monitoring and Response (“RMR”), Traffic and
Infrastructure Analytics (“TIA”), and our Live and Archival Traffic View (“LATV”). In all instances, our Rekor One™ Traffic Management solutions
include a subscription that allows customers to effectively digitize their data resources from existing infrastructure and leverage that data with third-party
data and software based services we provide. As described below, these solutions give them advanced tools to make critical real-time decisions as well as
develop long-range strategies that improve the lives of their citizens.

 
Rekor One™ Traffic Management - Roadway Monitoring and Response

 
Powered by Rekor One™, our RMR solution is a full-scale cross-agency incident detection and management solution that allows customers to

effectively implement incident detection and management within their existing workflow and gain real-time access to vital information needed to rapidly
identify, manage, and recover from incidents.
 

The RMR solution is used to identify and verify incidents as well as assist in responding to and clearing them. It uses Rekor’s proprietary technology
to detect anomalies and irregularities in traffic patterns, understand when incidents happen, and even identify areas of high risk where incidents can
potentially occur in the future. These tools make incident detection far more reliable and efficient. Departments of Transportation (“DOT”) are now able to
quickly identify the anomalies and incidents on roads in real-time and see them displayed on a user-friendly live map interface. Dashboards provide
comprehensive monitoring of roadways and the ability to share information with partner agencies and directly to the public in real-time. RMR also includes
reporting capabilities to archive incident and event information, and analytics to help users better understand trends, patterns, and planning. This helps the
DOT to make proactive decisions based on the incident spot and immediate incident alarm, providing accurate information about what is happening in the
public passageway using the existing surveillance infrastructure. Users are quickly notified of incidents and are alerted to areas of risk identified by our
algorithms using multi-sourced data and trends. These insights are just a part of our suite of traffic management solutions which provide a wide array of
analytics, reports, data sharing, public communications, and unique HD video management features to help support planning, situational awareness,
operations that is vital for our customers.
 

The RMR solution provides dedicated modules that are tailor-made for different users, including modules for traffic management centers, freeway
service patrol, first responders, maintenance crews, and transit. Each module provides unique value to individual users, while our proprietary platform
brings them all together into one seamless environment. Customers can integrate their current roadside cameras and other devices to feed information
directly into the RMR solution and can deploy our advanced IP optical edge devices and cameras to gather additional data from the roadway in real-time.
This, in combination with third-party data including data from connected vehicles, GPS, events, construction, weather, and a number of other sources,
provides a truly complete view of the roadway and infrastructure systems for customers. These improvements over the traditional incident management
infrastructure, and the benefits they offer, have gained significant attention from governing authorities across the globe.
 

Rekor One™ Traffic Management – Traffic and Infrastructure Analytics 
 

Traditional approaches to capturing data for roadway and infrastructure analytics and planning employ expensive, manual processes that use antiquated
technology to capture a fraction of the information needed for a fraction of the time. Powered by Rekor One, our TIA solution enables customers get access
to comprehensive, de-identified traffic and infrastructure analytics that not only provide instant information on current roadway activity, but also historic
information, so that planners and engineers can track patterns, trends, and formulate decisions using both real-time and complete archival data. Customers
access their dashboard on web-based cloud instances and review on-demand traffic reports and analytics that breakdown vehicle volumes and patterns,
vehicle classification, estimated tonnage, electric vehicle adoption and volume, average greenhouse gas emissions, smog scores, average speed over
distance, along with many other tailored views that a customer may select. Customers can easily group different geographies and regions and compare them
against one other, drill down into specific dates and times of interest, and even export raw data to further pursue their planning needs. In addition,
customers can easily leverage live stream HD video from the edge of the roadway at any time to meet their core missions via our deployed advanced IP
optical edge devices and cameras that gather volumes of de-identified data from the roadway in real-time.
 

Our TIA solution can also be of immense value for commercial entities. Many businesses need to understand the vehicle flow, patterns, types, and
other important analytics regarding vehicles around their businesses. In addition, the vehicle recognition technology that we deploy to capture this data can
be readily leveraged to accomplish a wide range of commercial use-cases. Whether it is a quick-service restaurant that wants to easily identify repeat
customers so they can present them with their favorite orders and facilitate contactless payment, or it is a shipping and logistics provider that wants to
understand and control the flow of vehicles coming in and out of important areas, our cutting-edge technology can facilitate it.

 
Rekor One™ Traffic Management – Live and Archival Traffic View

 
Our LATV solution provides highway departments and other agencies an inexpensive and scalable way of delivering more detailed and comprehensive

situational awareness of what is happening on their roadways. Many of them already have legacy infrastructure in place to provide situational awareness on
the roadway, but much of it focuses only on major roadways, provides limited storage capacity and relies on expensive equipment that often delivers less
quality and resolution than is desired. Our LATV solution offers live stream HD video from the edge of the roadway that users can access on-demand.
Multiple locations are easily networked and viewed through an optimized web-based dashboard. Users can quickly review and assess locations of interest
for instant situational awareness and also search and retrieve archival footage of interest that can be stored on our edge devices for up to 30 days.
Authorized agencies are also able to easily share key video footage via secure public and private links.
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Rekor One™ Public Safety
 

Our public safety solution includes license plate and vehicle recognition technology that can analyze multi-spectral images and video streams using AI
trained algorithms. It can concurrently extract license plate data by state or province from many countries, together with the vehicle’s make, model, color,
body type, and direction of travel. Our technology can also capture subtle and unique vehicle characteristics including rust, the presence of a roof rack,
mismatched paint, or the like, so law enforcement can leverage that information for investigative policing and forensics. When combined with high
performance reads, parallel processing capability and best-in-class hardware accessories, such as optical sensors and communications modules, the solution
captures license plate data and vehicle characteristics across multiple lanes at high vehicle speeds with a high degree of accuracy. Our optical sensors are
also able to effectively operate in unusually difficult conditions, such as low lighting, poor weather, extreme camera viewing angles, and obstructions.

 
Rekor One™ Public Safety - Rekor Contactless Compliance

 
Rekor’s Contactless Compliance application delivers a turnkey information and citation management solution for cities, states, and municipalities for

both primary and secondary offenses. Our plate-based Contactless Compliance product provides a safe, equitable, and unbiased enforcement method that
requiresno human involvement. Rekor’s contactless compliance programs issue notices and/or send information to registered vehicle owners when a non-
compliant vehicle is detected by an optical sensor. Non-compliant vehicles are any vehicles actively detected to be violating the law or otherwise requiring
a compliance notice. Non-compliance may include uninsured vehicles, vehicles with expired registration, and vehicles with outdated emissions/inspection
statuses. Our contactless compliance programs also include red light and speed violations which have an immediate impact to the safety of others on the
road. We provide an application programming interface for third-party payment gateways for credit card transactions to accommodate both phone and web
payments. The interface can also automatically record payments in the system and provide functionality to research, manage unapplied payments and
reconcile receipts. A full call-center is also provided with our Contactless Compliance product to help facilitate payment or information distribution to non-
compliant citizens remotely. We have active deployments of our contactless compliance solution scanning millions of plates and delivering thousands of
notices/tickets, including a program for the State of Oklahoma that facilitates enrolling uninsured motorists as well as a number of Automated Traffic
Safety Enforcement (“ATSE”) deployments enforcing red light and speed violations.

 
Rekor One™ Public Safety - Rekor Scout™

 
Rekor Scout provides accurate license plate and vehicle recognition on nearly any IP, traffic, or security camera and can be subscribed to separately for

use with existing camera or sensor systems. It displays results on a web-based dashboard that can be accessed from anywhere by any authorized user. The
platform connects to National Crime Information Center (“NCIC”) lists and permits the agency to establish customized hotlists with alerts, apply
customized data retention policies and share data with other agencies. Vehicles listed on "blacklists" (stolen, terrorists, amber alerts, etc.) generate an alarm
in the dispatching room so that they can be intercepted by a patrol. Millions of cars per week are automatically checked in this way.

 
Rekor One™ Public Safety - Rekor Blue™

 
Rekor Blue™ is our premier smartphone app designed specifically for law enforcement. Built using the same recognition engine as Rekor Scout™, it

 delivers public safety officers advanced data capture in the palm of the hand, providing access to extremely accurate license plate recognition in areas not
covered by stationary or mobile sensors, even without network connectivity. Rekor Blue™  retrieves vehicle license plate number and state of registration
and automatically organizes information by sessions, capturing date, location, and timestamp. Verified Rekor Blue™ reads can then sync with the Rekor
Scout™ environment and users can receive in-app alerts using plate matches from custom and connected hotlists. With on-device encrypted lists and data,
Rekor Blue™  is compliant with the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s Criminal Justice Information System (“CJIS”).
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Additional Software Products Supporting Transportation, Public Safety and Commercial Use-Cases
 

There are many uses for automated recognition systems that provide vehicle identification faster, and more accurately and efficiently without having to
increase the number of monitoring personnel. Our solutions are used for car park management, retail park security, weighbridges, tolling, bus lane
enforcement, and other intelligent transport applications. Since the acquisition of our industry leading vehicle recognition systems in 2019, we have refined
and rebranded our software to highlight different software services and released several hardware products packaged with preloaded versions of our vehicle
recognition engine. These can provide an advanced turnkey system for LPR and vehicle recognition at-the-edge. We have also developed a broad range of
vehicle recognition product and service lines, starting with security and parking operations and expanding into roadway compliance program operations,
auto wash and service, quick service restaurants and drive-in retail. We have also launched a robust eCommerce portal on the OpenALPR.com site,
enabling customers to conveniently purchase software products with just a credit card and a click. This allows owners to immediately enhance their
business operations while reducing the operating cost for us.
 

Rekor CarCheck™
 

Through our eCommerce platform, we offer commercial versions of Rekor Scout which are sold as a subscription service. Rekor Scout for commercial
users includes specialized offerings that bring value to a variety of industries including parking, retail, logistics and security. In addition, we also offer an
API of our vehicle recognition technology for commercial applications under the name Rekor CarCheck™. This API supports nearly any programming
language, analyzes still images of vehicles from different countries and responds in seconds with accurate license plate data, vehicle make, model, body
type and color. Rekor CarCheck is also sold through a subscription-based plan and is used by a broad range of industries for various use cases. Any mission
that has a need for cost-efficient state-of-the-art vehicle and/or license plate recognition can benefit from the use of Rekor CarCheck™.
 

AutoNotice™ 
 

AutoNotice™ is a cloud-based financial management application. AutoNotice provides a plate-based management account system that offers our
customers a multi-tiered database that can assist with most record management operations. AutoNotice also provides an application programming interface
for third-party payment gateways for credit card transactions to accommodate both phone and web payments. AutoNotice can automatically record
payments in the system and provide functionality to research, manage unapplied payments and reconcile receipts.
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Hardware Products
 

We also have a unique and differentiated portfolio of AI-based state-of-the-art hardware products purpose-built to optimize the value of our software as
well as bring the advantages of edge processing to any capture of real-time roadway data. Our edge processing systems provide for the execution, directly
on the device at the point of capture, of data aggregation and manipulation as well as other artificial intelligence routines. This allows our customers to
capture, process and transform roadway data at the source and in real-time, so it can be deployed quickly and affordably with reduced bandwidth
requirements. Rekor’s law enforcement products and services also include speed trailer and other in-car and mobile vehicle recognition devices.
 
Rekor Edge Series
 

Our Rekor Edge Series is a family of mountable vehicle recognition systems that seamlessly capture and process vehicle data. Multiple configurations
are available depending on read distance, traffic speed, and lane coverage needs. All Edge Series devices can easily mount to a building or pole and be
optionally solar-powered. Features of all Edge Series devices are:
 
 ● Operation Ready:  On-device video processing, 1920x1080 HD Camera(s), Capture speeds up to 120 mph, Cover 1-6 lanes/300 ft max range

 ● State-of-the-Art Recognition: Advanced vehicle recognition with plate, make, type, color, and direction of travel, accurate in day/night and all-
weather conditions, read paper, temporary, and vanity plates, real-time alerting

 ● Powerful Performance: Outdoor rated, IP66/IP67, NEMA4, 4G LTE, Ethernet ready, ready connection to Rekor Scout Cloud or on-prem
 

Rekor Edge Pro
 

Rekor Edge Pro is a complete vehicle recognition solution that can be used on a standalone basis or integrated into a network. Engineered for roadway
speeds up to 70 mph, 1-2 lanes, and 75 ft max range, the system can be deployed in neighborhoods, campuses, business districts, and also be used for
parking and access control. It captures and processes data on-device within a durable enclosure. The unit is simple to install and features optional solar
power that expands the number of locations where Rekor Edge Pro can meet the customer’s needs. 

 
Rekor Edge Max

 
Rekor Edge Max is also a complete vehicle recognition solution that can be used on a standalone basis or integrated into a network. Engineered for

high-speed primary roadways and highways up to 120 mph, 3-4 lanes (up to 6 lanes with dual cameras), and 300 ft max range, Edge Max seamlessly
captures and processes vehicle data on-device and from advanced distances. The system features a durable enclosure, onboard modem, easy mounting,
optional solar power, and can be configured with two cameras to increase capture range.
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Competitive Strengths
 

Our patented technology has been featured by prominent outlets and has enabled us to further develop our global, expanding footprint. Our award-
winning proprietary technology and customer service has allowed us to win competitive bids against legacy incumbents. To date, we have not seen a peer
that can provide the breadth, depth, and sophistication that we can on a single integrated platform that can serve multiple missions and agencies. We will
continue working hard to capitalize on our first mover advantage and will continue to invest in the company competitiveness and key differentiators.
 

In the traffic management, public safety, and commercial markets, we believe we have, and can further develop a range of competitive strengths:
 

 

● Solutions, Not Just Data. Many industry customers are being challenged by a massive amount of data coming from a wide range of sources.
A typical department of transportation may see multiple gigabytes of data per day coming from their existing infrastructure while there are
multiple terabytes and petabytes of data available from connected vehicles and other third-party sources. With massively increasing volumes
of data, many agencies are unable to cope with the velocity, volume, and quality of incoming data, let alone leverage the data and transform it
into real, actionable solutions that are built into their daily workflow. We are bridging the industry gap that exists between data and
actionable solutions by turning data into information, and information into knowledge and insights through our proprietary technology,
solutions, and platform.

 

● A Single Source. As customers look to source technology solutions from organizations, they are met with a fragmented industry and a broad
list of organizations providing only patchwork of disconnected products to meet their varying needs, all of which require separate sourcing
through separate vendors. The fact that we are infrastructure and data agnostic and can leverage the same core Rekor One intelligence
platform to serve multiple missions and agencies allows us to be a single source provider to meet the needs of the traffic management, public
safety, and commercial markets. Whether it is license plate or vehicle recognition, analytics, incident management, smart IoT and IP devices
at the Edge, or any other of the wide range of solutions we provide, customers can come to a single source that delivers a platform of
solutions for them to access.

 

● Cross-Agency Functionality. The Rekor One intelligence platform supports multiple missions with the same, unified operating system. Rekor
One provides government agencies with a comprehensive infrastructure intelligence system that provides actionable solutions so that
agencies can make real decisions with real-time information. Governments can leverage their existing IP cameras and transform them into a
safe and smart multi-dimensional intelligent roadway network. By building our platform directly into agency workflow, customers can use
our solutions as a force multiplier, getting more value and addressing growing concerns across the industry around safety, equity, and
sustainability.

 

● Industry Leading Privacy & Security. We use industry leading security technologies and standards to protect all captured and connected data
from unauthorized access or use. We leverage end-to-end encryption and proprietary data filters as additional protective measures. Data that
we capture is only used to feed our services and solutions. We do not share any PII. Customers can access their data 24/7 until it is purged
and have the flexibility to manage their data retention periods based on their needs and local regulation. Our platform also uses AWS
GovCloud hosting for secure data handling which is also stored in secure databases where only authorized system admins have access.
Additionally, PII is stripped from data using our proprietary algorithm that is completely irreversible.  

 

● Higher Accuracy and Capture for Vehicle Recognitions. Most vehicle recognition systems currently in place are accurate only within
specified parameters of vehicle speed, viewing angles and lighting conditions. Many also only capture vehicle license plate information with
limited or no vehicle recognition information. Our AI software achieves superior accuracy rates under broader parameters of vehicle speed,
camera viewing angles and lighting conditions, even capturing plates and vehicle traits through windows. Additionally, we can not only
determine the make, model, body type and color of a vehicle, in addition to the number and resident jurisdiction of a license plate, but we are
also capturing unique vehicle signatures such as rust, damage, roof racks, and other traits that can be used to further investigation efficacy.
This significantly enhances the value of our products and services as compared to systems that provide more limited recognition data and/or
lower accuracy rates.

 

● Intelligence-Based Policing. Our ability to capture comprehensive data can allow us to detect patterns and analytics around vehicles of
interest for law enforcement. 70% of all crime involves a vehicle, and vehicle analytics is a core differentiator for us. As we build and extend
our vehicle analytics capabilities, intelligence-based policing is a real deliverable that we can provide to law enforcement, fulfilling a need
that has been unmet for years.

 

● Functionality with any IP Cameras. The optical character recognition-based systems marketed by our competitors in the public safety and
vehicle recognition market often require customized cameras. Our AI software supports images and vehicle recognition captured by almost
any digital camera that provides images that can be sent over the internet. This allows us to be completely infrastructure agnostic, and to
deliver products and solutions using relatively inexpensive, consumer-grade, mass-market components that are readily available, significantly
smaller, lighter, and less expensive than products currently being used. This allows us to scale quickly across geographies and to enhance the
3rd party data that we ingest, filling gaps and getting a full view of the roadway.

 
● Edge Processing. Our hardware delivers low latency alerting via defined edge processing happening at the edge of the network. This is very

valuable to enable applications where real-time processing of data is required, and where speed and scale without the need for expensive
infrastructure such as fiber is required.               
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Customer Segments and Markets
 

We provide our technology and solutions to customers in 80 countries around the world. Many of the markets we serve currently rely on legacy,
outdated physical infrastructure, or are in the early stages of technology adoption, and present strong growth opportunities. Current customers include
cities, states, municipalities, departments of transportation, transit agencies, law enforcement agencies, highway authorities, parking system operators,
private security companies, and wholesale and retail operations supporting logistics, quick service restaurants and customer loyalty programs. We have
entered into pilots, proof of concept, and full-scale deployment agreements with multiple cities throughout the Americas. We will continue to sell perpetual
licenses and hardware when a business opportunity arises, but our core business model is focused on SaaS offerings and services with recurring annual
revenues. Our eCommerce site and our recently launched iOS and Android apps allow us to serve smaller organizations and individuals at scale using a
low-touch, self-service recurring revenue model.
 

We believe that the market for our solutions and services is very large, with a total addressable market in the intelligent infrastructure segment that has
been estimated to grow to $148 billion by 2026. Within this total addressable market, there are a wide range of market segments that we look to address,
including: intelligent transportation systems; smart mobility, traffic analytics, incident detection and location systems; traffic management, parking
management and enforcement; safe and smart cities and roadways; vehicle regulatory compliance programs; government, military, corporate, community
and personal security; commercial real-estate; insurance; advertising; wholesale and large retail logistics and customer loyalty programs; as well as public
safety.
 

The vertical-specific solutions powered by our Rekor One intelligence platform have only been offered since 2020. As they continue to gain adoption
by both government agencies and commercial entities, we believe that our competitive position will continue to accelerate.
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Business Drivers and Growth Strategies
 

We believe that the intelligent infrastructure industry is today at the epicenter of converging forces that will drive changes in the way government
agencies and businesses operate. With rising safety concerns on the roadway and an increasing consensus about the need to improve aging infrastructure,
we have seen a desire for agencies to adopt new technologies and, better manage an influx of massive amounts of data that is difficult to transform into
solutions. An example of this is the significant increase in government funding now committed to expand and digitize transportation infrastructure in the
United States. There is also a specific focus on deploying solutions that are scalable, efficient, equitable and sustainable.
 

Rapid urbanization, increased globalization, and increased awareness about the human impact on the planet are all driving factors for intelligent
transportation and infrastructure. We believe that our growth will be impacted by increased appreciation of the improvements in security, public safety and
business intelligence that can be provided by our products and services. As better and more timely information is made available about the conditions on
the roadway and within the boundaries of a city or municipality, more stakeholders will want to make use of this information for different purposes. This
includes a growing appreciation of the benefits that smart cities and smart highways can provide.
 

A core strength for us is that we use AI to extract information about the movements of vehicles and other objects on the roadway to enhance safety,
increase operational efficiencies, reduce congestion and improve the environment. We believe this can play an important role in enabling intelligent
roadways and smart cities. Organizations, including original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) in the transportation industry are beginning to focus on
how to leverage connected vehicle data with AI to improve safety. As we continue to build partnerships and further enhance our solutions with data, we
will begin to not only ingest information but also help facilitate the delivery of information back to citizens in real-time.
 

We plan to continue to pursue the growth of our Rekor One™ platform across relevant systems to provide infrastructure information to different state
municipalities. The development of the Rekor One platform to share information among multiple agencies to support a variety of community safety,
intelligent roadway and revenue generation activities has been a conscious part of our “land and expand” growth strategy.
 

As an organization, we are focused on scaling our resources to support substantial growth within the industry through the expansion of customers,
products, services, and partnerships. Our land and expand strategy not only involves expanding the services and solutions we provide to existing customers,
but also facilitating cooperation between our existing customers and new customers that can be part of an expanded network of information.
 

As we work to develop our sales and marketing capabilities, we expect our efforts concerning products and services to be concentrated principally on
subscription-based solutions, with hardware sales used primarily as a driver for such subscriptions. 
 

We may also use a portion of our cash on hand and common stock for acquisitions or strategic investments in complementary businesses, products,
services, or technologies, including companies that might benefit from the use of our technology. However, we do not have agreements or commitments to
enter into any such acquisitions or investments at this time. We are looking to be a leader in the industry through organic growth and accelerate our growth
and expand our capabilities through strategic partnerships, mergers and acquisitions.
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Competition
 

Our current strategy focuses on providing actionable solutions to several markets within the intelligent infrastructure industry. There are a wide range
of competitors who provide products and services across parts of our product portfolio as well as within the industry. We categorize our competitors into
four types, data creators, data aggregators, insights platforms, and smart city technology providers.
 
 ● Data creators are companies who are creating and collecting data from the field (i.e. via sensors, cameras, vehicles, or other hardware).

 ● Data aggregators are data providers with the ability to consolidate and ingest multiple comprehensive datasets and sell these to their
customers.

 ● Insights platforms competitors are technology providers that ingest multiple sources of data and provide a comprehensive, integrated
analytics platform that delivers insights.

 ● Smart city competitors are companies providing technology solution suites (which may or may not include their offerings) to implement and
support “Smart City” functionality.

 
We also have competitors solely focused on Automatic License Plate Recognition ("ALPR") and vehicle recognition technology in security and public

safety applications. Data-focused competitors who are compiling and selling data in some cases also act as a data source partner for us. Additionally, we
face competition in certain automated safety solutions from other vendors in the areas of red-light, tolling, uninsured vehicle photo enforcement and speed
photo enforcement.
 

In some cases, the continued success of our go-to-market strategy will depend on our ability to develop an appreciation for the value of new or
significantly different offerings than are currently available to the market.  In others, our products and services will need to  either appeal to or outperform
established industry participants.  Where established markets for our products and services exist, they are characterized by long established relationships.
To participate in these markets, we will need to play a role in evolving industry standards and work to gain recognition of the price and performance
characteristics of our products. Many of our potential partners and  competitors are in a position to be more competitive through aggressive pricing of
currently established products, and may compete by seeking to imitate the Company’s products or even infringe on its intellectual property.
 

Principal competitive factors important to the Company include design innovation, product and service features (including security and privacy
features), relative price and performance, product and service quality and reliability and service and support. Where we are not able to partner with
established participants, we will need to further develop our marketing and distribution capabilities and our corporate reputation in the market segments we
compete in. The Company faces substantial competition in the transportation and public safety markets from companies that have significant technical,
marketing, distribution and other resources, as well as established hardware, software, and service offerings with large customer bases. In addition, many of
the Company’s competitors in these markets have a larger installed base of active devices.
 

Most of our competitors only compete in a subset of the market, focusing on their hardware, or leveraging third-party data for a solution. We believe
we can differentiate ourselves from our competition using our ability to provide solutions across a wide range of use-cases by (1) more efficiently
collecting reliable data from existing infrastructure, (2) aggregating that data with third-party data, (3) processing the data using superior analytical tools,
and (4) distributing datasets and actionable insights tailored to the individual needs of multiple agencies through a single platform. We can deliver solutions
that meet customer needs across the value chain by using and upgrading existing infrastructure, combining data from the infrastructure with third party data
and providing valuable real time, historical and predictive insights drawn from the data to multiple consumers.
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Marketing and Sales
 

We offer our products, solutions, and services in various markets.  Our primary route to market is direct to the end-user via a high-touch consultative
sales process.  We have strategic alliances and national level partnerships that help us extend our reach and bundle our technology into purpose-built
solutions for various market segments.  Our rapidly expanding direct sales force is organized into groups aligned to the Intelligent Traffic Systems (“ITS”)
chapters.
 

As we engage further with the DOT and municipalities, we will continue to keep a very focused effort on the law enforcement communities.  Our
market-leading solutions continue to provide significant value to those communities, and we will continue to extend that value into an intelligence-based
policing framework. Because our technology gives us the ability to understand vehicle characteristics and behaviors above and beyond simple license plate
capture, we can support new methods of intelligent policing and regulatory compliance.  In 2022, we also plan to extend our reach into smaller
communities through a concentrated inside sales effort and will continue to service the medium-large police departments through our direct sales
representatives.
 

As our primary market is state and local government, the majority of our sales efforts end up in a request for proposal process.  In 2022, we will be
significantly expanding our proposal team to capture and submit more proposals in total as well as expanding our ability to submit concurrently.
 
eCommerce
 

Through our eCommerce platform, we allow businesses and individuals to conveniently purchase a full range of our high-value vehicle recognition
solutions with just a credit card and a click. The eCommerce platform enables self-service sign-up and a range of subscription options while also acting as a
funnel directly to sales support if customers need more information. In 2022, we plan to launch our first hardware device for sale directly through the
eCommerce platform. This device is our Edge Pro camera system that has our ALPR software already preloaded and enables customers to activate AI-
based vehicle recognition services through a subscription online or by telephone. We plan to launch the product onto the website and ship it to customers
globally with the option to add enhancements for solar power and various pole configurations.
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Research and Development
 

Because the industries in which we compete are characterized by rapid technological advances, our ability to compete successfully depends heavily
upon its ability to ensure a continual and timely flow of competitive products, services and technologies to the marketplace. We continue to develop new
technologies to enhance existing products and services, and to expand the range of its offerings through research and development, licensing of intellectual
property and acquisition of third-party businesses and technology. We must also keep pace with our customers’ technical developments, satisfy industry
standards and meet our customers’ increasingly demanding performance, productivity, quality and predictability requirements. Therefore, we expect to
continue substantial investments in research and development.
 
Proprietary Technology and Intellectual Property
 

We currently hold a collection of intellectual property rights relating to certain aspects of our hardware devices, accessories, software, and services.
This includes patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade dress and other forms of intellectual property rights in the U.S. and foreign countries.
Although we believe the ownership of such intellectual property rights is an important factor in our business and that its success does depend in part on
such ownership, we rely primarily on the innovative skills, technical competence and marketing abilities of our personnel.
 

We regularly file patent applications to protect innovations arising from its research, development and design, and is currently pursuing multiple patent
applications. 
 
Acquisitions
 

On August 18, 2021, we completed the Waycare Technology Acquisition.
 

Additional information concerning the Waycare Technology Acquisition is provided in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under ITEM 7
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations.”

 
Human Capital Management
 

Our employees represent the best and brightest in our industry and the talent we select to be a part of our team defines our culture and success. Our
global workforce is highly educated, technical and specialized, with a substantial majority of employees working in technical roles.
 

As of March 31, 2022, we had 250 employees, of which 249 were full-time and one was considered part-time. We consider our employee relations to
be good. To date, we have been able to locate and engage highly qualified employees as needed and do not expect our growth efforts to be constrained by a
lack of qualified personnel.
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Seasonality
 

We generate revenues from licensing and subscriptions to our products and services. Therefore, we do not currently anticipate a significant seasonality
impact on our revenues. Should our penetration of tolling and other markets involving per recognition fees expand, we would expect to become more
subject to seasonal traffic patterns.
 
Insurance and Risk Management

 
We maintain insurance covering professional liability and claims involving bodily injury, property and economic loss. We consider our present limits

of coverage, deductibles, and reserves to be adequate. Whenever possible, we endeavor to eliminate or reduce the risk of loss on a project through quality
assurance and control, risk management, workplace safety, and other similar methods.
 

Risk management is an integral part of our project management approach for fixed-price contracts and our project execution process. We also evaluate
risk through internal risk analyses in which our management reviews higher-risk projects, contracts, or other business decisions that require corporate legal
and risk management approval.
 
Regulation
 

We are regulated in some of the fields in which we operate. When working with governmental agencies and entities, we must comply with laws and
regulations relating to the formation, administration, and performance of contracts. These laws and regulations contain terms that, among other things may
require certification and disclosure of all costs or pricing data in connection with various contract negotiations. We are subject to the laws and regulations
that restrict the use and dissemination of information classified for national security purposes.
 

To help ensure compliance with these laws and regulations, our employees are sometimes required to complete tailored ethics and other compliance
training relevant to their position and our operations.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 
Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. You should consider carefully the risks
and uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial
statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following
risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the
trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. 

 
Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure and Business
 
We are currently not profitable, and we may be unable to become profitable on a quarterly or annual basis.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we had a loss from continuing operations of $26,777,000. We cannot assure that we will be profitable in the
future or that our financial performance will sustain a sufficient level to completely support operations. Our ability to become profitable in future periods
could be impacted by government activity and regulation, economic instability and other items that are not in our control, and the continuing effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic. A significant portion of our expenses are fixed in advance. As such, we generally are unable to reduce our expenses significantly in
the short term to compensate for any unexpected delay or decrease in anticipated revenues or increases in planned investments. In addition, we have
experienced and expect to continue to experience significant expenses related to acquisitions and the development of new products and services. Our
strategic transition to a technology-based company focused on vehicle recognition systems will require us to generate sufficient new revenues from the
vehicle recognition market to support our business plan while continuing to operate as a public company. As a result, we may continue to experience
operating losses and net losses in the future, which would make it difficult to fund operations and achieve our business plan and could cause the market
price of our common stock to decline.
 
We rely, in part, on third-party data providers and existing camera networks to grow our business. If we are unable to enter into agreements with third-
party data providers or successfully maintain them, our growth may be adversely impacted.
 

We rely, in part, on access the third-party data and access to existing camera networks to grow our business. The majority of the third-party data
agreements allow us to access connected vehicle data, existing camera networks or other data services, thereby increasing the data points used in our
solutions.
 

Any agreement we enter into with a third party may not be on favorable terms, and the expected benefits and growth from these agreements may not
materialize as planned. Despite our past experience, opportunities to grow our business through third-party data may not be available to us in the future.
 
The market for our Rekor One platform is new and unproven, and may decline or experience limited growth and is dependent in part on our ability to
attract new customers to adopt our platform and use our services.
 

The market for an ecosystem that connects government agencies, service providers and, ultimately, drivers is relatively new and some aspects of it are
unproven, therefore, it is subject to several risks and uncertainties. We believe that our future success will significantly depend in large part on the growth,
if any, of this market. The use of advanced vehicle recognition systems and marketplace data to obtain data on vehicles, drivers and the environment is still
relatively new and consumers may not recognize the need for, or benefits of, our platform and solutions. Moreover, if they do not recognize the need for
and benefits of our platform and solutions, they may decide to adopt alternative services to satisfy some portion of their business needs.
 

Our ability to expand the market that our platform and solutions address depends upon a number of factors, including the cost, performance and
perceived value associated with them. The market for our platform and solutions could fail to grow significantly or there could be a reduction in demand
for its services as a result of a lack of acceptance, technological challenges, competing services, decreases in spending by current and prospective
customers, weakening economic conditions and other causes. If our market does not experience significant growth, or demand for our services decreases,
then our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
 

19



 
 
We depend on component and product manufacturing provided by outsourcing partners, most of which are located outside of the U.S.
 

We rely on single-source outsourcing partners primarily located in Asia to supply and manufacture many components of substantially all of our
hardware products. Any failure of these partners to perform can have a negative impact on our cost or supply of components or finished goods. In addition,
manufacturing or logistics in these locations or transit to final destinations can be disrupted for a variety of reasons, including natural and man-made
disasters, information technology system failures, commercial disputes, military actions, economic, business, labor, environmental, public health or
political issues, or international trade disputes.
 
Our internal investments and go-to-market strategy may place downward pressure on our operating margins.
 

To increase our revenue growth, we continue to invest in our business, including investments into new markets as part of our go-to-market strategy and
investment in continuous innovation and product development to expand the suite of solutions we provide to our customers. Our operating margins may
experience downward pressure in the short term as a result of these investments. Furthermore, our investments may not produce the expected results. If we
are unable to successfully execute our go-to-market strategy, we may experience decreases in our revenues and operating margins.
 
We have not been a leading provider of public safety products and services in the past and do not have the level of established contacts and existing
business relationships that some of our competitors have.
 

Although it is growing, our presence in the public safety, transportation and parking markets has been limited. As a result of this, although we believe
our products and services have significant competitive advantages, we may encounter difficulties in establishing widespread market acceptance of our
products in various markets and regions. Early successes in penetrating these markets and regions may not be able to be sustained once our ability to
compete with our more established competitors comes to their attention. They may seek to develop more competitive products before their existing
contracts expire, reduce prices, use to advantage their past association as a trusted provider and their superior financial and marketing resources and use
other stratagems to this competitive advantage, which could significantly impact our ability to continue to grow.
 
We will need to raise additional capital in the future, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all.
 

We have experienced fluctuations in earnings and cash flows from operations from year to year. To support business growth, or if our business
declines, we may need to raise additional capital to support operations, pursue acquisitions or expand our operations. Such additional capital may be raised
through bank borrowings, or other debt or equity financings. We cannot assure you that any additional capital will be available on a timely basis, on
acceptable terms, or at all, and such additional financing may result in further dilution to our stockholders.
 

Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to: our ability to increase revenue, reduce net losses or generate net
income; market acceptance of our services, and the overall level of sales of our services; our need to respond to technological advancements and our
competitors’ introductions of new products, services or technologies; our ability to control costs; promptness of customer payments; our ability to
successfully negotiate arrangements with credit providers; and enhancements to subsidiaries’ infrastructure and systems.
 

If our capital requirements are materially different from those currently planned, we may need additional capital sooner than anticipated. If additional
funds are raised through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders will be reduced, and such
securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to our common stock. Additional equity or debt financing may not be available on favorable
terms, on a timely basis, or at all. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to continue our operations
as planned, develop or enhance our products, expand our sales and marketing programs, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive
pressures, or we may be forced to sell assets at prices below their stated value.
 
If we experience declining or flat revenues and fail to manage such declines effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plans and may
experience future weaknesses in operating results.
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To achieve future growth, we will need to continue to add additional qualified personnel and invest in additional research and development and sales
and marketing activities, which could lead to increases in our expenses and future declines in operating results. In addition, our future expansion is
expected to place a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, operational, financial and other resources. If we are unable to manage these
activities or any revenue declines successfully, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
 
If we are unable to retain our existing customers, our revenue and results of operations would be adversely affected.
 

Customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions after their subscription period expires, and these subscriptions may not be renewed on the
same or more profitable terms. As a result, our ability to sustain our revenue base depends in part on subscription renewals. We may not be able to
accurately predict future trends in customer renewals, and our customers’ renewal rates may decline or fluctuate because of several factors, including their
satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our products and services, the prices of our services, the prices of the products and services offered by our competitors or
reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions for our products and services, renew on less favorable
terms, or do not purchase additional functionality or subscriptions, our revenue may grow more slowly than expected or decline, and our profitability and
gross margins may be harmed.
 
Our sales cycles for commercial and government clients can be long, unpredictable and require considerable time and expense, which may cause our
operating results to fluctuate.
 

The timing of our revenue from sales to commercial and government clients is difficult to predict. These efforts require us to educate our clients about
the use and benefit of our services, including the technical capabilities and potential cost savings to an organization. Commercial clients typically undertake
a significant evaluation and pilot testing process that has in the past, resulted in lengthy sales cycles, typically several months. We spend substantial time,
effort and money on our commercial sales efforts without any assurance that these efforts will produce any sales. In addition, subscriptions are frequently
subject to budget constraints and unplanned administrative, processing and other delays. If sales expected from a specific client for a particular reporting
period are not realized in that period or at all, our results could fall short of expectations and our business, operating results and financial condition could be
adversely affected.
 
Industry consolidation may result in increased competition.
 

Some of our competitors have made or may make acquisitions or may enter into partnerships or other strategic relationships to offer a more
comprehensive service than they had offered individually. In addition, new entrants not currently considered to be competitors may enter the market
through acquisitions, partnerships or strategic relationships. We expect these trends to continue as companies attempt to strengthen or maintain their market
positions. Many of the companies driving this trend have significantly greater financial, technical and other resources than we do and may be better
positioned to acquire and offer complementary services and technologies. Such combinations and realignments may create more compelling service
offerings or offer greater pricing flexibility than we can or may engage in business practices that make it more difficult for us to compete effectively,
including on the basis of price, sales and marketing programs, technology or service functionality. These pressures could result in a loss of customers,
reduction in revenues or limitation on our ability to grow.
 
We may not be able to respond to rapid technological changes in time to address the needs of our customers, which could have a material adverse effect
on our sales and profitability.
 

The cloud-based services and AI-based product markets in which many of our products and services compete are characterized by rapid technological
change, the frequent introduction of new products and services and evolving industry standards. Our ability to remain competitive will depend in large part
on our ability to continue to enhance our existing products and services and develop new service offerings that keep pace with these markets’ rapid
technological developments. Additionally, to achieve market acceptance, we must effectively anticipate and offer products and services that meet changing
client demands in a timely manner. Clients may require features and capabilities that our current products and services do not have. If we fail to develop
products and services that satisfy customer requirements in a timely and cost-effective manner, our ability to renew subscriptions with existing clients and
our ability to create or increase demand for our products and services will be harmed, and our revenue and results of operations would be adversely
affected.
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The success of our business will depend, in part, on the continued services of certain key personnel and our ability to attract and retain qualified
personnel.
 

The success of our business will depend, in part, on the continued services of certain members of our management. Our inability to attract and retain
qualified personnel could significantly disrupt our business.
 

Although we take prudent steps to retain key personnel, we face competition for qualified individuals from numerous professional services and
technology companies. For example, our competitors may be able to attract and retain more qualified professional and technical personnel by offering more
competitive compensation packages. If we are unable to attract new personnel and retain our current personnel, we may not be able to develop and maintain
our services at the same levels as our competitors and we may, therefore, lose potential customers and sales penetration in certain markets. It may also be
difficult to attract and retain qualified individuals in the timeframe demanded by our clients. Furthermore, some of our contracts may require us to employ
only individuals who have particular government security clearance levels.
 
We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions which we consummate, and we may be subject to business uncertainties.
 

Uncertainties about the effect of our recent and planned acquisitions on employees and customers may have an adverse effect on our Company. These
uncertainties may impair our ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel for a period of time after the acquisitions, and could cause customers,
suppliers and others that deal with us to seek to change existing business relationships with us, which may have an adverse effect on our Company.
Employee retention may be particularly challenging, as employees may experience an uncertainty about their future roles with us.
 

The achievement of the benefits expected from the integration of acquired companies may require us to incur significant costs. The incurrence of any
such costs, as well as any unexpected costs or delays, in connection with such integration, could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results or financial condition.
 
We may be required to write-down certain assets after completing our required annual evaluations, which may affect our reported financial results.
 

The initial determination of the fair value of assets we acquire upon consummation of an acquisition is based upon an internal valuation. We are
required to analyze the carrying value of our acquired intangibles and goodwill on an annual basis going forward. After the detailed annual evaluation of
the carrying value of the intangible assets, as supported by external analysis, we may be required to make adjustments to our consolidated balance sheet
and/or statement of operations. Any adjustments will affect our reported financial results.
 
Our operating results may be harmed if we are required to collect sales or other related taxes for our licensing and subscription products and services
or pay regulatory fees in jurisdictions where we have not historically done so.
 

Primarily due to the nature of our cloud-based services in certain states and countries, we do not believe we are required to collect sales or other related
taxes from our customers in certain states or countries. However, one or more other states or countries may seek to impose sales, regulatory fees or other
tax collection obligations on us, including for past sales by us or our resellers and other partners. A successful assertion that we should be collecting sales
or other related taxes on our services or paying regulatory fees could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales, discourage customers from purchasing
our services or otherwise harm our business and operating results.
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Improper disclosure of confidential and personal data could result in liability and harm to our reputation.
 

Our handling and storage of the data we collect from some of our customers, vendors and employees, and our processing of data, which may include
confidential or personally identifiable information, through the services we provide, may be subject to a variety of laws and regulations, which have been
adopted by various federal, state and foreign governments to regulate the collection, distribution, use and storage of personal information of individuals.
Several foreign countries in which we conduct business, including the European Economic Area (“EEA”) and Canada, currently have in place or have
recently proposed, laws or regulations concerning privacy, data protection and information security, which are more restrictive than those imposed in the
United States. Some of these laws are in their early stages and we cannot yet determine the impact these revised laws and regulations, if implemented, may
have on our business. However, any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with these privacy laws, regulations, policies or obligations or any security
incident that results in the unauthorized release or transfer of personally identifiable information or other customer data in our possession, could result in
government enforcement actions, litigation, fines and penalties and/or adverse publicity, all of which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and
business.
 

For example, the EEA wide General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) became applicable on May 25, 2018, replacing the data protection laws of
each EEA member state. The GDPR implemented more stringent operational requirements for processors and controllers of personal data, including, for
example, expanded disclosures about how personal information is to be used, limitations on retention of information, increased requirements to erase an
individual’s information upon request, mandatory data breach notification requirements and higher standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they
have obtained valid consent for certain data processing activities. It also significantly increases penalties for non-compliance, including where we act as a
service provider (e.g. data processor). If our privacy or data security measures fail to comply with applicable current or future laws and regulations, we may
be subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, enforcement notices requiring us to change the way we use personal data or our marketing practices,
fines, for example, of up to 20 million Euros or up to 4% of the total worldwide annual turnover of the preceding financial year (whichever is higher) under
the GDPR, or other liabilities, as well as negative publicity and a potential loss of business.
 

Data protection regulation remains an area of increased focus in all jurisdictions and data protection regulations continue to evolve. There is no
assurance that we will be able to meet new requirements that may be imposed on the transfer of personally identifiable information from the EU to the
United States without incurring substantial expense or at all. European and/or multi-national customers may be reluctant to purchase or continue to use our
services due to concerns regarding their data protection obligations. In addition, we may be subject to claims, legal proceedings or other actions by
individuals or governmental authorities if they have reason to believe that our data privacy or security measures fail to comply with current or future laws
and regulations.
 

Moreover, we must ensure that certain vendors and customers who have access to such information also have the appropriate privacy policies,
procedures and protections in place. Although we take customary measures to protect such information, the continued occurrence of high-profile data
breaches provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hostile to information security. If our security measures are breached as a result of
third-party action, employee or subcontractor error, malfeasance or otherwise, and, as a result, someone obtains unauthorized access to customer data, our
reputation may be damaged, our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage
systems change frequently and are growing increasingly sophisticated. As a result, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement
adequate preventative measures.
 

This environment demands that we continuously improve our design and coordination of security controls throughout our business. Despite these
efforts, it is possible that our security controls over data, training and other practices we follow may not prevent the improper disclosure of personally
identifiable or other confidential information.

 
If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, we could be liable under laws and regulations that protect personal or other confidential data

resulting in increased costs or loss of revenues and the market perception of our services could be harmed.
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Our business could be negatively impacted by cyber and other security threats or disruptions.
 

We face various cyber and other security threats, including attempts to gain unauthorized access to sensitive information and networks; insider threats;
threats to the security of our facilities and infrastructure; and threats from terrorist acts or other acts of aggression. Cyber threats are constant and evolving
and include, but are not limited to, computer viruses, malicious software, destructive malware, attacks by computer hackers attempts to gain unauthorized
access to data, disruption or denial of service attacks, and other electronic security breaches that could lead to disruptions in mission critical systems,
unauthorized release or loss of confidential, personal or otherwise protected information (ours or that of our employees, customers or subcontractors), and
corruption of data, networks or systems. In addition, we could be impacted by cyber threats or other disruptions or vulnerabilities found in products we use
or in our partners’ or customers’ systems that are used in connection with our business. Our clients and subcontractors face similar threats and/or they may
not be able to detect or deter them, or effectively mitigate resulting losses. These threats could damage our reputation as well as our subcontractor’s ability
to perform and could affect our client’s ability to pay.
 

Although we use various procedures and controls to monitor and mitigate the risk of these threats to us, our clients and our partners, there can be no
assurance that these procedures and controls will be sufficient. The impact of these factors is difficult to predict, but one or more of them could result in the
loss of information or capabilities, harm to individuals or property, damage to our reputation and/or require remedial actions or lead to loss of business,
regulatory actions potential liability and financial loss, any one of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations
and/or cash flows.
 
We are dependent upon technology services, and if we experience damage, service interruptions or failures in our computer and telecommunications
systems, our customer and worker relationships and our ability to attract new customers may be adversely affected.
 

Our business could be interrupted by damage to or disruption of our computer, telecommunications equipment, software systems, or software
applications. Our customers’ businesses may be adversely affected by any system, application or equipment failure we experience. As a result of any of the
foregoing, our relationships with our customers may be impaired, we may lose customers, our ability to attract new customers may be adversely affected
and we could be exposed to contractual liability. Precautions in place to protect us from, or minimize the effect of, such events may not be adequate.
 

In addition, the failure or disruption of mail, communications and/or utilities could cause an interruption or suspension of our operations or otherwise
harm our business. Our property and business interruption insurance may be inadequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur as a result of any
system or operational failure or disruption and, as a result, revenue, profits and operating results could be adversely affected.
 
If we do not keep pace with rapid technological changes and evolving industry standards, we will not be able to remain competitive, and the demand for
our services will likely decline.
 

The markets in which we operate are in general characterized by the following factors: changes due to rapid technological advances; additional
qualification requirements related to technological challenges; and evolving industry standards and changes in the regulatory and legislative environment.
Our future success will depend upon our ability to anticipate and adapt to changes in technology and industry standards and to effectively develop,
introduce, market and gain broad acceptance of new product and service enhancements incorporating the latest technological advancements.
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A downturn of the U.S. or global economy could result in our customers using fewer products and services or becoming unable to pay us for our
services on a timely basis or at all, which would materially adversely affect our business.
 

Because demand for our solutions and services are sensitive to changes in the level of economic activity, our business may suffer during economic
downturns. During periods of weak economic growth or economic contraction, the demand for outsourced services could decline. When demand drops, our
operating profit could be impacted unfavorably as we experience a deleveraging of our selling and administrative expense base because expenses may not
decline as quickly as revenues. In periods of decline, we can only reduce selling and administrative expenses to a certain level without negatively impacting
the long-term potential of our business.
 

Additionally, during economic downturns, government agencies and companies may slow the rate at which they pay their vendors, or they may
become unable to pay their obligations. If our customers become unable to pay amounts owed to us or pay us more slowly, then our cash flow and
profitability may suffer significantly.
 
Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations, which could subject our business to
higher tax liability.
 

We may be limited in the portion of net operating loss carryforwards that we can offset future taxable income for U.S. federal and state income tax
purposes. As of December 31, 2021, we had gross federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of approximately $51,838,000 and
$43,570,000, respectively. A lack of future taxable income could adversely affect our ability to use these NOLs. In addition, future changes in our stock
ownership, including through acquisitions, could result in ownership changes under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and may result in a
limitation on the amount of NOL carryforwards that could be used annually to offset future taxable income and taxes payable. Our NOLs at December 31,
2021 may also be impaired under similar provisions of state law and may expire unused or underused, which would prevent us from using our NOL
carryforwards to offset future taxable income.
 
Assertions by a third party that our services and solutions infringe its intellectual property, whether or not correct, could subject us to costly and time-
consuming litigation or result in settlements or licensing arrangements that could affect our short-term or long-term profitability.
 

There is frequent litigation in the software and technology industries based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property
rights. Regardless of the merit of these claims, they can be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel
or require us to develop non-infringing technology or enter into license agreements. Because of the potential for court awards that are difficult to predict, it
is not unusual to find even arguably unmeritorious claims settled for significant amounts. In addition, our service agreements may require us to indemnify
our customers from certain third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which could increase our costs as a result of defending such claims and
may require that we pay damages if there were an adverse ruling related to any such claims. Competitors may also seek to use these claims and the
pendency of associated litigation as a means of attempting to discredit us or make potential customers fearful of using us, which could harm our
relationships with our customers, deter future customers from subscribing to our services or expose us to further litigation. These costs, monetary or
otherwise, associated with defending against third-party allegations of infringement could have negative effects on our business, financial condition and
operating results. 
 
If our services are used to commit intentional or illegal acts, we may incur significant liabilities, our services may be perceived as not secure, and
customers may curtail or stop using our services.
 

Certain services offered by us enable customers to capture data from video images. Although our service agreements require our customers to comply
with all applicable laws, we do not exercise direct control overuse or content of information obtained by our customers through the use of our services. If
our services are used by others to commit bad or illegal acts, we may become subject to claims and subject to other potential liabilities. Defending against
such claims could be expensive and time-consuming, and there is a possibility that we could incur significant liability to entities who were harmed by such
acts. As a result, our business may suffer, and our reputation may be damaged.
 

25



 
 
We use a limited number of data centers to deliver our services. Any disruption of service at these facilities could harm our business.
 

Our cloud-based services are hosted from third-party data center facilities located in various parts of the United States. We also use these facilities for
some of our development efforts. We do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of these data center facilities have no obligation to renew
their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, we
may be required to transfer to new data center facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so. In
addition, our operations and development efforts could be seriously affected by failures or interruptions in service at these facilities. Any changes in third-
party service levels at these third-party data centers or any errors, defects, disruptions or other performance problems with our services related to the non-
performance of these facilities could harm our reputation and may damage our clients’ businesses. Interruptions in our services might reduce our revenue,
cause us to issue credits to clients, subject us to potential liability, cause clients to terminate their subscriptions or harm our renewal rates.
 

Our data centers are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, intentional bad acts, pandemics, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires,
war, terrorist attacks, power losses, hardware failures, systems failures, telecommunications failures and similar events. The occurrence of a natural
disaster, an act of terrorism, vandalism or other misconduct, a decision to close the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could
result in lengthy interruptions in our services. 
 
Our long-term success depends, in part, on our ability to expand the sales of our services to customers located outside of the United States, and thus our
business is susceptible to risks associated with international sales and operations.
 

Conducting international operations subjects us to other risks than those we have generally faced in the United States. These risks include: localization
of our services and adaptation for local practices, differences in local, legal standards and regulatory requirements; difficulties in managing and staffing
international operations; fluctuations in currency exchange rates; dependence on customers, third parties, and channel partners with whom we do not have
extensive experience; potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value-added or other tax systems; reduced or varied
protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; and increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities. Operating in
international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources. The investment and additional resources required to establish
operations and manage growth in other countries may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability.
 
Our success depends in large part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights.
 

We rely on a combination of trade secret, patent, copyright, service mark and trademark laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual
restrictions, to establish and protect our intellectual property rights, all of which can provide only limited protection. In addition, we have not patented
significant technologies used to provide our services. We cannot assure you any future patents that may be applied for and issued will not be challenged,
invalidated or circumvented. Any patents that may issue in the future from future patent applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection or they
may not prove to be enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. Also, we cannot assure you that any future service mark or trademark registrations
will be issued for pending or future applications or that any registered service marks or trademarks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of
our proprietary rights.
 

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties with whom we do business to limit access to
and disclosure of our proprietary information. The steps we have taken, however, may not prevent unauthorized use or the reverse engineering of our
technology. Moreover, others may independently develop technologies that are competitive to ours or infringe our intellectual property. Enforcement of our
intellectual property rights also depends on our successful legal actions against these infringers, but these actions may not be successful, even when our
rights have been infringed.
 

Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our
services are available. In addition, the legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights in
Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving.
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Material defects or errors in the software that we use to deliver our services could harm our reputation, result in significant costs to us and impair our
ability to sell our solutions.
 

The software applications underlying our products and services are inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors, particularly when
first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. Any defects that cause interruptions to the availability of our products and services
could result in: a reduction in sales or delay in market acceptance of our services; sales credits or refunds to customers; loss of existing customers and
difficulty in attracting new customers; reputational harm; and diversion of internal resources. The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors
in our products and services may be substantial and could harm our operating results.
 
Government regulation of the Internet, telecommunications and other communications technologies could harm our business and operating results.
 

As internet commerce and telecommunications continue to evolve, increasing regulation by federal, state or foreign governments and agencies
becomes more likely. Any increase in regulation could affect our clients’ ability to collect and share data, potentially reducing demand for our products and
services. In addition, taxation of products and services provided over the Internet or other charges imposed by government agencies or by private
organizations for accessing the Internet or utilizing telecommunications services may also be imposed. Any regulation imposing greater fees for internet
use or restricting the exchange of information over the internet could diminish the viability of our services, which could harm our business and operating
results.
 
Natural disasters, public health crises, political crises, and other catastrophic events or other events outside of our control may damage our business
and operating results.
 

In the event of natural disasters, public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics, including from the continued effects of the COVID-19
pandemic, political crises, such as terrorism, war, political instability or other conflicts, or other events outside of our control, our business and operating
results could suffer. Moreover, these types of events could negatively impact consumer spending in the impacted regions or depending upon the severity,
globally, which could adversely impact our operating results.
 
We may be impacted by macroeconomic conditions resulting from the global COVID-19 pandemic.
 

Since the first quarter of 2020, there has been a worldwide impact from the COVID-19 pandemic. Government regulations and shifting social
behaviors have limited or closed non-essential transportation, government functions, business activities and person-to-person interactions. In some cases,
the relaxation of such trends has been followed by actual or contemplated returns to stringent restrictions on gatherings or commerce, including in parts of
the U.S., and the rest of the world. During the COVID-19 pandemic, certain industry events at which we present and participate have been canceled,
postponed or moved to virtual-only experiences, we have encouraged all of our employees to work remotely, and we may deem it advisable to similarly
alter, postpone or cancel entirely additional customer, employee or industry events in the future due to the ongoing pandemic. Additionally, we may see our
services carrying less revenue-generating traffic in areas subject to “shelter in place” restrictions or related government orders as the population of those
areas refrain from traveling and normal commerce activities. 
 

We cannot predict the duration or direction of current global trends or their sustained impact. Ultimately, we continue to monitor macroeconomic
conditions to remain flexible and to optimize and evolve our business as appropriate, and we will have to accurately project demand and deploy our
solutions, workforce and other resources accordingly. If we experience unfavorable market conditions, or if we cannot or do not maintain operations at a
scope that is commensurate with such conditions or are later required to or choose to suspend such operations, our business, prospects, financial condition
and operating results may be harmed.
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Risks relating to our common stock
 
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable reports about our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.
 

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business, our market and our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our
shares or change their opinion of our shares, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease covering us or fail to regularly
publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
 
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline.
 

As of March 31, 2022, we have a total of 44,949,939 shares of common stock outstanding and 694,876 warrants. Based on shares outstanding as of
March 31, 2022, 5,564,807 shares of common stock, or 12.4%, are beneficially owned by our officers, directors and their affiliated entities, and will be
subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act and various vesting agreements. In addition, 2,322,166 shares of our common stock
that are subject to outstanding options, restricted stock units and warrants as of March 31, 2022, will become eligible for sale in the public market to the
extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting agreements, and Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act.
 

We cannot predict what effect, if any, sales of our shares in the public market or the availability of shares for sale will have on the market price of our
common stock. However, future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including shares issued on exercise of outstanding
options, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
 

We also expect that significant additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. On February 24, 2022, we entered
into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the "2022 Sales Agreement") with B. Riley Securities, Inc., as sales agent, to create an at the market equity
program, or ATM program, under which we, from time to time, may offer and sell shares of common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to
$50,000,000. As of March 31, 2022 the Company issued 728,452 shares of its common stock in exchange for net cash of $3,303,000 under the 2022 Sales
Agreement. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of
our common stock.
 
Investors may experience future dilution as a result of future equity offerings.
 

In order to raise additional capital, we may in the future offer additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or
exchangeable for our common stock. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to sell shares or other securities in any other offering at a price per
share that is equal to or greater than the price per share paid by investors, and investors purchasing our shares or other securities in the future could have
rights superior to existing stockholders. The price per share at which we sell additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or
exchangeable for our common stock in future transactions may be higher or lower than the price per share paid by investors.
 
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.
 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We currently anticipate that for the foreseeable future we will retain all of our future earnings for the development, operation and growth
of our business and general corporate purposes. Any future determination to pay dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our Board of
Directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any
future gains on their investments.
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Our executive officers, directors, principal stockholders and their affiliates will continue to exercise significant influence over our company, which will
limit your ability to influence corporate matters and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control.
 

As of March 31, 2022, our executive officers, directors, five percent or greater stockholders and their respective affiliates owned in the aggregate
approximately 12.6% of our common stock.
 

These stockholders have the ability to influence us through this ownership position and may have a determining role in matters requiring stockholder
approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to ultimately determine elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or
approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for
our common stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always
coincide with your interests or the interests of other stockholders and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily those
of other stockholders, including seeking a premium value for their common stock, and might affect the prevailing market price for our common stock.
 
We are a “smaller reporting company” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to smaller reporting
companies, our common stock may be less attractive to investors.
 

We are currently a “smaller reporting company,” meaning that we are not an investment company, an asset-backed issuer, or a majority-owned
subsidiary of a parent company that is not a “smaller reporting company,” and have had annual revenues of less than $100 million and public float of less
than $700 million during the most recently completed fiscal year. As a “smaller reporting company,” we are subject to lesser disclosure obligations in our
SEC filings compared to other issuers. Specifically, "smaller reporting companies" are able to provide simplified executive compensation disclosures in
their filings, are exempt from the provisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requiring that independent registered public accounting firms
provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and have certain other decreased disclosure obligations in their
SEC filings, including, among other things, only being required to provide two years of audited consolidated financial statements in annual reports.
Decreased disclosures in our SEC filings due to our status as a “smaller reporting company” may make it harder for investors to analyze our operating
results and financial prospects.
 
Delaware law and provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby
depressing the trading price of our common stock.
 

The anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control by
prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock for three years after the
person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including that: the request of one or more
stockholders holding shares in the aggregate entitled to cast not less than 35% of the vote at a meeting is required to call a stockholder meeting. These
provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and cause us
to take certain actions you desire.
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 

Our principal executive offices are located at 6721 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite 400, Columbia, Maryland 21046. We do not own any real property.
We do not consider any of our leased properties to be materially important to us. While we believe it is necessary to maintain offices through which our
services are coordinated, we feel there are sufficient available office rental properties to adequately serve our needs should we need to relocate or expand
our operations.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

On August 19, 2019, we filed suit in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against three former executives of the
Company who were founders of two related former subsidiaries (the “Firestorm Principals”)—Rekor Systems, Inc. v. Suzanne Loughlin, et al., Case no.
1:19-cv-07767-VEC. On January 30, 2020, we filed a Second Amended Complaint (the “Complaint”). The Complaint alleges that the Firestorm Principals
fraudulently induced the execution of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement wherein Firestorm was acquired by the Company. The Complaint also
alleges claims for breach of fiduciary duty, violations of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”), conversion, and trespass to chattels arising from
the Firestorm Principals’ alleged deletion of company email records. The Complaint requests equitable rescission of the acquisition transaction and
monetary damages.
 

The Firestorm Principals answered together with counterclaims on February 28, 2020. Thereafter, on March 30, we moved to dismiss certain
counterclaims against certain directors and officers named as counterclaim-defendants, resulting in the Firestorm Principals voluntarily dismissing the
counterclaims against those parties. Thereafter the Company filed its response and affirmative defenses to the Counterclaims on April 22, 2020. On April
27, 2020, the Firestorm Principals filed a Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings, which we opposed. In addition, on December 9, 2019, the
Firestorm Principals filed a motion for an interim award of expenses and attorney’s fees. With respect to the Firestorm Principals’ motion for judgment on
the pleadings, the Court’s November 23, 2020 order denied that motion in its entirety. In that same order, the Court granted in part and denied in part the
Firestorm Principals’ fee advance motion.
 

On April 27, 2021, the Firestorm Principals filed a notice of motion for partial summary judgment, seeking summary judgment on several of the
Company’s claims and the Firestorm Principals’ counterclaims, which the Company, along with counterclaim-defendants Firestorm Franchising, LLC and
Firestorm Solutions, LLC, opposed. On March 14, 2022, the Court issued an opinion and order which denied summary judgment to the Firestorm
Principals on the Company's main fraudulent omission claim, the conversion and trespass to chattels claims as to Defendants Loughlin and Rhulen and the
breach of fiduciary duty claim as to Defendant Loughlin. The Court also denied summary judgment to the Firestorm Principals on their breach of warrants,
anticipatory breach of warrants, and anticipatory breach of promissory notes counterclaims and the breach of contract counterclaim asserted by Defendant
Satterfield. The Court granted summary judgment to the Firestorm Principals on our CFAA claims, based on recent case law clarifying that such claims do
not apply to employees who have authorized access to an employer’s computer and misuse that access, and granted summary judgment on our CFAA,
conversion, and trespass to chattels claims against one defendant because Rekor represented it was prepared to dismiss those claims. The Court also granted
summary judgment on one breach of contract counterclaim asserted by a company related to the Firestorm Principals, holding that the $25,500 amount at
issue could not be set off by or recouped from our damages in the case.
 

In 2020, the Firestorm Principals filed various suits in New York, Delaware and Virginia against our directors and officers, alleging breach of fiduciary
duty and libel. The defendants in the suits moved to dismiss these complaints. At this stage of these litigations, suits against two of the directors have been
dismissed. On September 28, 2021, the Court issued an order denying the motion to dismiss one of the actions in Delaware. On October 21, 2021, the
Delaware Action defendants filed a motion for reconsideration of the Court’s dismissal order; that reconsideration motion was denied on February 28,
2022. On March 16, 2022, the court in the Virginia Action dismissed the breach of fiduciary duty claim without prejudice (so it can be refiled in Delaware
Chancery Court) and denied the motion with respect to the defamation claim on jurisdictional grounds. The defamation claim will now be challenged on
substantive grounds.
 

At this stage of these litigations, we are unable to render an opinion regarding the likelihood of a favorable outcome. We intend to continue vigorously
litigating its claims against the Firestorm Principals and believe that the Firestorm Principals’ remaining counterclaims and suits against Rekor directors
and officers are without merit.
 

On January 31, 2020, our wholly-owned subsidiary, OpenALPR, filed a complaint in the US District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania
against a former customer, Plate Capture Solutions, Inc. (“PCS”) for breach of software license agreements pursuant to which software was licensed to
PCS. On June 14, 2020, PCS filed its operative answer to the Complaint. On June 21, 2020, PCS filed a motion to join us and another entity, OpenALPR
Technology, Inc., as parties to the litigation and made claims against them and counterclaims against OpenALPR for defamation, fraud and intentional
interference with existing and future business relationships. On July 13, 2020, OpenALPR filed an opposition to the motion for joinder. On November 23,
2020, the court denied PCS’s Motion for Joinder with prejudice. On August 30, 2021, OpenALPR and PCS filed a joint stipulation of dismissal with
prejudice, and the court ordered dismissal of the case with prejudice on August 31, 2021. We consider this matter closed.
 

On September 18, 2020, Fordham Financial Management, Inc. (“Fordham”) commenced a lawsuit against us in the Supreme Court for the State of
New York, New York County. Fordham alleges that we breached an underwriting agreement with Fordham. Fordham has brought claims for breach of
contract, a declaratory judgment, and attorneys’ fees and expenses, and seeks damages. The Complaint was served to us on September 25, 2020. We issued
a motion to dismiss counterclaims on June 23, 2021. The Court granted Fordham’s motion to dismiss our counterclaims on October 23, 2021. On
November 29, 2021, the Company filed a notice of appeal with the Appellate Division and a motion to reargue that decision and order, arguing that the
court misunderstood the nature and purpose of the prospectus supplement, which was actually prepared by plaintiff after it set the prices for the 2018
offering. On March 3, 2022, the court denied the motion to reargue. In doing so, however, the court clarified that the dismissal was without prejudice,
which would permit the Company to refashion the counterclaims. Meanwhile, the Company’s deadline to perfect its concurrent appeal in the appellate
division is May 30, 2022.
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At this stage of the Fordham litigation, we are unable to render an opinion regarding the likelihood of a favorable outcome. However, we maintain that
Fordham’s claims have no merit. To that end we intend to vigorously litigate this action.
 

In June 2021, a putative shareholder class action lawsuit (captioned Miller v. Rekor Systems, Inc. et al.) was filed in the United States District Court
for the District of Maryland, naming as defendants Rekor Systems, Inc. and certain of its officers. It alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule
10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 related to our automatic license plate recognition technology and uninsured vehicle enforcement diversion
related business and sought damages on behalf of shareowners who acquired our stock between April 12, 2019 and May 25, 2021. The court appointed a
lead plaintiff. In November 2021, the plaintiff filed an order of dismissal, seeking to voluntarily dismiss without prejudice. This matter was voluntarily
dismissed without prejudice. 
 

In addition, from time to time, we may be named as a party to various other lawsuits, claims and other legal and regulatory proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of business. These actions typically seek, among other things, compensation for alleged personal injury, breach of contract, property
damage, infringement of proprietary rights, punitive damages, civil penalties or other losses, or injunctive or declaratory relief. With respect to such
lawsuits, claims and proceedings we accrue reserves when a loss is probable, and the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated. It is our opinion that
the outcome of these proceedings, individually and collectively, will not be material to our consolidated financial statements as a whole.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 

Not applicable.
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PART II
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
 

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “REKR”.
 
Holders
 

As of  March 31, 2022, there were 73 registered holders of record of our common stock, excluding stockholders for whom shares are held in
“nominee” or “street name.” The actual number of common stockholders is greater than the number of record holders and includes stockholders who are
beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include
stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.
 
Dividend Policy
 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently do not anticipate paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable
future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our earnings will be used to provide working capital, to support our operations, and to finance the growth and
development of our business, including potentially the acquisition of, or investment in, businesses, technologies or products that complement our existing
business. Any future determination relating to dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on a number of
factors, including, but not limited to, our future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, future prospects, applicable Delaware law, which
provides that dividends are only payable out of surplus or current net profits and other factors our Board of Directors might deem relevant.
 
Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities
 

Automatic Conversion of Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock and Series B Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Stock Following Registered Public Offering
 
On February 9, 2021, we issued and sold 6,126,936 shares of our common stock, which includes 799,166 shares of common stock sold pursuant to the

exercise of an overallotment option (the "2021 Public Offering"). The net proceeds to the Company, after deducting the underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by the Company, were approximately $70.1 million. The shares were sold pursuant to an
underwriting agreement with B. Riley Securities, Inc. and Lake Street Capital Markets, LLC, as representatives of the several underwriters named therein
and our shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration Statement No. 333-224423) filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) that became effective on April 30, 2018. On February 4, 2021, a prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus were filed
with the SEC in connection with the offering and a related registration statement (File No. 333-252735) was filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) promulgated
under the Securities Act.
 

As a result of the closing of the 2021 Public Offering, all of our issued and outstanding Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) and Series B Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per
share (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) were automatically converted pursuant to their respective terms into an aggregate of 1,416,785 shares of our
common stock. As a result of the automatic conversion of the Series A Preferred, the Series A Preferred will no longer be quoted on the OTC Pink. The
Series B Preferred was not quoted on any trading market.
 

32



 
 

Waycare Acquisition
 

On August 18, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Waycare by acquiring 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Waycare. As a
result of the acquisition, Waycare is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The aggregate purchase price for the shares of Waycare was $60,171,000,
less the amount of Waycare’s debt and certain transaction expenses and subject to a customary working capital adjustment. The purchase price was
comprised of  $39,884,000 of cash and 2,784,474 shares of the Company’s common stock, valued at $20,287,000. As a result of the transaction, Waycare
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the Waycare purchase agreement, the Company reserved for
issuance to Waycare’s continuing employees an aggregate of 686,248 restricted stock units, which were granted on November 3, 2021 pursuant to the terms
of the Company’s 2017 Equity Award Plan, as amended. The restricted stock units are subject to customary vesting schedules and are intended to
incentivize the continued performance of Waycare’s employees. On August 24, 2021, a registration statement on Form S-8 was filed with the SEC (File
No. 333-259041), to registered 597,544 shares issued in exchange for options held under Waycare’s employee incentive plan. On October 29, 2021, a resale
registration statement on Form S-3 was filed with the SEC (File No. 333-26067), and subsequently declared effective by the SEC on November 10, 2021,
allowing for the registered resale of 2,186,931 shares of common stock received as consideration by Waycare’s former stockholders.

 
Use of Proceeds

 
We have generated losses since our inception and have relied on cash on hand, external bank lines of credit, short-term borrowing arrangements,

issuance of debt, the sale of a note, sale of our non-core subsidiaries, and the sale of common stock to provide cash for operations. We attribute losses to
financing and acquisition costs, public company corporate overhead, lower than expected revenue, and lower gross profit of some of our subsidiaries. Our
proceeds have been primarily used for research and development and sales and marketing expenses related to new product development and our strategic
shift to develop and promote capabilities of our technology offerings.
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
 

 
 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

The following management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Annual Report and the historical financial statements of Rekor Systems, Inc., and the
related notes thereto.
 
Overview
 

We are a global leader in intelligent infrastructure focused on addressing critical challenges across transportation management, public safety, and key
commercial markets. With a real-time intelligence platform driven by deep access to data, AI-powered software, and smart optical devices at-the-edge, we
combine our industry expertise and advanced proprietary technologies to deliver unrivaled insights that increase roadway safety, efficiency, and
sustainability while enabling safer, smarter, and more connected cities and communities. Our products are used in over 80 countries as we deliver mission-
critical intelligent infrastructure solutions and services for government agencies and commercial clients in the world. 
 
General
 

The information provided in this discussion and analysis of Rekor’s financial condition and results of operations covers the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020. In 2021, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Waycare Technologies, Ltd. During 2020 we
sold our fully-owned subsidiaries AOC Key Solutions Inc. (“AOC Key Solutions”) and Global Technical Services Inc. (“TeamGlobal”). As a result of the
dispositions, we determined in 2020 that all the remaining operations that comprised our Professional Services Segment met the criteria to be considered
discontinued and they are no longer presented as continuing operations.
 

Our financial results are impacted principally by the demand by clients for our products and services, the degree to which full-time staff can be kept
occupied in revenue-generating activities and the success of our sales team in generating client engagements.
 

Unexpected changes in the demand for our products and services can result in significant variations in revenues, and present a challenge to optimal
hiring, staffing and use of consultants. The volume of work performed can vary from period to period.
 
Acquisitions and Dispositions
 

On April 2, 2020, we sold AOC Key Solutions for an aggregate purchase price of $4,000,000, consisting of $3,400,000 in cash and a subordinated
promissory note in the amount of $600,000.
 

On June 29, 2020, we sold TeamGlobal for an aggregate purchase price of $4,000,000, consisting of $2,300,000 in cash and a secured promissory note
in the amount of $1,700,000.
 

On August 18, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Waycare Technologies Ltd. (“Waycare”) for an aggregate purchase price of $60,171,000,
consisting of  $39,884,000 in cash and $20,287,000 of stock consideration.
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Opportunities, Trends and Uncertainties
 

We look to identify the various trends, market cycles, uncertainties and other factors that may provide us with opportunities and present challenges that
impact our operations and financial condition from time to time. Although there are many that we may not or cannot foresee, we believe that our results of
operations and financial condition for the foreseeable future will be primarily affected by the following:
 

 

● Growing Smart City Market – According to a United Nations report, about two-thirds of the world population will live in urban areas by 2050. Our
cities are getting larger, with longer commutes, bigger roads and the resulting impact on the environment and the quality of life. This trend requires
forward-thinking officials to manage assets and resources more efficiently. We believe that advancements in “big data” connected devices and
artificial intelligence can provide Intelligent Transportation System (“ITS”) solutions that can be used to reduce congestion, keep travelers safe,
improve transportation, protect the environment, respond to climate change, and enhance the quality of life. We believe our data-driven, artificial
intelligence-aided solutions provide useful tools that can effectively tackle the challenges cities and communities are facing today and will face
over the coming decades.

 

● AI for Infrastructure – We believe that the application of AI to the analysis of conditions on roadways and other infrastructure can significantly
affect the safety and efficiency of vehicular travel in the future. As vehicles move towards full automation, there is a need for real-time data and
actionable insights around traffic flow, identification of anomalous and unsafe movements – e.g. wrong way vehicles, stopped vehicles, or/and
pedestrians on the roadway. Marketers and drive-thru retailers with loyalty programs can also benefit from rapid, lower cost identification of
existing and potential customers in streamlining and accelerating local vehicular flow as well as data about the vehicles on the roadway.

 

● Connected Vehicle Data – Today’s new vehicles are equipped with dozens of sensors, collecting information about internal systems, external
hazards, and driving behaviors. This data is an untapped resource for cities and transportation agencies alike. Notably, the data from these vehicles
represent a virtual network that is independent of the infrastructure which is maintained and operated by the public agencies. Connected vehicle
sensors provide important information related to hazardous conditions, speed variations, intersection performance, and more. This data can help
agencies and cities gain more visibility on their roads, supplementing data from existing infrastructure and providing untapped transportation
information from rural areas that are not served by ITS infrastructure.

 

● New and Expanded Uses for Vehicle Recognition Systems – We believe that reductions in the cost of vehicle recognition products and services will
significantly broaden the market for these systems. We currently serve many users who could not afford the cost, or adapt to the restrictions of,
conventional vehicle recognition systems. These include smaller municipalities, homeowners’ associations, and organizations finding new
applications such as innovative customer loyalty programs. We have seen and responded to an increase in the number of smaller jurisdictions and
municipalities that are testing vehicle recognition systems or that issued requests for proposals to install a network of vehicle recognition sensors.
We also expect the availability of faster, higher-accuracy, lower-cost systems to dramatically increase the ability of crowded urban areas to manage
traffic congestion and implement smart city programs.

 

● Adaptability of the Market – We have made a considerable investment in our advanced vehicle recognition systems because we believe their
increased accuracy, affordability and ability to capture additional vehicle data will allow them to compete effectively with existing providers.
Based on published benchmarks, our software currently outperforms competitors. However, large users of existing technology, such as toll road
operators, have long-term contracts with service providers that have made considerable investments in their existing technologies and may not
consider the improvements in accuracy or reductions in cost sufficient to justify abandoning their current systems in the near future. In addition,
existing providers may be able to reduce the cost of their current offerings or elect to reduce prices and accept reduced profitability while working
to develop their own or secure advanced vehicle recognition systems from others who are also working to develop them. As a result, our success in
establishing a major position in these markets will depend on being able to effectively communicate our presence, develop strong customer
relationships, and maintain leadership in providing the capabilities that customers want. As with any large market, this will require considerable
effort and resources.
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● Expansion of Automated Enforcement of Motor Vehicle Laws – We expect contactless compliance programs to be expanded as the types of vehicle
related violations authorized for automated enforcement increase and experience provides localities with a better understanding of the
circumstances where it is and is not beneficial. We believe that future legislation will increasingly allow for automated enforcement of regulations
such as motor vehicle insurance requirements. Communities are currently searching for better means of achieving compliance with minor vehicle
offenses, such as lapsed registrations, and safety issues such as motorists who fail to stop for school buses. For example, due to high rates of
fatalities and injuries to law enforcement and other emergency response crews on roadsides, several states are considering authorizing automated
enforcement of violations where motorists fail to slow down and/or move over for emergency responders and law enforcement vehicles at the side
of the road. To the extent that legislative implementation is required, a deliberative and necessarily time-consuming process is involved. However,
as states expand auto enforcement, the market for our products and services should broaden in the public safety market.

 

● Graphic Processing Unit (“GPU”) Improvements – We expect our business to benefit from more powerful and affordable GPU hardware that has
recently been developed. These GPUs are more efficient for image processing because their highly parallel structure makes them more efficient
than general-purpose central processing units (“CPUs”) for algorithms that process large blocks of data, such as those produced by video streams.
GPUs also provide superior memory bandwidth and efficiencies as compared to their CPU counterparts. The most recent versions of our software
have been designed to use the increased GPU speeds to accelerate image recognition. The GPU market is predicted to grow as a result of a surge in
the adoption of the Internet of Things (“IoT”) by the industrial and automotive sectors. As GPU manufacturers increase production volume, we
hope to benefit from the reduced cost to manufacture the hardware included in our products or available to others using our services.

 

● Edge Processing – Demand for actionable roadway information continues to grow in parallel with camera resolutions. Over the last several
decades, cameras have evolved and unlocked new capabilities with each advancement. Further, cellular networks have been optimized for
downloading data rather than uploading data. As a result, while download speeds have improved significantly due to large investments in cellular
infrastructure, this has resulted in relatively small improvements to cellular upload speeds. With roadside deployments experiencing explosive
growth in count and density, scalability, latency and bandwidth have become aspects of competition in the market. Our systems have been designed
to address these issues through the use of more effective edge processing,  enabled both by incorporating the increasingly effective new GPUs into
our systems and continual improvements in the efficiency of our AI algorithms. Our edge processing systems ingest local HD video streams at the
source and convert the raw video data to text data, dramatically reducing the volume of data that needs to be transferred through the network. Edge
processing allows us to scale a network dramatically without the bandwidth, cost, latency and dependability limitations that are experienced by
other networks where raw video needs to be streamed to the cloud for processing.

 

● Accelerated Business Development and Marketing – Our ability to compete in a large, competitive and rapidly evolving industry will require us to
achieve and maintain a visible leadership position. As a result, we have accelerated our business development marketing and eCommerce activities
to increase awareness and market adoption of our new technology and products within the market. We anticipate that an increased presence in the
market, the continued development of strategic partnerships and other economies of scale will significantly reduce the level of costs necessary to
support sales of our products and services. However, the speed at which these markets grow to the degree to which our products and services are
adopted is uncertain.

 

● COVID 19 - The spread of a novel strain of COVID-19 around the world since the first quarter of 2020 has caused significant volatility in U.S. and
international markets. Despite the roll-out of vaccinations, there continues to be significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business
disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the U.S. and international economies. As such, we are unable to determine the full impact
on our operations. However, we have also seen a positive impact of COVID-19 on the technology sector, in which we are competing. The
pandemic has accelerated the adoption of new technologies by businesses. According to a McKinsey Global Survey of executives, their companies
have accelerated the digitization of their customer and supply-chain interactions and their internal operations by three to four years. Funding for
digital initiatives has increased, creating opportunities for innovative solution providers such as Rekor.
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● Pressure on Government Budgets – COVID-19 has caused significant strain on government budgets. With less money to spend and more need for
resources, government agencies need affordable, effective, and scalable solutions for revenue recovery and discovery. With subscription pricing and
an intelligent infrastructure platform that accomplishes multiple agency missions, we are uniquely positioned to provide agencies with force-
multiplying tools when money and human resources are limited. Agencies can be better positioned to improve public safety, manage resources
more effectively, and make an impact on their citizen's quality of life with limited capital expenditure. In addition, states adopting contactless
compliance programs may be able to garner significant net cash contributions to their annual budgets while reducing the number of non-compliant
vehicles on their roadways.

 

●
 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (“IIJA”) - The IIJA, signed into law on November 15, 2021, provides for significant national investments in
the transportation systems in the United States, including over $150 billion in new spending on roadway infrastructure, including intelligent
transportation systems. We believe that our comprehensive offering of solutions positions the Company well to emerge as a technology leader in
the expanded market for intelligent infrastructure that will benefit from this legislation. We have identified opportunities to access federal funding
streams, and we are working to implement a program that capitalizes on this unprecedented U.S. federal investment in public safety, homeland
security, and transportation infrastructure and ensures that our customers are positioned to capture as much of this extraordinary government
spending as possible. Beyond the many recurring federal grant programs that could support customer purchases, and the $350 billion in American
Rescue Plan Act allocations that public agencies are receiving now, we are particularly excited about the prospect of engaging in the following new
funding streams that are contained in the IIJA.

●         $200 million annually for a “Safe Streets and Roads for All” program that would make competitive grants for state projects that
significantly reduce or eliminate transportation-related fatalities.
●         $150 million for the department to establish a grant program to modernize state data collection systems
●         $500 million  for the Strengthening Mobility and Revolutionizing Transportation (“SMART”) Grant Program that would support
demonstration projects on smart technologies that improve transportation efficiency and safety

 
Other than as discussed above and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that are

likely to have a material effect on our financial condition.
 
Components of Operating Results
 
Revenues
 

We derive revenues substantially from the sale of software, hardware and related services.
 

Software sales include subscriptions for the use of our software as a service (“SaaS”) and software licenses. SaaS revenues are treated as recurring
revenue and provided both through negotiated agreements with larger governmental and commercial customers and through subscriptions from smaller
customers. License sales are typically term agreements, including agreements for perpetual licenses, that may include maintenance obligations for software
updates that keep up with changes in vehicle models and license plate designs.
 

Hardware is sold through direct sales or subscriptions and is typically sold with a software subscription or license arrangement. Revenue from direct
sales is generally recognized when the hardware is delivered, or installation is completed in accordance with the terms of the contract. Subscription
revenues may include hardware and software subscriptions and are recognized as recurring revenue throughout the term of the lease agreement.
 

Our related services include customer support and implementation services, as well as management services such as violation notices, billing and
collections, website portals and call centers related to programs that employ our software solutions. In addition, we engage in pilot programs with
governmental and commercial entities that include extension or renewal features that may result  in recurring revenues and/or additional point in time
revenues at the completion of the pilot program.
 
Costs of revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization
 

Direct costs of revenues consist primarily of the portion of technical and non-technical salaries and wages and payroll-related costs incurred in
connection with revenue-generating activities. Direct costs of revenues also include production expenses, data subscriptions, sub-consultant services and
other expenses that are incurred in connection with our revenue-generating activities. Direct costs of revenues exclude the portion of technical and non-
technical salaries and wages related to marketing efforts, vacations, holidays, and other time not spent directly generating fees under existing contracts.
Such costs are included in operating expenses. We expense direct costs of revenues when incurred.
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Operating Expenses
 

Our operating expenses consist of general and administrative expenses, sales and marketing, research and development and depreciation and
amortization. Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, payroll taxes and stock-
based compensation expenses. Operating expenses also include depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets.
 

General and Administrative
 

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs for our executive, finance, legal, human resources and administrative departments.
Additional expenses include office leases, professional fees and insurance.
 

We expect our general and administrative expenses to continue to remain high for the foreseeable future due to the costs associated with our growth
and the costs of accounting, compliance, insurance and investor relations as a public company. Our general and administrative expenses may fluctuate as a
percentage of our revenue from period to period due to the timing and extent of these expenses. However, we expect our general and administrative
expenses to decrease as a percentage of our revenue over the long term.
 

Sales and Marketing
 

Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, marketing programs, travel and entertainment associated with sales and marketing personnel,
expenses for conferences and trade shows. We intend to make significant investments in our sales and marketing expenses to grow revenue, further
penetrate the market and expand our customer base.
 

Research and Development
 

Research and development expenses consist of personnel costs, software used to develop our products and consulting and professional fees for third-
party development resources. Our research and development expenses support our efforts to continue to add capabilities to and improve the value of our
existing products and services, as well as develop new products and services.
 

We expect our research and development expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in
research and development efforts to enhance the functionality of our AI solutions. However, we expect our research and development expenses to decrease
as a percentage of our revenue over the long term, although our research and development expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue from
period to period due to the timing and extent of these expenses. 

 
Depreciation and Amortization

 
Depreciation and amortization expenses are primarily attributable to our capital investments and consist of fixed asset depreciation, amortization of

right-of-use assets, amortization of intangibles considered to have definite lives, and amortization of capitalized internal-use software costs.
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Other Income (Expense)
 

Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest expense in connection with our debt arrangements, costs associated with the extinguishment of
our debt arrangements, gains on the sale of subsidiaries, gains or losses on the sale of fixed assets, and interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and note receivables.
 
Income Tax Provision
 

Income tax provision consists primarily of income taxes in certain domestic jurisdictions in which we conduct business. We have recorded deferred tax
assets for which a full valuation allowance has been provided, including net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits. We expect to maintain this full
valuation allowance for the foreseeable future as it is more likely than not that some or all of those deferred tax assets may not be realized based on our
history of losses.
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Results of Operations
 

Our historical operating results in dollars are presented below. The analysis of operation is solely related to continuing operations and does not
consider the results of discontinued operations. The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the foregoing
information contained in this Item 7 and with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto in Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.” Only historical operating results are presented below. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.
 
  Year ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)   2021    2020  
Revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234 
Cost of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization   6,236   3,518 
         
Operating expenses:         

General and administrative expenses   22,955   10,278 
Selling and marketing expenses   4,474   2,140 
Research and development expenses   8,292   3,185 
Depreciation and amortization   3,552   1,961 

Total operating expenses   39,273   17,564 
         
Loss from operations   (31,215)   (11,848)
Other income (expense):         

Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt   886   (3,281)
Interest expense   (89)   (2,503)
Gain on the sale of business   -   3,631 
Other income (expense), net   (28)   62 

Total other income (expense)   769   (2,091)
Loss before income taxes   (30,446)   (13,939)
Income tax benefit (provision)   3,819   (23)
Equity in loss of investee   (150)   - 
Net loss from continuing operations  $ (26,777)  $ (13,962)
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
 
Revenue
 
  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234  $ 5,060   55%
 

The increase in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, was a result of additional products
and programs we offered, and increases in our direct sales of existing products and programs.
 

In 2021, we initiated services for Oklahoma’s UVED Program which has generated revenue of $1,282,000 during the year ended December 31, 2021.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, $925,000 of revenue was attributed to Waycare.
 
We also saw an increase, during the year ended December 31, 2021, in hardware sales and sales of perpetual software licenses to larger customers.

Revenue relating to the delivery of the hardware and perpetual licenses was recognized as point in time revenue, while revenue relating to the software
subscriptions and future maintenance services will be recognized as recurring revenue over the remaining life of the sales or licensing agreements.
 
Cost of Revenue, Excluding Depreciation and Amortization
 
  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Cost of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization  $ 6,236  $ 3,518  $ 2,718   77%
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, cost of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization increased compared to the corresponding prior
periods primarily due to an increase in personnel and other direct costs that were incurred to support our increase in revenue.
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Operating Expenses 
 
  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Operating expenses:                 

General and administrative expenses  $ 22,955  $ 10,278  $ 12,677   123%
Selling and marketing expenses   4,474   2,140   2,334   109%
Research and development expenses   8,292   3,185   5,107   160%
Depreciation and amortization   3,552   1,961   1,591   81%

Total operating expenses  $ 39,273  $ 17,564  $ 21,709   124%
 

General and Administrative Expenses
 

The increase general and administrative expenses of $12,677,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31,
2020, was primarily due to a $6,065,000 increase in personnel costs related to an increase in headcount, including a $2,309,000 increase in stock-based
compensation. Additionally, we saw increase in professional fees of $4,290,000, including $2,025,000 related to one-time fees associated with merger and
acquisition transactions.

 
Selling and Marketing Expenses

 
The increase of $2,334,000 in selling and marketing expenses during the year is attributable mainly to increased marketing efforts to promote our

products and services including digital marketing and other sales efforts. In connection with these efforts, there was an increase in staffing to support the
Company’s growth plan which led to a $1,170,000 increase in personnel costs, including a $168,000 increase in stock-based compensation. Additionally,
for the year ended December 31, 2021, we saw an increase in advertising expenses of $474,000.
 

Research and Development Expense
 

The increase in research and development expenses of $5,107,000 during the year was primarily attributable to the development of new products and
additional software capabilities, mainly as a result of an increase in headcount and hours associated with research and development activities. In the current
year, there was an increase in staffing to support the Company’s new products which led to a $4,777,000 increase in personnel costs, including a $595,000
increase in stock-based compensation.
 

Depreciation and Amortization
 

The increase in depreciation and amortization during the year is attributable primarily to increased technology-based intangible assets that were
acquired as part of our acquisition of Waycare.
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Other Income (Expense)
 
  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Other income (expense):                 

Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt  $ 886  $ (3,281)  $ 4,167   127%
Interest expense   (89)   (2,503)   2,414   96%
Gain on the sale of business   -   3,631   (3,631)   -100%
Other income (expense), net   (28)   62   (90)   -145%

Total other income (expense)  $ 769  $ (2,091)  $ 2,860   137%
 

The decrease in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 is due to the staged retirement
of the 2019 Promissory notes in 2020.
 

The gain on the extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2021, was related to the forgiveness of the PPP loans. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, we incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt related to fees associated with the early extinguishment of the principal balance of our
2019 Promissory Notes. 
 

In connection with the sale of AOC Key Solutions and TeamGlobal, we recognized a gain on the sale of the business of $3,631,000 during the year
ended December 31, 2020. 
 
Income Tax Expense
 

The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2021, was $3,819,000, which is due primarily to the step-up in the basis of intangible assets
related to the Waycare acquisition, as compared to tax expense of $23,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020. We established a valuation allowance
against deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter of 2017 and have continued to maintain a full valuation allowance through the year ended December 31,
2021.
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Non-GAAP Measures
 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
 

We calculate EBITDA as net loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net loss before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjusted for (i) impairment of intangible assets, (ii) loss on extinguishment of debt, (iii) stock-based compensation,
(iv) losses or gains on sales of subsidiaries, (v) losses associated with equity method investments, (vi) merger and acquisition transaction costs and (vii)
other unusual or non-recurring items. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measurements of financial performance or liquidity under accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”) and should not be considered as an alternative to net earnings or cash flow from operating
activities as indicators of our operating performance or as a measure of liquidity or any other measures of performance derived in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are presented because we believe they are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested
parties in the evaluation of a company’s ability to service and/or incur debt. However, other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do.
 

The following table sets forth the components of the EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the periods included (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Net loss from continuing operations  $ (26,777)  $ (13,962)
Income tax (benefit) provision   (3,819)   23 
Interest expense   89   2,503 
Depreciation and amortization   3,552   1,961 

EBITDA  $ (26,955)  $ (9,475)
         
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt  $ (886)  $ 3,281 
Share-based compensation   3,909   796 
Gain on sale of business   -   (3,631)
Loss due to change in value of equity investments   150   - 
Merger and acquisition transaction costs   2,025   - 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ (21,757)  $ (9,029)
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Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin
 

Adjusted Gross Profit is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as revenue less cost of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization. We
define Adjusted Gross Margin as our Adjusted Gross Profit divided by our revenue. We expect Adjusted Gross Margin to continue to improve over time to
the extent that we can gain efficiencies through the adoption of our technology and successfully cross-selling and upselling our current and future offerings.
However, our ability to improve Adjusted Gross Margin overtime is not guaranteed and could be impacted by the factors affecting our performance. We
believe Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin are useful to investors, as they eliminate the impact of certain non-cash expenses and allow a
direct comparison of these measures between periods without the impact of non-cash expenses and certain other nonrecurring operating expenses.
 

The following table sets forth the components of the Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin for the periods included:
 
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  

  
(Dollars in thousands, except

percentages)  
Revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234 
Cost of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization   6,236   3,518 
Adjusted Gross Profit  $ 8,058  $ 5,716 
Adjusted Gross Margin   56.4%  61.9%
 

Adjusted Gross Margin, for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased to 56.4% from 61.9% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The
fluctuation in Adjusted Gross Margin was driven primarily by our mix of software and hardware sales. Software sales carry a higher margin than hardware
sales as there are fewer costs associated with software sales. However, hardware sales are typically associated with performance obligations that will
provide higher margin recurring revenue in the future. Additionally, as part of our planned go-to-market strategy, we offer our customers short-term pilot
programs which range from three to six months. Our pilot programs generally have lower margins due to additional upfront costs we incur to establish the
program, which will not be incurred again if the pilot program is converted into a long-term program.
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Key Performance Indicators
 

We regularly review several indicators, including the following key indicators, to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends
affecting our business, formulate financial projections and make strategic decisions. Since much of our revenue from hardware sales is associated with
future recurring revenues from subscriptions and maintenance fees, we expect the percentage of our revenue that is associated with point-in-time hardware
sales to gradually decline in relation to recurring revenues.
 
Recurring Revenue
 

The growth of our recurring revenue provides some insights into our future operating results and cash flow from operations. This enables us to
better manage and invest in our business.
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   Change  
          $   %  
Recurring revenue  $ 4,634  $ 3,616  $ 1,018   28%

 
We continue to focus on long-term contracts with recurring revenue as part of our business model. This model emphasizes the importance of securing

geographic coverage in connection with one customer solution so that additional products and services can be provided more efficiently through the same
network infrastructure. We expect recurring revenue growth in future periods to continue to increase as we move to market our suite of products through
the Rekor One™ platform.
 
Total Contract Value
 

The total contract value of contracts won in the current period also provides us some visibility into our future operating results and cash flows from
operations. Total contract value is a non-GAAP measure in which there are certain assumptions that we make when determining the total contract value of
an agreement, such as the success rate of renewal periods, cancellations and usage estimates. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we won contracts
valued at $8,936,000, compared to $6,613,000 of contracts won for the year ended December 31, 2020. This growth represents a $2,323,000 or
35% growth, period over period.
 
Performance Obligations

 
While a portion of the total contract value won in a particular period represents point-in-time revenue or recurring revenue earned during the period,

the remainder represents future performance obligations that can provide insights into the growth of our revenues. As of December 31, 2021, we had
approximately $22,587,000 of performance obligations with respect to contracts that were closed prior to December 31, 2021 but have a contractual period
beyond December 31, 2021. This represents growth of $5,882,000 or 35% compared to $16,705,000 of performance obligations as of December 31, 2020.
These contracts generally cover a term of one to five years, which the Company will recognize revenue ratably over the contract term. We currently expect
to recognize approximately 41% of this amount over the succeeding twelve months, and the remainder is expected to be recognized over the following four
years. On occasion, our customers will prepay the full contract or a substantial portion of the contract. Amounts related to the prepayment of the contract
related to the performance obligation for a service period that is not yet met are recorded as part of our contract liabilities balance.
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Lease Obligations
 

As of December 31, 2021, we leased building space at the following locations in the U.S.:
 
 ● Columbia, Maryland – The corporate headquarters
 ● Linthicum, Maryland
 ● Orlando, Florida 
 ● Tel Aviv, Israel
 ● Los Angeles, California 
 

We believe our facilities are in good condition and adequate for their current use. We expect to improve, replace and increase facilities as considered
appropriate to meet the needs of our planned operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

The net cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the periods below were as follows (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   Change  
          $   %  
Net cash used in operating activities - continuing operations  $ (18,028)  $ (11,175)  $ (6,853)   -61%
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities - continuing operations   (47,367)   4,588   (51,955)   -1132%
Net cash provided by financing activities - continuing operations   70,992   25,447   45,545   179%
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents -
continuing operations  $ 5,597  $ 18,860  $ (13,263)   -70%
 

Net cash used in operating activities – continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2021, had a net decrease of $6,853,000, which was
attributable to the increase in the loss from continuing operations of $12,815,000. This amount was partially offset by an increase in share-based
compensation expense, a non-cash adjustment, which increased by $3,113,000 to $3,909,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared
to $796,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2021, there was a non-cash adjustment of
$3,819,000 related to an income tax benefit that was primarily due to the step up in basis of the identified definite-lived intangible asset related to
technology acquired as part of the acquisition of Waycare. This increase is due to the number of shares that were issued as well as the increase in our stock
price. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2020, there was a $3,631,000 gain on the sale of AOC Key Solutions and TeamGlobal. The gain on
the sale is shown as a decrease in cash flow from operations and an increase in cash flow from investing activities to reflect the nature of the transactions.

 
The net increase in net cash used in investing activities – continuing operations of $51,955,000 was primarily due to the net

cash outlay in relation to the acquisition of Waycare of $39,770,000 and the $1,250,000 SAFE investment in Roker. Additionally,
during the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company's capital expenditures increased by $5,235,000 compared to the prior
period. The increase in capital expenditures, period over period, was related to supporting the Company's go-to-market
strategy. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the cash provided by investing activities from continuing operations was
primarily due to the cash proceeds of the sale of AOC Key Solutions and TeamGlobal.
 

Net cash provided by financing activities – continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2021, increased $45,545,000 from the prior year
ended December 31, 2020. In the current year, through our 2021 Public Offering, we received net proceeds, after deducting the underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by us, of $70,125,000.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we funded our operations primarily through cash from operating activities from our subsidiaries,
issuance of debt, the sale of our subsidiaries and the sale of equity. As of December 31, 2021, we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents from
continuing operations of $25,796,000 and working capital of $16,989,000, as compared to unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $20,595,000 and
working capital of $18,324,000 as of December 31, 2020. Management believes that based on relevant conditions and events that are known and
reasonably knowable, its current forecasts and projections, for one year from the date of the filing of the consolidated financial statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, indicate the Company’s ability to continue operations as a going concern for that one-year period.
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Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligations and Commitments
 

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have
a material effect on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital resources or capital expenditures.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of our operations is based upon our audited consolidated financial statements as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated
financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, and
related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 
 

We believe the application of accounting policies, and the estimates inherently required therein, are reasonable. These accounting policies and
estimates are periodically reevaluated, and adjustments are made when facts and circumstances dictate a change. Rekor bases its estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that the management of Rekor believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
management’s basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that may not be readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, or if management made different judgments or utilized different
estimates.
 

For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying
notes to consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Revenue Recognition
 

The Company derives its revenues primarily from Software as a Service (“SaaS”), subscriptions, customer support services, contactless
compliance solutions, implementation services, perpetual license sales and the sale of hardware in connection with its software solutions. Revenue is
recognized upon transfer of control of promised products and services to the Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects to receive in exchange for those products and services.
 

To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that the Company determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the Company performs the
following five steps:

 
 ● Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
 ● Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
 ● Determination of the transaction price
 ● Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
 ● Recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied
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Revenues
 

Recurring revenue
 

Recurring revenue includes the Company’s SaaS revenue, subscription revenue, eCommerce revenue and customer support revenue. The Company
generates recurring revenue from long-term contracts with customers that provide periodic payments and short-term contracts that are automatically
invoiced on a monthly basis. The Company’s recurring revenue is generated by a combination of direct sales, partner-assisted sales, and eCommerce sales.
 

Recurring revenues are generated through the Company’s SaaS model, where the Company provides customers with the right to access the Company’s
software solutions for a fee. These services are made available to the customer continuously throughout the contractual period. However, the extent to
which the customer uses the services may vary at the customer’s discretion. The Company's contracts with customers are generally for a term of one to five
years. The payment for SaaS solutions may be received either at the inception of the arrangement or over the term of the arrangement. These SaaS solutions
are considered to have a single performance obligation where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit, and as such, we recognize
revenue for these arrangements ratably over the term of the contractual agreement.
 

The Company also currently receives recurring revenues under contracts entered into using a subscription model for bundled hardware and software
over a period. Payments for these services and subscriptions are received periodically over the term of the agreement and revenue is recognized ratably
over the term of the agreement. In addition, some of our subscription revenue includes providing, through a web server, access to the Company’s software
solutions, a self-managed database, and a cross-platform application programming interface. The subscription arrangements with these customers typically
do not provide the customer with the right to take possession of the Company’s software at any time. Instead, customers are granted continuous access to
the Company’s solutions over the contractual period. The Company’s subscription services arrangements are non-cancelable and do not contain refund-type
provisions. Accordingly, any fixed consideration related to the arrangement is generally recognized as recurring revenue on a straight-line basis over the
contract term beginning on the date access to the Company’s software is provided.
 

eCommerce revenue is defined by the Company as revenue obtained through direct sales on the Company’s eCommerce platform. The Company’s
eCommerce revenue generally includes subscriptions to the Company’s vehicle recognition software which can be purchased online and activated through
a digital key. The Company's contracts with customers are generally for a term of one month with automatic renewal each month. The Company invoices
and receives fees from its customers monthly.
 

Customer support revenue is associated with perpetual licenses and long-term subscription arrangements and consists primarily of technical support
and product updates. The Company’s customer support team is ready to provide these maintenance services, as needed, to the customer during the contract
term. The customer benefits evenly throughout the contract period from the guarantee that the customer support resources and personnel will be available
to them. As customer support is not critical to the customers' ability to derive benefit from their right to use the Company’s software, customer support is
considered a distinct performance obligation when sold together with a long-term license for software. Customer support for perpetual and term licenses is
renewable, generally on an annual basis, at the option of the customer. Customer support for subscription licenses is renewable concurrently with such
licenses for the same duration of time. Revenue for customer support is recognized ratably over the contract period based on the start and end dates of the
customer support obligation, in line with how the Company believes services are provided.
 

Product and service revenue
 

Product and service revenue is defined as the Company’s contactless compliance revenue, implementation revenue, perpetual license sales and
hardware sales.
 

Contactless compliance solutions revenues reflect arrangements to provide traffic safety systems to several jurisdictions in North America. These
systems include hardware that identifies red light and school safety zone traffic violations and software that captures and records forensic images and
analyzes the images to provide data and supports citation management services. In the first quarter of 2021, the Company launched a new service offering
for the State of Oklahoma to support its Uninsured Vehicle Enforcement Diversion (“UVED”) Program. Rekor provides hardware, software and services to
identify uninsured motor vehicles, notify owners of non-compliance and assist them in obtaining the required insurance as an alternative to traditional
enforcement methods. Revenue is recognized monthly based on the number of citations collected by the relevant jurisdiction.
 

Implementation revenue is recognized when the Company provides pilot programs to customers. Pilot programs may involve a one-time fee for a
defined period in which the customer can use the Company’s software in connection with a previously installed camera network or connected vehicle data.
At the end of the pilot program, the customer can convert from a pilot program to a subscription model which has a typical term between one and five
years. The Company’s pilot program revenue is recognized at various stages of completion.
 

In addition to the recurring software sales, the Company will recognize revenue related to the sale of perpetual software licenses. The Company sells
perpetual licenses which provide customers the right to use software for an indefinite period in exchange for a one-time license fee, which is generally paid
at contract inception. The Company’s perpetual licenses provide a right to use intellectual property (“IP”) that is functional in nature and have significant
stand-alone functionality. Accordingly, for perpetual licenses of functional IP, revenue is recognized at the point-in-time when the customer has access to
the software, which normally occurs once software activation keys have been made available to the customer.
 

The Company generates revenue through the sale of hardware through its partner program distribution channels. The Company satisfies its
performance obligation upon the transfer of control of hardware to its customers. The Company invoices end-user customers upon transfer of control of the
hardware to its customers. The Company offers hardware installment to customers which ranges from one to six months. The revenue related to the
installation component is recognized at various stages of completion.
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Accounts Receivable
 

Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. We perform continuing credit evaluations of our clients’ financial
condition, and we generally do not require collateral.
 

Management reviews accounts receivable to determine if any receivables will potentially be uncollectible. Factors considered in the determination
include, among other factors, the number of days an invoice is past due, client historical trends, available credit rating information, other financial data and
the overall economic environment. Collection agencies may also be used if management so determines.
 

We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on specifically identified amounts that are believed to be uncollectible. We also record as an
additional allowance a certain percentage of aged accounts receivable, based on historical experience and our assessment of the general financial conditions
affecting its customer base. If actual collection experience changes, revisions to the allowance may be required. After all reasonable attempts to collect an
account receivable have failed, the amount of the receivable is written off against the allowance. 

 
Goodwill
 

The excess purchase consideration over the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but rather
subject to a periodic impairment testing on an annual basis. The Company will assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1st of each year, or
more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, by comparing its carrying value to the reporting unit’s fair value.
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had not recognized any impairment to goodwill. 

 
Business Combination
 

Management conducts a valuation analysis on the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date thereof. During
the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the fair value of these tangible
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax-related
valuation allowances are initially established in connection with a business combination as of the acquisition date. Upon the conclusion of the measurement
period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
 

Amounts paid for acquisitions are allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.
The Company allocates a portion of the purchase price to the fair value of identifiable intangible assets. The fair value of identifiable intangible assets is
based on a detailed valuation that uses information and assumptions provided by management. The Company allocates any excess purchase price over the
fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired to goodwill.
 
Income Taxes
 

We use the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in the authoritative guidance for accounting for income taxes. This method
requires an asset and liability approach for the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.
 

Management has evaluated the recoverability of the net deferred income tax assets and the level of the valuation allowance required with respect to
such net deferred income tax assets. After considering all available facts, we fully reserved for our net deferred tax assets because management believes
that it is more likely than not that their benefits will not be realized in future periods. We will continue to evaluate net deferred tax assets to determine
whether any changes in circumstances could affect the realization of their future benefit. If it is determined in future periods that portions of the net
deferred income tax assets satisfy the realization standard, the valuation allowance will be reduced accordingly.
 

The tax effects of uncertain tax positions are recognized in the consolidated financial statements only if the position is more likely than not to be
sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the
consolidated financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized. It is our accounting policy to account for
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740-10-25-related penalties and interest as a component of the income tax provision in the consolidated
statements of operations.
 

As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, our evaluation revealed no uncertain tax positions that would have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements. The 2018 through 2020 tax years remain subject to examination by the IRS, as of December 31, 2021. 
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Liquidity and Management’s Plan
 

For all annual and interim periods, management will assess going concern uncertainty in the Company’s consolidated financial statements to determine
whether there is sufficient cash on hand and working capital, including available borrowings on loans, to operate for a period of at least one year from the
date the consolidated financial statements are issued, which is referred to as the “look-forward period”, as defined in U.S. GAAP. As part of this
assessment, based on conditions that are known and reasonably knowable to management, management will consider various scenarios, forecasts,
projections and estimates and will make certain key assumptions. These assumptions include, among other factors, its ability to raise additional capital, if
necessary, the expected timing and nature of the Company’s programs and projected cash expenditures and its ability to delay or curtail these programs or
expenditures to the extent management has the proper authority to do so and considers it probable that those implementations can be achieved within the
look-forward period.

The Company has generated losses since its inception and has relied on cash on hand, external bank lines of credit, the sale of
a note, proceeds from the sale of common stock, proceeds from the private sale of the Company’s non-core subsidiaries, proceeds
from note receivables, debt financings and a public offering of its common stock to support cash flow from operations. The
Company attributes losses to non-capital expenditures related to the scaling of existing products, development of new products
and service offerings and marketing efforts associated with these products and services. As of and for the year ended December
31, 2021, the Company had a net loss from continuing operations of  $26,777,000 and working capital of  $16,989,000.

The Company's net cash position was increased by $5,592,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to the net
proceeds of $70,125,000 from the completion of the 2021 Public Offering. This amount was offset by the net cash outlay of
$39,770,000 in connection with the acquisition of Waycare.

Management believes that based on relevant conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable, its current
forecasts and projections, for one year from the date of the filing of the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, indicate the Company’s ability to continue operations as a going concern for that one-year period. The Company
is actively monitoring its operations, the cash on hand and working capital. Should access to funds be unavailable, the Company
will need to seek out additional sources of funding. On February 24, 2022, the Company entered into an At-the-Market Issuance
Sales Agreement (the “2022 Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc. (the “Agent”) to create an at the market equity
program under which the Company from time to time may offer and sell shares of its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share,
having an aggregate offering price of up to $50,000,000 through or to the Agent.  Furthermore, the Company has contingency
plans to reduce or defer expenses and cash outlays should operations weaken in the look-forward period or additional financing,
if needed, is not available.

 
The Company's ability to generate positive operating results and complete the execution of its business strategy will depend on (i) its ability to

continue the growth of its technology business, (ii) the continued performance of its contractors, subcontractors and vendors, (iii) its ability to maintain and
build good relationships with its lenders and financial intermediaries, (iv) its ability to maintain timely collections from existing customers, and (v) the
stabilization of the world economy and global financial markets. To the extent that events outside of the Company's control have a significant negative
impact on economic and/or market conditions, they could affect payments from customers, services and supplies from vendors, its ability to continue to
secure and implement new business, raise capital, and otherwise, depending on the severity of such impact, materially adversely affect its operating results.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 

See Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies” 
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

As a “smaller reporting company” as defined by Item 10 of Regulation S-K, the Company is not required to provide the information required by this
Item.
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
 
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Rekor Systems, Inc.

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements

 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Rekor Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the
related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 
Basis for Opinion

 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Critical Audit Matters
 
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgment. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on
the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical
audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
 

Evaluation of standalone selling prices of revenue performance obligations
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company recognized revenue of $14.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The
Company allocates value to each distinct performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis. The Company determines standalone
selling price based on pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the geographic locations of
customers, negotiated discounts from price lists and selling method.
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We identified the evaluation of standalone selling prices for the Company’s products and services as a critical audit matter. Subjective auditor judgment
was involved in evaluating the Company’s assumptions regarding market conditions and pricing practices, including historical sales data and discounts
from list price, where there was no direct observable data available.
 
The following are primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the Company’s estimated standalone selling
prices, including their compliance with the Company’s accounting policy, by assessing available, relevant external information and comparing the
estimated standalone selling prices to internal historical disaggregated sales data, including discounts from list price. We selected certain customer
agreements and read contract source documents to assess the relevance and reliability of the historical sales data used by the Company to estimate
standalone selling prices, and tested the mathematical accuracy of the median or average discount from list price for the products and services.
 
Liquidity

 
As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has adequate cash on hand which will provide sufficient liquidity to finance the
operating activities of the Company for twelve months from the issuance of these financial statements. We determined that the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern is a critical audit matter due to management’s significant judgments and assumptions used in estimating future cash flows.

 
To address this critical audit matter, we reviewed forecasted information, assessed reasonableness of the forecasted operating results and uses and
sources of cash used in management’s assessment. This testing included inquiries with management, comparison of prior period forecasts to actual
results, assessment of available financing, consideration of positive and negative evidence impacting management’s forecasts, market and industry
factors.
 
Accounting for Acquisition of Waycare Technologies, Ltd.

 
During 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Waycare Technologies, Ltd. (“Waycare”) for total consideration of $60.2 million, as disclosed
in Note 2 to the financial statements. The acquisition is accounted for as a business combination and the Company preliminarily allocated
approximately $17.0 million of the purchase price to the acquired technology related intangible assets. The determination of fair value requires
significant judgment by management and third-party valuation specialists to develop significant estimates and assumptions used in cash flow models.
We identified the purchase price allocation as a critical audit matter. Auditing management’s judgments used in the discounted cash flow model
including the forecasts of revenue and operating expense growth rates, royalty rates and discount rates involved especially challenging auditor
judgment due to the nature and extent of audit effort required.
 
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included evaluating the Company's valuation model, the method and
significant assumptions used, and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data supporting the significant assumptions and estimates.
We involved personnel with specialized knowledge and skill to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation methodology and certain
significant assumptions.

 
 
/s/ Friedman LLP
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
 
East Hanover, New Jersey
March 31, 2022
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REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

 

  December 31, 2021  
December 31,

2020  
ASSETS         

Current assets         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 25,796  $ 20,595 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents   804   412 
Accounts receivable, net   1,173   1,038 
Inventory   1,194   1,264 
Note receivable, current portion   340   340 
Other current assets, net   1,374   469 
Current assets of discontinued operations   1   2 

Total current assets   30,682   24,120 
Long-term assets         

Property and equipment, net   9,929   1,047 
Right-of-use lease assets, net   6,163   426 
Goodwill   53,451   6,336 
Intangible assets, net   21,406   7,038 
Investments in unconsolidated companies   -   75 
Note receivable, long-term   1,020   1,360 
SAFE investment   1,250   - 
Deposits   1,978   - 

Total long-term assets   95,197   16,282 
Total assets  $ 125,879  $ 40,402 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY         
Current liabilities         

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 7,087  $ 1,772 
Notes payable, current portion   998   - 
Loan payable, current portion   37   517 
Lease liability, short-term   229   253 
Contract liabilities   2,437   1,126 
Other current liabilities   2,904   2,126 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations   129   124 

Total current liabilities   13,821   5,918 
Long-term liabilities         

Notes payable, long-term   -   980 
Loan payable, long-term   37   469 
Lease liability, long-term   10,061   188 
Contract liabilities, long-term   835   958 
Deferred tax liability, long-term   38   24 
Long term liabilities of discontinued operations   -   5 

Total long-term liabilities   10,971   2,624 
Total liabilities   24,792   8,542 

Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; authorized: 505,000
shares authorized at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020; issued and outstanding; 0 and 502,327
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020   -   6,669 
Commitments and contingencies         
Stockholders' equity         
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; authorized; 100,000,000 shares; issued: 44,007,257, shares at December
31, 2021 and 33,013,271 at December 31, 2020; outstanding: 43,987,896 shares at December 31, 2021 and
33,013,271 at December 31, 2020   4   3 
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 2,000,000 authorized, 505,000 shares designated as Series A and 240,861
shares designated as Series B as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively         
Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred stock, 0.0001 par value; authorized: 240,861 shares authorized at
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020; issued and outstanding; 0 and 240,861 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020   -   - 
Treasury stock, 19,361 and 0 shares as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively   (319)   - 

Additional paid-in capital   171,285   68,238 
Accumulated deficit   (69,883)   (43,050)

Total stockholders’ equity   101,087   25,191 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 125,879  $ 40,402 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234 
Cost of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization   6,236   3,518 
         
Operating expenses:         

General and administrative expenses   22,955   10,278 
Selling and marketing expenses   4,474   2,140 
Research and development expenses   8,292   3,185 
Depreciation and amortization   3,552   1,961 

Total operating expenses   39,273   17,564 
         
Loss from operations   (31,215)   (11,848)
Other income (expense):         

Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt   886   (3,281)
Interest expense   (89)   (2,503)
Gain on the sale of business   -   3,631 
Other income (expense), net   (28)   62 

Total other income (expense)   769   (2,091)
Loss before income taxes   (30,446)   (13,939)
Income tax benefit (provision)   3,819   (23)
Equity in loss of investee   (150)   - 

Net loss from continuing operations   (26,777)   (13,962)
Net loss from discontinued operations   (5)   (220)

Net loss  $ (26,782)  $ (14,182)
Loss per common share from continuing operations - basic and diluted   (0.65)   (0.63)
Loss per common share discontinued operations - basic and diluted   (0.00)   (0.01)

Loss per common share - basic and diluted  $ (0.65)  $ (0.64)
         
Weighted average shares outstanding         

Basic and diluted   41,164,564   24,192,680 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
 

  

Shares of
Common

Stock   
Common

Stock   

Shares of
Treasury

Stock   

Treasury
Stock at

Cost   

Shares of
Series B

Preferred
Stock   

Series B
Preferred

Stock   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
(Deficit)  

Balance as of December 31, 2019   21,595,653  $ 2   -  $ -   240,861  $ -  $ 19,371  $ (28,408)  $ (9,035)
Stock-based compensation   -   -   -   -   -   -   796   -   796 
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Exchange Agreement   4,349,497   -   -   -   -   -   17,325   -   17,325 
Exercise of cashless warrants in exchange for
common stock   265,563   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Exercise of warrants in exchange for common
stock   1,189,375   -   -   -   -   -   880   -   880 
Issuance of common stock pursuant to at the
market offering, net   5,216,562   1   -   -   -   -   29,929   -   29,930 
Exercise of warrants related to series A
preferred stock   98,229   -   -   -   -   -   101   -   101 
Issuance upon exercise of stock options   298,392   -   -   -   -   -   701   -   701 
Preferred stock dividends   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (460)   (460)
Accretion of Series A preferred stock   -   -   -   -   -   -   (865)   -   (865)
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (14,182)   (14,182)

Balance as of December 31, 2020   33,013,271  $ 3   -  $ -   240,861  $ -  $ 68,238  $ (43,050)  $ 25,191 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   -   -   -   -   3,909   -  $ 3,909 
Exercise of cashless warrants in exchange for
common stock   62,921   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Exercise of warrants in exchange for common
stock   54,235   -   -   -   -   -   307   -   307 
Exercise of warrants related to series A
preferred stock   99,793   -   -   -   -   -   103   -   103 
Public underwriting   6,126,939   1   -   -   -   -   70,124   -   70,125 
Shares issued as part of the Waycare
Acquisition   2,784,474   -   -   -   -   -   20,287   -   20,287 
Conversion of series A preferred stock   899,174   -   -   -   -   -   7,775   -   7,775 
Conversion of series B preferred stock   517,611   -   -   -   (240,861)   -   179   -   179 
Issuance upon exercise of stock options   208,919   -   -   -   -   -   464   -   464 
Issuance upon vesting of restricted stock units   220,559   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Shares withheld upon vesting of restricted
stock units   -   -   (19,361)   (319)   -   -   -   -   (319)
Preferred stock dividends   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (51)   (51)
Accretion of Series A preferred stock   -   -   -   -   -   -   (101)   -   (101)
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (26,782)   (26,782)

Balance as of December 31, 2021   43,987,896  $ 4   (19,361)  $ (319)   -  $ -  $ 171,285  $ (69,883)  $ 101,087 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:         
Net loss from continuing operations  $ (26,777)  $ (13,962)
Net loss from discontinued operations   (5)   (220)
Net loss   (26,782)   (14,182)

Adjustments required to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         
Bad debt expense   51   36 
Depreciation   714   382 
Amortization of right-of-use lease asset   305   211 
(Benefit) provision for deferred taxes   (3,819)   14 
Share-based compensation   3,909   796 
Amortization of financing costs   20   657 
Amortization of intangible assets   2,533   1,368 
Loss due to change in value of equity investments   150   - 
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (886)   3,281 
Gain on the sale of AOC Key Solutions   -   (2,619)
Gain on the sale of TeamGlobal   -   (1,012)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   300   (298)
Inventory   70   (962)
Other current assets   (755)   (294)
Other long-term assets   (127)   - 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities   5,155   889 
Contract liabilities   1,152   560 
Lease liability   (23)   (222)

Net cash used in operating activities - continuing operations   (18,028)   (11,175)
Net cash used in operating activities - discontinued operations   (5)   (3,888)
Net cash used in operating activities   (18,033)   (15,063)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:         
Cash paid for Waycare acquisition, net   (39,770)   - 
SAFE Investment   (1,250)   - 
Capital expenditures   (6,272)   (1,037)
Proceeds from the sale of AOC Key Solutions   -   3,400 
Proceeds from the sale of TeamGlobal   -   2,300 
Investment in unconsolidated company   (75)   (75)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities - continuing operations   (47,367)   4,588 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:         

Proceeds from the public offering   70,125   - 
Proceeds from the PPP loans   -   874 
Payment of notes payable   (28)   - 
Proceeds from notes receivable   340   600 
Payment of stock issuance costs associated with the Note Exchange transaction   -   (73)
Repayments of notes payable   -   (7,266)
Net proceeds from the exercise of options   464   701 
Net proceeds from the exercise of warrants   307   880 
Net proceeds from the exercise of warrants associated with the Series A Preferred Stock   103   101 
Net proceeds from the at-the-market agreement   -   29,930 
Repurchases of common stock   (319)   - 
Payment of debt modification costs   -   (300)

Net cash provided by financing activities - continuing operations   70,992   25,447 
Net cash provided by financing activities - discontinued operations   -   4,171 
Net cash provided by financing activities   70,992   29,618 

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents - continuing operations   5,597   18,860 
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents - discontinued
operations   (5)   283 
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents   5,592   19,143 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period   21,009   1,866 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of the period  $ 26,601  $ 21,009 
         
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:         

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period - continuing operations  $ 25,796  $ 20,595 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of the period - continuing operations   804   412 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period - discontinued operations   1   2 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of the period  $ 26,601  $ 21,009 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
 
NOTE 1 – BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

Rekor Systems, Inc. (“Rekor”) (formerly Novume Solutions, Inc.) was formed in February 2017. The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Rekor, the parent company, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Rekor Recognition Systems, Inc., OpenALPR Software Solutions, LLC and
Waycare Technologies Ltd. (collectively, the “Company”). The Company is a global leader in intelligent infrastructure focused on addressing the world’s
most critical challenges across transportation management, public safety, and key commercial markets. With a real-time intelligence platform driven by
deep access to data, AI-powered software, and smart optical devices at-the-edge, the Company combines its industry expertise and advanced proprietary
technologies to deliver insights that increase roadway safety, efficiency, and sustainability while enabling safer, smarter, and more connected cities and
communities.

 
On August 18, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Waycare Technologies Ltd. (“Waycare”) by acquiring 100% of the issued and

outstanding capital stock of Waycare, which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Since the acquisition of Waycare occurred on August 18,
2021, the results of operations for Waycare from the date of acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2021. In March 2019, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of OpenALPR Technology, Inc. This acquisition (the
“OpenALPR Technology Acquisition”) transferred vehicle recognition software and associated licenses and proprietary rights to OpenALPR Software
Solutions, LLC (“OpenALPR”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rekor Recognition. Concurrently, the Company reorganized and retooled its product
development, business development and administrative resources to better serve the Company’s direction
 

Previously, the Company provided professional services and staffing solutions to the government contracting and the aerospace and aviation industries
through the Company’s Professional Services Segment. The Professional Services Segment included the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries AOC Key
Solutions Inc. (“AOC Key Solutions”), Global Technical Services, Inc. (“GTS” or “TeamGlobal”), Firestorm Solutions, LLC (Firestorm Solutions”) and
Firestorm Franchising, LLC (“Firestorm Franchising” and, together with Firestorm Solutions, “Firestorm”). As part of the development of a new line of
products for the public safety and security markets, the Company determined that its resources were best concentrated on vehicle recognition products and
services and completed dispositions in our Professional Services Segment. On April 2, 2020, the Company sold AOC Key Solutions. As of June 29, 2020,
the Company sold Team Global and determined that all the remaining operations that comprised its Professional Services Segment met the criteria to be
presented as discontinued.
 
Basis of Consolidation
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and in accordance with the accounting rules under Regulation S-X, as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the extensive use of management’s estimates.
Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing consolidated financial statements. Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and reported revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates
its estimates, including those related to the collectability of accounts receivable, the fair value of intangible assets, the allocation of intangible assets, the
fair value of debt and equity instruments, income taxes and determination of standalone selling prices in contracts with customers that contain multiple
performance obligations. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

 
Reclassifications
 

Certain amounts in the prior year's consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. Beginning in
the third quarter of 2021, depreciation and amortization is presented separately from cost of revenue, general and administrative expenses, selling and
marketing expenses and research and development expenses on the consolidated statements of operations, whereas in prior periods these amounts were
included together with the aforementioned financial statement captions. Additionally, as of September 30, 2021, the Company began to present other
current liabilities separately from accounts payable and accrued expenses. Other current liabilities primarily consist of payroll and payroll-related accounts.
Amounts as of  December 31, 2021, and for the year ended December 31, 2020, have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
 

60



 
 
Liquidity
 

For all annual and interim periods, management will assess going concern uncertainty in the Company’s consolidated financial statements to determine
whether there is sufficient cash on hand and working capital, including available borrowings on loans, to operate for a period of at least one year from the
date the consolidated financial statements are issued, which is referred to as the “look-forward period”, as defined in U.S. GAAP. As part of this
assessment, based on conditions that are known and reasonably knowable to management, management will consider various scenarios, forecasts,
projections and estimates and will make certain key assumptions. These assumptions include, among other factors, its ability to raise additional capital, if
necessary, the expected timing and nature of the Company’s programs and projected cash expenditures and its ability to delay or curtail these programs or
expenditures to the extent management has the proper authority to do so and considers it probable that those implementations can be achieved within the
look-forward period.

 
The Company has generated losses since its inception and has relied on cash on hand, external bank lines of credit, the sale of a note, proceeds from

the sale of common stock, proceeds from the private sale of the Company’s non-core subsidiaries, proceeds from note receivables, debt financings
and public offerings of its common stock to support cashflow from operations. The Company attributes losses to non-capital expenditures related to the
scaling of existing products, development of new products and service offerings and marketing efforts associated with these products and services. As of
and for the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had a net loss from continuing operations of  $26,777,000 and working capital of  $16,989,000.
 

The Company's net cash position increased by $5,592,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to the net proceeds of $70,125,000
from the completion of the 2021 Public Offering (see NOTE 14 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY for details on the 2021 Public Offering). This amount was
offset by operating losses and the net cash outlay of $39,770,000 in connection with the acquisition of Waycare (see NOTE 2 – ACQUISITIONS for details
on the Waycare acquisition).
 

Management believes that based on relevant conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable, its current forecasts and projections, for
one year from the date of the filing of the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, indicate the Company’s ability to continue
operations as a going concern for that one-year period. The Company is actively monitoring its operations, the cash on hand and working capital. Should
access to funds be unavailable, the Company will need to seek out additional sources of funding. Furthermore, the Company has contingency plans to
reduce or defer expenses and cash outlays should operations weaken in the look-forward period or additional financing, if needed, is not available.
 

The Company's ability to generate positive operating results and complete the execution of its business strategy will depend on (i) its ability to
continue the growth of its technology business, (ii) the continued performance of its contractors, subcontractors and vendors, (iii) its ability to maintain and
build good relationships with its lenders and financial intermediaries, (iv) its ability to maintain timely collections from existing customers, and (v) the
stabilization of the world economy and global financial markets. To the extent that events outside of the Company's control have a significant negative
impact on economic and/or market conditions, they could affect payments from customers, services and supplies from vendors, its ability to continue to
secure and implement new business, raise capital, and otherwise, depending on the severity of such impact, materially adversely affect its operating results.
 
Rounding
 

Dollar amounts, except per share data, in the notes to these consolidated financial statements are rounded to the closest $1,000.
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Functional Currency
 

The U.S. dollar (“U.S. dollar” or “$“) is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the operations of the Company is conducted.
Substantial revenues and a substantial portion of the operational costs are denominated in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, the functional currency of the
Company is the U.S. dollar.
 

Transactions and balances originally denominated in U.S. dollars are presented at their original amounts. Balances in non-U.S. dollar currencies are
translated into U.S. dollars using historical and current exchange rates for non-monetary and monetary balances, respectively. For non-U.S. dollar
transactions and other items in the financial statements, the following exchange rates are used: (i) for transactions – exchange rates at transaction dates or
average exchange rates; and (ii) for other items (derived from non-monetary balance sheet items such as depreciation and amortization) – historical
exchange rates. Currency transaction gains and losses are presented in other income, net on the audited consolidated statement of operations. The
accumulated currency translation adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were immaterial.

 
 
Concentration of Risk
 

The Company deposits its temporary cash investments with highly rated quality financial institutions that are located in the United States and Israel.
The United States deposits are federally insured up to $250,000 per account. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company had deposits from
continuing operations totaling $26,600,000 and $21,007,000, respectively, in three U.S. financial institutions and one Israeli financial institution.
 

The Company has a market concentration of revenue and accounts receivable from continuing operations related to its customer base. 
 

Company A and Company B accounted for 17% and 11%, respectively, of the Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021.
 

Company D accounted for 16% of the Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020.
 

As of December 31, 2021, accounts receivable from Company C accounted for 13%, of the consolidated accounts receivable balance. As of December
31, 2020, Company A and Company B accounted for 16% and 30%, respectively, of the consolidated accounts receivable balance.
 

No other single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 or
consolidated accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments, including U.S. Treasury Bills purchased with a maturity of three months or less, to be cash
equivalents.

 
Cash subject to contractual restrictions and not readily available for use is classified as restricted cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s restricted

cash balances are primarily made up of cash collected on behalf of certain client jurisdictions. Restricted cash and cash equivalents for these client
jurisdictions as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $804,000 and $412,000, respectively, and correspond to equal amounts of related accounts payable
and are presented as part of accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 

Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. The Company performs continuing credit evaluations of its clients’
financial condition, and the Company generally does not require collateral.
 

The timing of revenue recognition, billings, and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled accounts receivables, and contract
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Billed and unbilled accounts receivable are presented as part of accounts receivable, net, on the consolidated
balance sheets. When billing occurs after services have been provided, such unbilled amounts will generally be billed and collected within 60 to 120 days
but typically no longer than over the next twelve months. Unbilled accounts receivables of $415,000 and $600,000 were included in accounts receivable,
net, in the consolidated balance sheets as of  December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts at an amount estimated to be sufficient to cover the risk of collecting less than full
payment of the receivables. At each balance sheet date, the Company evaluates its receivables and will assess the allowance for doubtful accounts based on
specific customer collection issues and historical write-off trends. After all reasonable attempts to collect an account receivable have failed, the amount of
the receivable is written off against the allowance.

Based on the information available, the Company determined that an allowance for loss of $11,000 and $22,000 was required on December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively.
 
Note Receivables
 

In connection with the sale of AOC Key Solutions in April 2020, the Company received a $600,000, five-year promissory note due March 2025, that
carried an interest rate of 8%. Based on the general market conditions and the credit quality of the buyer at the time of the sale, the Company determined
that the fixed interest rate approximated the current market rates.
 

During the fiscal year 2020, the full principal balance of the $600,000 note associated with the sale of AOC Key Solutions was paid in full.
 

In connection with the sale of TeamGlobal in June 2020, the Company received a $1,700,000, five and a half year promissory note due December
2025, that carries an interest rate of 4% and is secured by a first priority security interest in the shares of TeamGlobal. Monthly principal payments on the
promissory note began in 2021. Based on the general market conditions, the security interest held by the Company and the credit quality of the buyer at the
time of the sale, the Company determined that the fixed interest rate approximates the current market rates.
 

Interest income recognized for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $62,000 and $54,000, respectively, and is included as part of other
income on the consolidated statement of operations. 
 
Inventory
 

Inventory principally consists of parts and finished goods held temporarily until installed for service. The Company regularly evaluates its ability to
realize the value of inventory based on a combination of factors including the following: historical usage rates, forecasted sales or usage, estimated current
and future market values and new product introductions. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost is determined by the first-
in, first-out (“FIFO”) method.
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Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost or fair value at acquisition date for assets obtained through business combinations, less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation expense is classified within the corresponding operating expense categories on the consolidated statements of operations.
 

Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the following estimated lives:
 
Class of assets  Useful life (in years)  
Furniture and fixtures   2 - 10  
Office equipment   2 - 5  

Leasehold improvements  
Shorter of asset life or

lease term  
Automobiles   3 - 5  
Camera systems   3 - 5  
 

Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for additions, improvements and replacements are capitalized.
 
The Company tests its property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an

asset may no longer be recoverable. Recoverability of property and equipment is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount of
the asset, the Company recognizes an impairment loss, which is the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the asset, using the expected future
discounted cash flows.
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not recognize an impairment loss on its property and equipment.
 

Deposits
 

Deposits consist of cash payments made by the Company related to security deposits for leased assets and deposits on property and equipment which
the Company has not yet received.
 
Software Development Costs
 

Research and development costs to develop software to be sold, leased or marketed are expensed as incurred up to the point of technological feasibility
for the related software product. Capitalized internally developed software costs, net, not yet placed in service were $0 and $216,000 as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company placed in service $216,000 and $730,000, respectively, of
capitalized development costs related to software to be sold, leased or marketed.
 

Software developed for internal use, with no substantive plans to market such software at the time of development, are capitalized during the
application phase and included in intangible assets, net in the consolidated balance sheets. Costs incurred during the preliminary planning and evaluation
and post implementation stages of the project are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage of the project are
capitalized. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company capitalized $4,000 and $162,000, respectively, of development costs related to
internal use software.
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Intangible Assets
 

Intangible assets include capitalized internally developed software and amounts recognized in connection with acquisitions, including customer
relationships, technology and marketing related assets. Intangible assets, other than software development costs, are initially valued at fair market value
using generally accepted valuation methods appropriate for the type of intangible asset. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the intangible assets. Intangible assets with definite lives are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment arise.
 
Leases
 

The Company accounts for its leases in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 842, Leases ("ASC 842"). The standard
provides several optional practical expedients for use in transition. The Company elected to use what the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”)
has deemed the “package of practical expedients,” which allows the Company not to reassess the Company’s previous conclusions about lease
identification, lease classification and the accounting treatment for initial direct costs. ASU 2016-02 also provided several optional practical expedients for
the ongoing accounting for leases. The Company has elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify, meaning that for leases
with terms of twelve months or less, the Company will not recognize right-of-use ("ROU") assets or lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets. Additionally, the Company has elected to use the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for leases of real
estate, meaning that for these leases, the non-lease components are included in the associated ROU asset and lease liability balances on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.
 

The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease and the classification of that lease, if applicable, at inception. Operating leases are
included in operating lease ROU assets, operating lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities (net of current portion) in the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company does not currently have any finance leases.
 

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to
make lease payments under the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value
of lease payments over the lease term. The implicit rate within the Company’s operating leases are generally not determinable and the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. The determination of the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate requires judgment. The Company determined the incremental borrowing rate for each lease using the Company’s current
borrowing rate, adjusted for various factors including level of collateralization and term to align with the terms of the lease. The operating lease ROU asset
also includes any lease prepayments, offset by lease incentives. Certain of the Company’s leases include options to extend or terminate the lease. An option
to extend the lease is considered in connection with determining the ROU asset and lease liability when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise
that option. An option to terminate is considered unless it is reasonably certain the Company will not exercise the option.
 

Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
 
Business Combination
 

Management conducts a valuation analysis on the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date thereof. During
the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the fair value of these tangible
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax-related
valuation allowances are initially established in connection with a business combination as of the acquisition date. Upon the conclusion of the measurement
period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
 

Amounts paid for acquisitions are allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.
The Company allocates a portion of the purchase price to the fair value of identifiable intangible assets. The fair value of identifiable intangible assets is
based on a detailed valuation that uses information and assumptions provided by management. The Company allocates any excess purchase price over the
fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired to goodwill.
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Equity Method Investments
 

Investments in the common stock of entities other than the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method in
accordance with the FASB ASC 323, Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures. Under the equity method, the initial investment is recorded at cost
and the investment is subsequently adjusted for its proportionate share of earnings or losses, including consideration of basis differences resulting from the
difference between the initial carrying amount of the investment and the underlying equity in net assets. The difference between the carrying amount of the
investment and the underlying equity in net assets is primarily attributable to goodwill and other intangible assets. When the fair value or income
information is not readily determinable, the Company has elected to apply the measurement alternative, and report the investment at cost, less impairment.
 
Goodwill
 

The excess purchase consideration over the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but rather
subject to a periodic impairment testing on an annual basis. The Company will assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1st of each year, or
more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, by comparing its carrying value to the reporting unit’s fair value.
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had not recognized any impairment to goodwill. 
 
Revenue Recognition
 

The Company derives its revenues primarily from the sale of software, hardware and related services, including customer support and implementation
services and management services in connection with our traffic safety solutions. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products and
services to the Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products and
services.
 

To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that the Company determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the Company performs the
following five steps:
 
 ● Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
 ● Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
 ● Determination of the transaction price
 ● Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
 ● Recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied
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The following table presents a summary of revenue (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Recurring revenue  $ 4,634  $ 3,616 
Product and service revenue   9,660   5,618 

Total revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234 
 

Information about the Company’s revenue in different geographic regions, which is attributable to the Company’s operations located primarily in the
United States, Canada, and other countries is as follows (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
United States  $ 11,376  $ 6,498 
Canada   1,876   910 
Other   1,042   1,826 

Total revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, except for the United States and Canada, total revenue in any single country was less than 10% of consolidated
revenue.
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Revenues
 

Recurring revenue
 

Recurring revenue includes the Company’s SaaS revenue, subscription revenue, eCommerce revenue and customer support revenue. The Company
generates recurring revenue from long-term contracts with customers that provide periodic payments and short-term contracts that are automatically
invoiced on a monthly basis. The Company’s recurring revenue is generated by a combination of direct sales, partner-assisted sales, and eCommerce sales.
 

Recurring revenues are generated through the Company’s SaaS model, where the Company provides customers with the right to access the Company’s
software solutions for a fee. These services are made available to the customer continuously throughout the contractual period. However, the extent to
which the customer uses the services may vary at the customer’s discretion. The Company's contracts with customers are generally for a term of one to five
years. The payment for SaaS solutions may be received either at the inception of the arrangement or over the term of the arrangement. These SaaS solutions
are considered to have a single performance obligation where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit, and as such, we recognize
revenue for these arrangements ratably over the term of the contractual agreement.
 

The Company also currently receives recurring revenues under contracts entered into using a subscription model for bundled hardware and software
over a period. Payments for these services and subscriptions are received periodically over the term of the agreement and revenue is recognized ratably
over the term of the agreement. In addition, some of our subscription revenue includes providing, through a web server, access to the Company’s software
solutions, a self-managed database, and a cross-platform application programming interface. The subscription arrangements with these customers typically
do not provide the customer with the right to take possession of the Company’s software at any time. Instead, customers are granted continuous access to
the Company’s solutions over the contractual period. The Company’s subscription services arrangements are non-cancelable and do not contain refund-type
provisions. Accordingly, any fixed consideration related to the arrangement is generally recognized as recurring revenue on a straight-line basis over the
contract term beginning on the date access to the Company’s software is provided.
 

eCommerce revenue is defined by the Company as revenue obtained through direct sales on the Company’s eCommerce platform. The Company’s
eCommerce revenue generally includes subscriptions to the Company’s vehicle recognition software which can be purchased online and activated through
a digital key. The Company's contracts with customers are generally for a term of one month with automatic renewal each month. The Company invoices
and receives fees from its customers monthly.
 

Customer support revenue is associated with perpetual licenses and long-term subscription arrangements and consists primarily of technical support
and product updates. The Company’s customer support team is ready to provide these maintenance services, as needed, to the customer during the contract
term. The customer benefits evenly throughout the contract period from the guarantee that the customer support resources and personnel will be available
to them. As customer support is not critical to the customers' ability to derive benefit from their right to use the Company’s software, customer support is
considered a distinct performance obligation when sold together with a long-term license for software. Customer support for perpetual and term licenses is
renewable, generally on an annual basis, at the option of the customer. Customer support for subscription licenses is renewable concurrently with such
licenses for the same duration of time. Revenue for customer support is recognized ratably over the contract period based on the start and end dates of the
customer support obligation, in line with how the Company believes services are provided.
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Product and service revenue
 

Product and service revenue is defined as the Company’s contactless compliance revenue, implementation revenue, perpetual license sales and
hardware sales.
 

Contactless compliance solutions revenues reflect arrangements to provide traffic safety systems to several jurisdictions in North America. These
systems include hardware that identifies red light and school safety zone traffic violations and software that captures and records forensic images and
analyzes the images to provide data and supports citation management services. In the first quarter of 2021, the Company launched a new service offering
for the State of Oklahoma to support its Uninsured Vehicle Enforcement Diversion (“UVED”) Program. Rekor provides hardware, software and services to
identify uninsured motor vehicles, notify owners of non-compliance and assist them in obtaining the required insurance as an alternative to traditional
enforcement methods. Revenue is recognized monthly based on the number of citations collected by the relevant jurisdiction.
 

Implementation revenue is recognized when the Company provides pilot programs to customers. Pilot programs may involve a one-time fee for a
defined period in which the customer can use the Company’s software in connection with a previously installed camera network or connected vehicle data.
At the end of the pilot program, the customer can convert from a pilot program to a subscription model which has a typical term between one and five
years. The Company’s pilot program revenue is recognized at various stages of completion.
 

In addition to the recurring software sales, the Company will recognize revenue related to the sale of perpetual software licenses. The Company sells
perpetual licenses which provide customers the right to use software for an indefinite period in exchange for a one-time license fee, which is generally paid
at contract inception. The Company’s perpetual licenses provide a right to use intellectual property (“IP”) that is functional in nature and have significant
stand-alone functionality. Accordingly, for perpetual licenses of functional IP, revenue is recognized at the point-in-time when the customer has access to
the software, which normally occurs once software activation keys have been made available to the customer.
 

The Company generates revenue through the sale of hardware through its partner program distribution channels. The Company satisfies its
performance obligation upon the transfer of control of hardware to its customers. The Company invoices end-user customers upon transfer of control of the
hardware to its customers. The Company offers hardware installment to customers which ranges from one to six months. The revenue related to the
installation component is recognized at various stages of completion.
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Revenue by Customer Type
 

The following table presents a summary of revenue by customer type (dollars in thousands):
 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Government customers  $ 6,031  $ 5,105 
Commercial customers   8,263   4,129 

Total revenue  $ 14,294  $ 9,234 
 
Performance obligations

 
The Company contracts with customers in a variety of ways, including contracts that obligate the Company to provide services over time. Some

contracts include performance obligations for several distinct services. For those contracts that have multiple distinct performance obligations, the
Company allocates the total transaction price to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price, which is determined based on
the Company’s overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors. This may result in a deferral or acceleration of
revenue recognized relative to cash received for each distinct performance obligation. When the Company recognizes revenue due to the sale of hardware
or perpetual software licenses, the impact on the overall unsatisfied performance obligations is relatively small as the Company satisfies most of its
performance obligations at the point in time that the control of the hardware or software has transferred to the customer.
 

Where performance obligations for a contract with a customer are not yet satisfied or have only been partially satisfied as of a particular date, the
unsatisfied portion is to be recognized as revenue in the future. As of December 31, 2021 the Company had approximately $22,587,000 of remaining
performance obligations not yet satisfied or partially satisfied. The Company expects to recognize approximately 41% of this amount as revenue over the
succeeding twelve months, and the remainder is expected to be recognized over the next two to four years thereafter. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company had approximately $16,705,000 of performance obligations not yet satisfied or partially satisfied.
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Contract liabilities
 

When the Company advance bills clients prior to providing services, generally such amounts will be earned and recognized in revenue within the next
month to five years, depending on the subscription or licensing period. These assets and liabilities are reported on the consolidated balance sheets on a
contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the contract asset and liability balances during the year ended December 31,
2021, were not materially impacted by any other factors. Contract liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, were $3,272,000 and
$2,084,000, respectively. All contract liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, were attributable to continuing operations. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, $1,111,000 of the contract liabilities balance as of December 31, 2020, was recognized as revenue.
 

The contract liabilities as of December 31, 2021, are expected to be recognized as revenue during the years ended December 31, (dollars in thousands):
 
2022  $ 2,437 
2023   486 
2024   243 
2025   84 
2026   22 

Total  $ 3,272 
 

Practical Expedients Election ‒ Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract ‒ The Company’s incremental costs to obtain a contract consist of sales
commissions. The Company elected to use the practical expedient to expense costs to obtain a contract as incurred when the amortization period would
have been one year or less. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, costs incurred to obtain contracts in excess of one year have been immaterial to date.
 
Advertising
 

The Company expenses all non-direct response advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were
$695,000 and $221,000, respectively, and are included in sales and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.
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Income Taxes
 

Income tax expense consists of U.S. federal and state income taxes. The Company is required to pay income taxes in certain state jurisdictions.
 

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in the authoritative guidance for accounting for income taxes. This
method requires an asset and liability approach for the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.
 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of the net deferred income tax assets and the level of the valuation allowance required with respect to such
net deferred income tax assets. After considering all available facts, the Company fully reserved for its net deferred tax assets, outside of the deferred tax
liability related to the indefinite-lived intangible, because management believes that it is not more likely than not that their benefits will be realized in
future periods. The Company will continue to evaluate its net deferred tax assets to determine whether any changes in circumstances could affect the
realization of their future benefit. If it is determined in future periods that portions of the Company’s net deferred income tax assets satisfy the realization
standard, the valuation allowance will be reduced accordingly.
 

The tax effects of uncertain tax positions are recognized in the consolidated financial statements only if the position is more likely than not to be
sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the
consolidated financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized. It is the Company’s accounting policy to
account for ASC 740-10 related penalties and interest as a component of the income tax provision in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.
 

As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company’s evaluation revealed no uncertain tax positions that would have a material impact on the financial
statements. The 2018 through 2020 tax years remain subject to examination by the IRS, as of December 31, 2021. 
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Equity-Based Compensation
 

The Company recognizes equity-based compensation costs related to all share-based payments, including stock options and restricted stock units
(“RSUs”), based on the grant-date fair value of the award on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, net of actual forfeitures. The fair value of
RSUs is measured on the grant date based on the closing fair market value of the Company’s common stock. The Company estimates the fair value of stock
options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The use of the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of subjective assumptions,
including the fair value and projected volatility of the underlying common stock and the expected term of the award.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not issue any stock options. The fair value of each option granted in 2020 was estimated
as of the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions during the year ended December 31, 2020:
 
Risk-free interest rate   1.24%
Expected term (in years)   6 
Volatility   89.5%
Dividend yield   0%
Estimated annual forfeiture rate at the time of grant   0%
 

Risk-Free Interest Rate – The yield on actively traded non-inflation indexed U.S. Treasury notes with the same maturity as the expected term of the
underlying grants was used as the average risk-free interest rate.
 

Expected Term – The expected term of options granted was determined based on management’s expectations of the options granted which are expected
to remain outstanding.
 

Expected Volatility – Because the Company’s common stock has only been publicly traded since 2017, there is not a substantive share price history to
calculate volatility and, as such, the Company has elected to compute its expected volatility based on the average volatilities of similar entities, as well as,
considering its volatility since becoming public.
 

Dividend Yield – The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires an expected dividend yield as an input. The Company has not issued common stock
dividends in the past nor does the Company expect to issue common stock dividends in the future.
 

Forfeiture Rate – We account for forfeitures as they occur.
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Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
 

The Company’s Series A Preferred Stock had certain embedded features including; a Company put right to convert each share into common stock at an
initial conversion price and a specified price which increased annually based on the passage of time beginning in November 2019, the Series A Preferred
Stockholder put right after 60 months from the issuance date to redeem any or all of the Series A Preferred Stock at a redemption price of $15 per share
plus any accrued but unpaid dividends, the Company call right after 36 months from the issuance date to redeem all of the Series A Preferred Stock at a
redemption price which increased annually based on the passage of time beginning in November 2019, and the Series A Preferred Stock automatic
conversion feature based on a qualified initial public offering in excess of $30,000,000 or a written agreement by at least two thirds of the Series A
Preferred Stockholders at an initial conversion price and a specified price which increased annually based on the passage of time beginning in November
2016. As a result of the closing of the 2021 Public Offering in the first quarter of 2021, all of the issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock was
converted pursuant to the original terms of the agreement into shares of the Company’s common stock.

 
The Company determined that the shares of Preferred Stock should be classified as mezzanine equity since they were contingently redeemable.
 
The Company determined that it was probable that the Series A Preferred Stock would become redeemable, thus the Company recognized changes in

the redemption value immediately as they occur at the end of each reporting period as if it were also the redemption date for the interest and adjusted the
carrying amount of the Series A Preferred Stock to the redemption value. Changes in the redemption value were recognized in additional paid-in capital in
the consolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, because of the relatively
short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying amount reported for long-term debt and long-term receivables approximates fair value as of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, given management’s evaluation of the instrument’s current rate compared to market rates of interest and other
factors.
 

The determination of fair value is based upon the fair value framework established by ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
(“ASC 820”). Fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that
maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available.
Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from sources
independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors market participants would use in
valuing the asset or liability. The guidance establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
 

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 

Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets or liabilities.
 

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
 

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. Changes in the
observability of valuation inputs may result in a reclassification of levels for certain securities within the fair value hierarchy.
 

The Company’s goodwill and other intangible assets are measured at fair value at the time of acquisition and analyzed on a recurring and non-recurring
basis for impairment, respectively, using Level 3 inputs.

 
The Company considers its note receivable and Simple Agreement for Future Equity (“SAFE”) investment to be Level 3 investments and that the fair

value approximates the carrying value.
 

There were no changes in levels during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Loss per Share
 

Basic loss per share, or "EPS", is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is
computed using the weighted average number of common and potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period, except for periods of net loss for
which no potentially dilutive securities are included because their effect would be anti-dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities consist of common stock
issuable upon exercise of stock options or warrants using the treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive securities issuable upon conversion of the Series A
Preferred Stock are calculated using the if-converted method.
 

The Company calculates basic and diluted loss per common share using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, net earnings are allocated
to each class of common stock and participating security as if all of the net earnings for the period had been distributed. Participating securities consist of
preferred stock that contains a nonforfeitable right to receive dividends and therefore are considered to participate in undistributed earnings with common
stockholders.

 
The Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock had the non-forfeitable right to participate on an as converted basis at the conversion rate

then in effect in any common stock dividends declared and, as such, is considered a participating security. The Series A Preferred Stock and Series B
Preferred Stock have been included in the computation of basic and diluted loss per share pursuant to the two-class method. Holders of the Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock did not participate in undistributed net losses because they were not contractually obligated to do so.

 
Treasury shares are presented as a reduction of equity, at their cost to the Company.

 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 
New Accounting Pronouncements Effective in the Year Ended December 31, 2021
 

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments-Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323),
and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) (“ASU 2020-01”). The new standard clarifies the interaction of accounting for the transition into and out of the
equity method. The new standard also clarifies the accounting for measuring certain purchased options and forward contracts to acquire investments. ASU
2020-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted,
including adoption in an interim period. The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2021. The adoption of ASU 2020-01 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or notes.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”). ASU
2019-12 eliminated previously allowed exceptions and clarified existing guidance in the accounting for income taxes, including in the areas of franchise
taxes, the tax basis of goodwill and interim period effects of changes in tax laws. The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2021. The
adoption of ASU 2019-12 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or notes.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements Effective in Future Periods
 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”) which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. ASU
2016-13 replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of credit
losses. ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2022. Upon adoption
of the new standard, the Company will begin recognizing an allowance for credit losses based on the estimated lifetime expected credit loss related to the
Company’s financial assets. Due to the nature and extent of the Company’s financial instruments (primarily accounts receivable and a note receivable)
currently within the scope of ASU 2016-13 and based on the Company’s analysis of ASU 2016-13 and the historical, current and expected credit quality of
the Company’s customers, the Company does not expect ASU 2016-13 to have a material impact on its consolidated statements of operations and balance
sheets.

 
The Company does not believe that any recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, other than the standards discussed above, could

have a material effect on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As new accounting pronouncements are issued, the Company will adopt
those that are applicable under the circumstances.
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NOTE 2 – BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS
 
Waycare Technologies Acquisition
 

On August 18, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Waycare by acquiring 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Waycare.
The aggregate purchase price for the shares of Waycare was $60,171,000, less the amount of Waycare’s debt and certain transaction expenses and subject to
a customary working capital adjustment. The purchase price was comprised of $39,884,000 of cash and 2,784,474 shares of the Company’s common stock,
valued at $20,287,000. As a result of the transaction, Waycare has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The purchase price has been preliminarily allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on fair values as of the acquisition date. Since
the acquisition of Waycare occurred on August 18, 2021, the results of operations for Waycare from the date of acquisition have been included in the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021. The table below shows the breakdown related to the preliminary
purchase price allocation for the acquisition (dollars in thousands):
 
Cash paid  $ 39,884 
Common stock issued   20,287 

Total consideration  $ 60,171 
Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 25 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents   89 
Accounts receivable   486 
Other current assets   150 
Property and equipment   72 
Acquired technology   16,897 

Total assets acquired  $ 17,719 
Liabilities     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   794 
Contract liabilities   36 
Deferred tax liability   3,833 

Total liabilities assumed   4,663 
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired   13,056 
Goodwill  $ 47,115 

 
The technology acquired by the Company as part of the acquisition has an estimated useful life of seven years and is presented as part of intangible

assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, $925,000 of revenue was attributed to Waycare, which was reported in the consolidated statement of
operations.
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Operations of Combined Entities
 

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information gives effect to the acquisition of Waycare as if it was consummated as of January
1, 2020. This unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for information purposes only and is not intended to present actual results that would
have been attained had the acquisition been completed as of January 1, 2020 (the beginning of the earliest period presented) or to project potential
operating results as of any future date or for any future periods.

 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  

  
(Dollars in thousands, except per share

data)  
Total revenue from continuing operations  $ 16,239  $ 11,268 
Net loss from continuing operations   (33,196)   (15,524)
Basic and diluted loss per share continuing operations  $ (0.66)  $ (0.70)
Basic and diluted number of shares   43,949,038   26,977,154 
 
 
NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS
 
Investments in Unconsolidated Companies
 

In 2017, the Company contributed substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities related to its vehicle services business to Global Public Safety
(the “GPS Closing”). After the GPS Closing, the Company continues to own 19.9% of the units of Global Public Safety. This equity investment does not
have a readily determinable fair value and the Company reports this investment at cost, less impairment. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
the investment in Global Public Safety had a value of $0.

In June 2020, the Company announced a joint venture in which the Company would have a 50 percent equity interest in Roker Inc. (“Roker”). In the
third quarter of 2020 and the first quarter of 2021, the Company contributed $75,000 for its 50% equity interest for a total investment of $150,000. This
investment is accounted for under the equity method. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized a loss in its unconsolidated
investments of $150,000. 

The carrying amount of the Company’s investments are included as part of investments in unconsolidated companies in the consolidated balance
sheets. There were no distributions or earnings received from either investment in the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
 
Roker Simple Agreement for Future Equity ("SAFE")
 

In April 2021, in exchange for $1,000,000 the Company entered into a SAFE with Roker (the “Roker SAFE”). In October 2021, the Company invested
an additional $250,000 in the Roker SAFE. The Roker SAFE allows the Company to participate in future equity financings of Roker, through a share-
settled redemption of the amount invested (such notional being the “invested amount”). Alternatively, upon the occurrence of a change of control or an
initial public offering (other than a qualified financing), the Company has the option to receive either (i) cash payment equal to the invested amount under
the SAFE, or (ii) a number of shares of common stock equal to the invested amount divided by the liquidity price set forth in the Roker SAFE. The
Company’s investment in the Roker SAFE is recorded on the cost method of accounting and included under SAFE investment on the consolidated balance
sheets and is shown as long-term, as it is not readily convertible into cash. If the Company identifies factors that may be indicative of impairment the
Company will review the investment for impairment. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not identify any factors indicative of
impairment. 
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NOTE 4– DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
 

During the first quarter of 2020, in connection with the Company’s plan to concentrate on its Technology segment, the Company determined that all of
the historical Professional Services segment should be classified as discontinued operations. As part of this plan TeamGlobal, AOC Key Solutions and
Firestorm were classified as discontinued operations and presented as part of discontinued operations.

 
AOC Key Solutions Sale
 

On April 2, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “AOC Key Solutions Purchase Agreement”) by and among the
Company, AOC Key Solutions, and PurpleReign, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company owned by the members of AOC Key Solutions management
(the “AOC Key Solutions Buyer”), by which the Company agreed to sell AOC Key Solutions, to the AOC Key Solutions Buyer.

The AOC Key Solutions Buyer agreed to purchase all of the outstanding equity interests of AOC Key Solutions for a purchase price of $4,000,000,
comprising (i) $3,400,000 in cash, and (ii) a subordinated promissory note (the “Subordinated Note”) in the initial principal amount of $600,000.

 
As of December 31, 2020, the AOC Key Solutions Subordinated Note had been paid in full by the AOC Key Solutions Buyer.
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The table below shows the breakdown related to the AOC Key Solutions Purchase Agreement (dollars in thousands):
 
Total assets sold  $ 4,549 
Total liabilities assumed   3,514 

Net assets sold   1,035 
Closing cost   346 
Consideration paid (see below)   4,000 

Gain on sale of AOC Key Solutions  $ 2,619 
     
Cash consideration  $ 3,400 
Note receivable   600 

Total AOC Key Solution Purchase Agreement consideration  $ 4,000 
 
TeamGlobal Sale
 

On June 29, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “TeamGlobal Purchase Agreement”) by and among the Company,
TeamGlobal, and Talent Teams LLC, a Texas limited liability company owned by the members of TeamGlobal’s management (the “TeamGlobal Buyer”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell TeamGlobal to the TeamGlobal Buyer.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the TeamGlobal Purchase Agreement, the TeamGlobal Buyer agreed to purchase all of the outstanding equity
interests of TeamGlobal for a purchase price of $4,000,000, comprising (i) an aggregate of $2,300,000 in cash, and (ii) a secured promissory note (the
“Secured Note”) in the initial principal amount of $1,700,000, with such Secured Note secured by a Pledge and Security Agreement with respect to all the
outstanding shares of TeamGlobal being acquired by the TeamGlobal Buyer.
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The table below shows the breakdown related to the TeamGlobal Purchase Agreement (dollars in thousands):
 
Total assets sold  $ 9,996 
Total liabilities assumed   7,130 

Net assets sold   2,866 
Closing cost   122 
Consideration paid (see below)   4,000 

Gain on sale of TeamGlobal  $ 1,012 
     
Cash consideration  $ 2,300 
Note receivable   1,700 

Total TeamGlobal Purchase Agreement consideration  $ 4,000 
 

The dispositions of AOC Key Solutions and TeamGlobal are the result of the Company’s strategic decision to concentrate resources on the
development of its Technology Segment and will result in material changes in the Company’s operations and financial results. As a consequence, the
Company is reporting the operating results and cash flows of TeamGlobal, AOC Key Solutions and Firestorm as discontinued operations, including for all
prior periods reflected in the consolidated financial statements and these notes.
 
Results of Discontinued Operations
 

Pursuant to ASC Topic 205-20, Presentation of Financial Statements - Discontinued Operations, the results of operations from TeamGlobal, AOC Key
Solutions and Firestorm for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 have been classified as discontinued operations and presented as part of loss
from discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations presented herein. The assets and liabilities also have been
classified as discontinued operations under the line captions of current and long term assets discontinued operations and current and long term liabilities
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

80



 
 

The assets and liabilities classified as discontinued operations in the Company's consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 are shown below (dollars in thousands): 
 

  December 31, 2021  
December 31,

2020  
  Firestorm   Firestorm  
ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1  $ 2 
Total assets of discontinued operations  $ 1  $ 2 

LIABILITIES         
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 30  $ 31 
Lease liability, short term   99   93 

Total current liabilities of discontinued operations   129   124 
Lease liability, long term   -   5 

Total liabilities of discontinued operations  $ 129  $ 129 
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The major components of the discontinued operations, net of tax, are presented in the consolidated statements of operations below (dollars in
thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  

  Firestorm   Global   
AOC Key
Solutions   Firestorm   Total  

Revenue  $ -  $ 10,510  $ 3,392  $ 5  $ 13,907 
Cost of revenue   -   9,190   1,866   -   11,056 

Gross profit   -   1,320   1,526   5   2,851 
Operating expenses:                     

General and administrative expenses   5   1,341   1,284   1   2,626 
Selling and marketing expenses   -   79   131   -   210 

Operating expenses   5   1,420   1,415   1   2,836 
Income (loss) income from operations   (5)   (100)   111   4   15 
Other income (expense):                     

Interest expense   -   (167)   (74)   -   (241)
Other income   -   5   1   -   6 

Total other expense   -   (162)   (73)   -   (235)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations   (5)   (262)   38   4   (220)
Income tax provision from discontinued operations   -   -   -   -   - 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  $ (5)  $ (262)  $ 38  $ 4  $ (220)
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NOTE 5 – SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Cash paid for interest  $ 14  $ 1,211 

Cash paid for taxes   53   16 
Non-cash investing and financing activities         
Purchase of vehicles by issuing loan payable   -   112 

Note received as part of TeamGlobal Sale   -   1,700 
Paid-in-kind interest transferred from accrued interest to the principal balance of the 2019 Promissory
Notes   -   1,283 

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses related to purchases of property and equipment   1,277   - 

Fair market value of shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Waycare   20,287   - 
Deferred tax liabilities resulting from purchase accounting adjustments in connection with the acquisition
of Waycare   3,833   - 
Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred stock dividends included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses, settled in common stock   (1,005)   - 
Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred stock included in temporary equity, settled in
common stock   (6,770)   - 
Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred stock dividends included in accounts payable and accrued
expenses, settled in common stock   (179)   - 

Non-cash Note Exchange transaction         
Exchange of accrued interest and stock issuance costs   -   (226)
Debt extinguishment costs   -   (2,484)
Exchange of the net principal balance of the 2019 Promissory Notes   -   (14,688)
Issuance of common stock   -   17,325 
Cash impact of Note Exchange transaction   -   (73)

New Leases under ASC-842         
Recognition of operating lease - right-of-use lease asset   6,042   354 

Lease incentive recognized in property and equipment, net   3,830   - 

Recognition of operating lease - lease liability  $ (9,872)  $ (354)
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NOTE 6 – INVENTORY
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, inventory consisted entirely of the following (dollars in thousands):
 
  December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Parts and cameras  $ 260  $ 558 
Finished goods   934   706 

Total inventory  $ 1,194  $ 1,264 
 
 
 
NOTE 7 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
 

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
 
  December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Furniture and fixtures  $ 1,715  $ 83 
Office equipment   819   314 
Camera systems   1,787   1,088 
Vehicles   712   395 
Leasehold improvements   3,232   200 
Camera systems not yet placed in service   3,408   - 

Total  $ 11,673  $ 2,080 
Less: accumulated depreciation   (1,744)   (1,033)
Property and equipment, net  $ 9,929  $ 1,047 
 

Depreciation and amortization related to property and equipment, net for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $714,000 and $382,000,
respectively, and is presented as part of depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Information about the Company’s total assets in different geographic regions is as follows (dollars in thousands):  
 
  December 31,  
  2021   2020  
United States  $ 11,565  $ 2,080 
Other   108   - 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,744)   (1,033)
Total property and equipment, net  $ 9,929  $ 1,047 
 
 
NOTE 8 – LEASES
 

The Company has operating leases for office facilities in various locations throughout the United States and Israel. The Company’s leases have
remaining terms of one to 11 years. Certain of the Company’s leases include options to extend the term of the lease or to terminate the lease prior to the end
of the initial term. When it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option, the Company will include the impact of the option in the lease
term for purposes of determining total future lease payments.
 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities from continuing operations was $278,000 and $251,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
 

Operating lease expense from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $640,000 and $263,000, respectively, and is
part of general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

 
In the third quarter of 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement for its new headquarters. As part of the lease agreement, there were

$3,830,000 in tenant improvement allowances provided to the Company which was used to update the structure of the leased space and furnish the leased
space.
 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2021 was as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 
Operating lease right-of-use lease assets from continuing operations  $ 6,163 
Current portion of lease liability   229 
Long-term portion of lease liability   10,061 
Total lease liability from continuing operations  $ 10,290 
     
Weighted average remaining lease term - operating leases from continuing operations   10.48 
     
Weighted average discount rate - operating leases   9%
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Maturities of operating lease liabilities for continuing operations at December 31, 2021 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
 
2022  $ 529 
2023   1,618 
2024   1,579 
2025   1,596 
2026   1,632 
Thereafter   9,806 
Total lease payments   16,760 

Less imputed interest   (6,470)
Maturities of lease liabilities  $ 10,290 
 
 
NOTE 9– INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
Goodwill
 

In connection with the acquisition of Waycare, the Company recognized $47,115,000 of goodwill. There have been no other changes from December
31, 2020 in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended  December 31, 2021. 
 
Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization
 

The following summarizes the change in intangible assets from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):     
 

  
December 31,

2020   Additions   Amortization   
December 31,

2021  
Intangible assets subject to amortization from continuing operations                 

Customer relationships  $ 362  $ -  $ (34)  $ 328 
Marketing related   159   -   (62)   97 
Technology based   5,361   16,897   (1,954)   20,304 
Internally capitalized software   1,156   4   (483)   677 

Intangible assets subject to amortization from continuing operations  $ 7,038  $ 16,901  $ (2,533)  $ 21,406 
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The following provides a breakdown of identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):
 

  
Customer

Relationships   
Marketing

Related   
Technology

Based   

Internally
Capitalized

Software   Total  
Identifiable intangible assets  $ 461  $ 327  $ 24,107  $ 1,452  $ 26,347 
Accumulated amortization   (133)   (230)   (3,803)   (775)   (4,941)
Identifiable intangible assets from continuing operations, net  $ 328  $ 97  $ 20,304  $ 677  $ 21,406 
 

These intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average remaining estimated useful life of 6.1 years.
Amortization expense attributable to continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $2,533,000 and $1,368,000, respectively,
and is presented as part of depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
 

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated annual amortization expense from continuing operations for each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter is
as follows (dollars in thousands):
 
2022  $ 3,955 
2023   3,777 
2024   3,474 
2025   3,465 
2026   2,653 
Thereafter   4,082 
Total  $ 21,406 
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NOTE 10 – DEBT
 
Firestorm Debt
 

On January 25, 2017, pursuant to the terms of its acquisition of Firestorm, the Company issued $1,000,000 in the aggregate form of four unsecured,
subordinated promissory notes with interest payable over five years. The principal amount of one of the notes payable is $500,000 payable at an interest
rate of 2% and the remaining three notes are evenly divided over the remaining $500,000 and payable at an interest rate of 7%. The notes matured on
January 25, 2022. The aggregate balance of these notes payable was $998,000 and $980,000, net of unamortized interest, as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively, to reflect the amortized fair value of the notes issued due to the difference in interest rates of $2,000 and $20,000,
respectively. The Company is not paying current interest on these notes and did not pay the principal due in January 2022 as the Company has requested
rescission in connection with the Firestorm acquisition and is currently in litigation with the sellers (see NOTE 13- COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES).
 
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
 

On May 26, 2020, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Newtek Small Business Finance, LLC, which provided a loan in the principal
amount of $221,000 (the “Rekor PPP Loan”) pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the CARES Act. The Rekor PPP Loan had a two-year
term and bore interest at a rate of 1.0% per annum. Monthly principal and interest payments were deferred for six months after the date of disbursement.
 

On June 3, 2020, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Rekor Recognition Systems, Inc., entered into a loan agreement with Newtek Small
Business Finance, LLC, which provided a loan in the principal amount of $653,000 (the “Rekor Recognition PPP Loan”) pursuant to the Paycheck
Protection Program under the CARES Act. The Rekor Recognition PPP Loan had a two-year term and bore interest at a rate of 1.0% per annum. Monthly
principal and interest payments were deferred for six months after the date of disbursement.
 

In October 2021, the Company was informed the Loans forgiveness was processed by the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) and the Company’s
Loans have been fully forgiven. The Loans are now considered paid in full by SBA. The Company recognized a gain on the extinguishment of debt of
$886,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 related to the principal and accrued interest forgiveness. 
 
2019 Promissory Notes
 

On March 12, 2019, the Company entered into a note purchase agreement pursuant to which investors, including OpenALPR Technology, Inc. (the
“2019 Lenders”) loaned $20,000,000 to the Company (the “2019 Promissory Notes”) and the Company issued to the 2019 Lenders warrants to purchase
2,500,000 shares of Rekor common stock (the “March 2019 Warrants”). The loan bore interest at 16% per annum, of which at least 10.0% per annum was
required to be paid in cash. Any remaining interest accrued to be paid at maturity or earlier upon redemption. The notes also required a $1,000,000 exit fee
due at maturity, or a premium if paid before the maturity date, and compliance with affirmative, negative and financial covenants, including a fixed charge
coverage ratio and minimum liquidity and maximum capital expenditures covenants. Transaction costs included $403,000 for a work fee payable over 10
months, $290,000 in legal fees and a $200,000 closing fee. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had settled the full amount of the 2019 Promissory
Notes. The loan was secured by a security interest in substantially all of the assets of Rekor. The March 2019 Warrants are exercisable over a period of five
years, at an exercise price of $0.74 per share, and were valued at $706,000, at the time of issuance. The warrants became exercisable commencing March
12, 2019 and expire on March 12, 2024. The 2019 Promissory Notes had an effective interest rate of 24.87%.

As of the first anniversary date of the commencement of the 2019 Promissory Notes $1,283,000 of the paid-in kind ("PIK") interest had not been paid
in cash by the Company and per the purchase agreement was added to the principal balance of the 2019 Promissory Notes in March 2020.
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2019 Promissory Note Amendments
 

On March 26, 2020, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the Note Purchase Agreement which effectively extended the maturity date of
the 2019 Promissory Notes from March 11, 2021 to June 12, 2021. The Company incurred $100,000 in transaction costs related to the First Amendment to
the Note Purchase Agreement, these costs were financing costs and deferred over the remaining life of the loan.
 

On April 2, 2020, following the sale of AOC Key Solutions, the Company transferred $2,200,000 to the holders of the 2019 Promissory Notes.
$2,000,000 of the funds were used as a prepayment of principal while the other $200,000 was paid as a premium percentage as the portion of the 2019
Promissory Notes were paid prior to the maturity date. The premium percentage paid in connection with this transaction is presented as part of debt
extinguishment costs in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
 
2019 Promissory Note Retirement
 

On June 30, 2020, the Company entered into Exchange Agreements with certain 2019 Lenders of the Company’s 2019 Promissory Notes. Subject to the
terms and conditions set forth in the Exchange Agreements, approximately $17,398,000 was redeemed in exchange for 4,349,497 shares of the Company’s
common stock, at a rate of $4 per share, which was the closing price of the common stock on the date of the Exchange Agreements. On July 15, 2020, the
Company completed the Note Exchange. At the time of the Exchange Agreement, the net amount of long-term debt redeemed for common stock was
$14,688,000. This included the existing principal balance subject to conversion, the portion of the exit fee associated with the notes subject to conversion,
offset by the portion of unamortized issuance costs associated with the notes subject to conversion. There was also $226,000 related to the PIK interest
associated with the notes subject to conversion that was exchanged as part of the Exchange Agreements. The difference between the market value of the
shares issued and the net carrying amount of the obligations above of $2,484,000 was recorded as part of debt extinguishments costs in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Following the Note Exchange, approximately $4,398,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2019 Promissory Notes
remained outstanding, plus an additional $216,000 related to the exit fee.

The Company incurred stock issuance costs of approximately $73,000 related to legal, accounting, and other fees in connection with the Exchange
Agreements. These costs are presented as a reduction to additional paid-in capital on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

On September 16, 2020, the Company issued a cash payment of $5,284,000 to complete the retirement of the remaining aggregate principal balance of
the 2019 Promissory Notes. As a result of this optional prepayment, the 2019 Promissory Notes have been fully redeemed pursuant to their terms, and as a
result, the Company has no further obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement, as amended. The warrants previously issued pursuant to the Note
Purchase Agreement remain outstanding pursuant to their terms.
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Interest Expense
 

The following table presents the interest expense related to the contractual interest and the amortization of debt issuance costs for the Company’s debt
arrangements (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Contractual interest  $ 69  $ 1,846 
Amortization of debt issuance costs   20   657 

Total interest expense  $ 89  $ 2,503 
 
Debt Extinguishment Costs
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, gain on the extinguishment of debt of $886,000 related to the forgiveness of the PPP Loans. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Company recognized the following debt extinguishment costs: $200,000 related to an early cash payment in April 2020 related to
the 2019 Promissory Notes, $2,484,000 related to the Exchange Agreements completed in July 2020 and $684,000 related to an early cash payment in
September 2020 to retire the remaining balance of the 2019 Promissory Notes, these costs were offset by the forgiveness of loans in the amount of $87,000
in the third quarter of 2020. These gains and costs are presented as part of gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Schedule of Principal Amounts Due on Debt
 

The principal amounts due for notes payable and loans payable are shown below as of December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):
 
2022  $ 1,037 
2023   37 

Total   1,074 
Less unamortized interest   (2)

Total notes payable  $ 1,072 
     
Notes payable, current portion  $ 998 
Loan payable, current portion   37 
Loan payable, long-term   37 

Total notes payable  $ 1,072 
 
 
NOTE 11 – INCOME TAXES
 

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized. In determining the need for a valuation allowance, the Company reviewed both positive and negative evidence pursuant to the requirements of
ASC Topic 740, including current and historical results of operations, future income projections and the overall prospects of the Company’s business.
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The expense (benefit) from income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 consists of the following (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Federal:         

Deferred  $ (3,819)  $ 14 
Total federal   (3,819)   14 
State:         

Current   -   9 
Total state   -   9 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes  $ (3,819)  $ 23 
 

The components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows on  December 31, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
Deferred tax assets  2021   2020  

Net operating loss  $ 13,786  $ 9,728 
163(j) limitation   2,157   2,293 
Lease liabilities   2,868   159 
Fixed assets   358   93 
Other   422   148 

Total gross deferred tax assets   19,591   12,421 
         

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets   (14,283)   (12,215)
Total deferred tax assets  $ 5,308  $ 206 
         
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Right-of-use asset   (1,701)   (126)
Goodwill and intangibles   (3,645)   (104)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities   (5,346)   (230)
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ (38)  $ (24)
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The difference between the income tax provision computed at the U.S. Federal statutory rate and the effective tax rate is as follows for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020:
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
U.S. statutory federal rate   21.0%   21.0%
(Decrease) increase in taxes resulting from:         

State income tax rate, net of U.S. Federal benefit   4.5%   11.1%
Impact of changes in tax rates   (2.7)%  7.9%
True-ups   (0.9)%  (1.1)%
Other   (2.7)%  6.1%
Valuation allowance   (6.7)%  (45.2)%

Effective tax rate   12.5%   (0.2)%
 

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and various state and foreign jurisdictions. No U.S. Federal, state or foreign income tax
audits were in process as of December 31, 2021.
 

The Company evaluated the recoverability of the net deferred income tax assets and the level of the valuation allowance required with respect to such
net deferred income tax assets. After considering all available facts, the Company fully reserved for its net deferred tax assets, outside of the deferred tax
liability related to the indefinite-lived intangible, because the Company believes that it is not more likely than not that their benefits will be realized in
future periods. The Company will continue to evaluate its deferred tax assets to determine whether any changes in circumstances could affect the
realization of their future benefit. If it is determined in future periods that portions of the Company’s net deferred income tax assets satisfy the realization
standard, the valuation allowance will be reduced accordingly.
 

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had gross federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $51,838,000 and $43,570,000, respectively. As
of December 31, 2021, Rekor had net federal and state net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $10,886,000 and $2,901,000, respectively. These
NOLs are scheduled to begin to expire in 2035 and $13,787,000 are grandfathered under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act; thus, these NOLs are not subject to the
80 percent limitation. NOLs generated in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 of $19,026,000 and $14,726,000, respectively, will be carried
forward indefinitely and are subject to the annual 80 percent limitation.
 

As of December 31, 2020, Rekor had gross federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $33,787,000 and $26,435,000, respectively. As of
December 31, 2020, Rekor had net federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $7,096,000 and $2,632,000, respectively.
 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not record any interest or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. It is the
Company’s policy to record interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of income tax expense. The 2018 through 2020 tax years
remain subject to examination by the IRS.

 
As a result of the acquisition of Waycare, the Company recognized a $16,897,000 identified definite-lived intangible asset related to technology for

which the Company received no tax basis due to the stock acquisition. As a result, the Company recorded a deferred tax
liability of $3,833,000 which increased the Company's goodwill related to the Waycare acquisition. Due to the overall valuation allowance position of the
Company, the deferred tax liability was used to offset the Company's deferred tax asset and thus reducing the total valuation allowance. This impact to the
valuation allowance was booked as a tax benefit. The tax benefit of $3,833,000 was offset by $14,000 of tax expense for the year ended December 31,
2021. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $23,000 in tax expense. 
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NOTE 12 – EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
 
401 (k) Plan
 

In 2019, Rekor established the Rekor Systems, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the “Rekor 401(k) Plan”), a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement (QACA)
safe harbor plan. Employees that satisfied the eligibility requirements became participants in the Rekor 401(k) Plan. The Company contributes an amount
equal to the sum of 100% of a participant’s elective deferrals that do not exceed 1% of participant’s compensation, plus 50% of the participant’s elective
deferrals that exceed 1% of the participants compensation, but do not exceed 6% of the participant’s compensation. Employee contributions are fully
vested, and matching contributions are subject to a two-year service vesting schedule.

 
Employee Severance Benefits
 

In accordance with the current employment terms with all its employees (Section 14 of the Israeli Severance Pay Law, 1963) located in Israel, the
Company makes regular deposits with certain insurance companies for accounts controlled by each applicable employee in order to secure the employee’s
full retirement benefit and severance obligation. The Company is relieved from any severance pay liability with respect to each such employee after it
makes the payments on behalf of the employee. The liability accrued in respect of these employees and the amounts funded, as of the respective agreement
dates, are not reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, as the amounts funded are not under the control and management of the Company
and the pension or severance pay risks have been irrevocably transferred to the applicable insurance companies.
 

The amount of contributions recorded from continuing operations by the Company under these plans during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020 were $616,000 and $228,000, respectively.
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NOTE 13 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 

On August 19, 2019, the Company filed suit in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against three former executives
of the Company who were founders of Firestorm (the “Firestorm Principals”)—Rekor Systems, Inc. v. Suzanne Loughlin, et al., Case no. 1:19-cv-07767-
VEC. On January 30, 2020, the Company filed a Second Amended Complaint (the “Complaint’) alleging that the Firestorm Principals fraudulently induced
the execution of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement wherein Firestorm was acquired by the Company. The Complaint also alleges claims for
breach of fiduciary duty, violations of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”), conversion, and trespass to chattels arising from the Firestorm
Principals’ alleged deletion of company email records. The Complaint requests equitable rescission of the acquisition transaction and monetary damages.
 

The Firestorm Principals answered together with counterclaims on February 28, 2020. Thereafter, on March 30, the Company moved to dismiss the
counterclaims against certain directors and officers named as counterclaim-defendants, resulting in the Firestorm Principals voluntarily dismissing the
counterclaims against those parties. Thereafter the Company filed its response and affirmative defenses to the Counterclaims on April 22, 2020. On April
27, 2020, the Firestorm Principals filed a Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings, which the Company opposed. In addition, on December 9, 2019,
the Firestorm Principals filed a motion for an interim award of expenses and attorney’s fees. With respect to the Firestorm Principals’ motion for judgment
on the pleadings, the Court’s November 23, 2020 order denied that motion in its entirety. In that same order, the Court granted in part and denied in part the
Firestorm Principals’ fee advance motion.
 

In April 2021, the Firestorm Principals filed a notice of motion for partial summary judgment, seeking summary judgment on several of the
Company’s claims and the Firestorm Principals’ counterclaims, which the Company, along with counterclaim-defendants Firestorm Franchising, LLC and
Firestorm Solutions, LLC, filed its opposition to the partial summary judgment motion on June 21, 2021. The Firestorm Principals filed their reply in
support of their partial summary judgment motion on July 9, 2021. On March 14, 2022, the Court issued an opinion and order which denied summary
judgment to the Firestorm Principals on the Company's main fraudulent omission claim, the conversion and trespass to chattels claims as to Defendants
Loughlin and Rhulen and the breach of fiduciary duty claim as to Defendant Loughlin. The Court also denied summary judgment to the Firestorm
Principals on their breach of warrants, anticipatory breach of warrants, and anticipatory breach of promissory notes counterclaims and the breach of
contract counterclaim asserted by Defendant Satterfield. In March 2022,the Court granted summary judgment to the Firestorm Principals on our CFAA
claims, based on recent case law clarifying that such claims do not apply to employees who have authorized access to an employer’s computer and misuse
that access, and granted summary judgment on our CFAA, conversion, and trespass to chattels claims against one defendant because Rekor represented it
was prepared to dismiss those claims. The Court also granted summary judgment on one breach of contract counterclaim asserted by a company related to
the Firestorm Principals, holding that the $25,500 amount at issue could not be set off by or recouped from our damages in this case.
 

In 2020, the Firestorm Principals filed various suits in New York, Delaware and Virginia against directors and officers of the Company, alleging breach
of fiduciary duty and libel. The defendants in the suits moved to dismiss the amended complaint. At this stage of these litigations, the suits against two of
the directors have been dismissed and one has been permitted to proceed. On September 28, 2021, the Court issued an order denying the motion to dismiss.
On October 21, 2021, the Delaware Action defendants filed a motion for reconsideration of the Court’s dismissal order; that reconsideration motion was
denied on February 28, 2022. On March 16, 2022, the court in the Virginia Action dismissed the breach of fiduciary duty claim without prejudice (so it can
be refiled in Delaware Chancery Court) and denied the motion with respect to the defamation claim on jurisdictional grounds. The defamation claim will
now be challenged on substantive grounds.
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At this stage of these litigations, the Company is unable to render an opinion regarding the likelihood of a favorable outcome. The Company intends to
continue vigorously litigating its claims against the Firestorm Principals and believes that the Firestorm Principals’ remaining counterclaims and suits
against Rekor directors and officers are without merit.
 

On January 31, 2020, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, OpenALPR, filed a complaint in the US District Court for the Western District of
Pennsylvania against a former customer, Plate Capture Solutions, Inc. (“PCS”) for breach of software license agreements pursuant to which software was
licensed to PCS. On June 14, 2020, PCS filed its operative answer to the Complaint. On June 21, 2020, PCS filed a motion to join the Company and
another entity, OpenALPR Technology, Inc., as parties to the litigation and made claims against them and counterclaims against OpenALPR for
defamation, fraud and intentional interference with existing and future business relationships. On July 13, 2020, OpenALPR filed an opposition to the
motion for joinder. On November 23, 2020, the court denied PCS’s Motion for Joinder with prejudice. On August 30, 2021, OpenALPR and PCS filed a
joint stipulation of dismissal with prejudice, and the court ordered dismissal of the case with prejudice on August 31, 2021. The Company considers this
matter closed. 
 

On September 18, 2020, Fordham Financial Management, Inc. (“Fordham”) commenced a lawsuit against the Company in the Supreme Court for the
State of New York, New York County. Fordham alleges that the Company breached an underwriting agreement with Fordham. Fordham has brought claims
for breach of contract, a declaratory judgment, and attorneys’ fees and expenses, and seeks damages. The Complaint was served on the Company on
September 25, 2020. The Company issued a motion to dismiss counterclaims on June 23, 2021. The Court granted Fordham’s motion to dismiss Rekor’s
counterclaims on October 23, 2021. On November 29, 2021, the Company filed a notice of appeal with the Appellate Division and a motion to reargue that
decision and order, arguing that the court misunderstood the nature and purpose of the prospectus supplement, which was actually prepared by plaintiff
after it set the prices for the 2018 offering. On March 3, 2022, the court denied the motion to reargue. In doing so, however, the court clarified that the
dismissal was without prejudice, which would permit the Company to refashion the counterclaims in the future. Meanwhile, the Company’s deadline to
perfect its concurrent appeal in the appellate division is May 30, 2022.
 

At this stage of the Fordham litigation, the Company is unable to render an opinion regarding the likelihood of a favorable outcome. However, the
Company maintains that Fordham’s claims have no merit. To that end it intends to vigorously litigate this action.
 

In June 2021, a putative shareholder class action lawsuit (captioned Miller v. Rekor Systems, Inc. et al.) was filed in the United States District Court
for the District of Maryland, naming as defendants Rekor Systems, Inc. and certain of its officers. It alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule
10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 related to Rekor’s automatic license plate recognition technology and uninsured vehicle enforcement
diversion related business and seeks damages on behalf of shareowners who acquired Rekor stock between April 12, 2019 and May 25, 2021. In November
2021, the plaintiff filed an order of dismissal, seeking to voluntarily dismiss the class action lawsuit without prejudice. This matter was voluntarily
dismissed without prejudice.
 

In addition, from time to time, the Company may be named as a party to various other lawsuits, claims and other legal and regulatory proceedings that
arise in the ordinary course of business. These actions typically seek, among other things, compensation for alleged personal injury, breach of contract,
property damage, infringement of proprietary rights, punitive damages, civil penalties or other losses, or injunctive or declaratory relief. With respect to
such lawsuits, claims and proceedings the Company accrues reserves when a loss is probable, and the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated. It is
the Company’s opinion that the outcome of these proceedings, individually and collectively, will not be material to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements as a whole.
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NOTE 14 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Common Stock
 

Effective March 18, 2020, the Company adopted and approved an amendment to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from
30,000,000 to 100,000,000, $0.0001 par value. The rights and privileges terms of the additional authorized shares of common stock are identical to those of
the currently outstanding shares of common stock. However, because the holders of common stock do not have preemptive rights to purchase or subscribe
for any new issuances of common stock, the subsequent potential issuance of additional shares of common stock will reduce the current stockholders’
percentage ownership interest in the total outstanding shares of common stock. The Amendment and the creation of additional shares of authorized
common stock will not alter current stockholders’ relative rights and limitations.
 
Form S-3 Registration Statement
 

On September 10, 2021, the Company filed a Form S-3 Registration Statement SEC, using a “shelf” registration process, which was declared effective
by the SEC on September 23, 2021. By using a shelf registration statement, the Company may sell securities from time to time and in one or more offerings
up to a total dollar amount of $350,000,000.

 
Waycare Acquisition
 

In connection with the acquisition as described in NOTE 2 – ACQUISITIONS, the Company issued 2,784,474 shares of the Company’s common stock
as part of the consideration.
 
Public Offering
 

On February 9, 2021, the Company issued and sold 6,126,939 shares of its common stock (which includes 799,166 shares of common stock sold
pursuant to the exercise of an overallotment option) (the “2021 Public Offering”). The net proceeds to the Company, after deducting the underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by the Company, were approximately $70,125,000. 

 
At-the-Market Offering
 

In 2019, the Company entered into a sales agreement (the "2019 Sales Agreement") with B. Riley FBR, Inc. (“B. Riley FBR”) to create an at-the-
market equity program under which the Company from time to time offered and sold shares of its common stock, having an aggregate offering price of up
to $15,000,000, through or to B. Riley FBR. Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2019 Sales Agreement, B. Riley FBR would use its commercially
reasonable efforts to sell the shares of the Company’s common stock from time to time, based upon the Company’s instructions. B. Riley FBR was entitled
to a commission equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale. In 2020, the Company filed Amendment No. 1 to the 2019 Sales Agreement to
increase the size of the market equity program under which the Company from time to time offered and sold shares of its common stock, from an aggregate
offering price of up to $15,000,000 to an amended maximum aggregate offering price of up to $40,000,000 through or to B. Riley FBR. The Company
incurred issuance costs of approximately $25,000 related to legal fees in connection with the amendment to the 2019 Sales Agreement. These costs were
charged against the gross proceeds of the 2019 Sales Agreement and presented as a reduction to additional paid-in capital on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, based on the settlement date, the Company sold 5,216,562 shares of common stock at a weighted-average
selling price of $5.92 per share in accordance with the 2019 Sales Agreement. Net cash provided for the year ended December 31, 2020 from the 2019
Sales Agreement was $29,930,000 after paying 3.0% or $926,000 related to cash commissions provided to B. Riley FBR.
 

On September 21, 2020, the Company elected to voluntarily terminate its 2019 Sales Agreement with B. Riley FBR pursuant to the terms of the 2019
Sales Agreement. 
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Preferred Stock
 

The Company is authorized to issue up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value. The Company’s preferred stock may be entitled to
preference over the common stock with respect to the distribution of assets of the Company in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the
Company, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, or in the event of any other distribution of assets of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of
the winding-up of its affairs. The authorized but unissued shares of the preferred stock may be divided into, and issued in, designated series from time to
time by one or more resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company, in its sole discretion, has the
power to determine the relative powers, preferences and rights of each series of preferred stock.
 
Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
 

Of the 2,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock, 505,000 shares were designated as $0.0001 par value Series A Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”). The holders of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to quarterly dividends of 7.0% per
annum per share.

Based on the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock, the Company concluded that the Series A Preferred Stock should be classified as temporary equity
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020.

Rekor adjusted the value of the Series A Preferred Stock to redemption value at the end of each reporting period. The adjustment to the redemption
value was recorded through additional paid-in capital of $101,000 and $865,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

As a result of the closing of the 2021 Public Offering in the first quarter of 2021, all of the issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock was
converted pursuant to the original terms of the agreement into 899,174 shares of the Company’s common stock.

 
Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
 

Of the 2,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock, 240,861 shares were designated as $0.0001 par value Rekor Series B Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock”). As part of the TeamGlobal Merger, the Company issued 240,861 shares of $0.0001 par value Series B
Preferred Stock. All Series B Preferred Stock was issued at a price of $10.00 per share as part of the acquisition of TeamGlobal. The Series B Preferred
Stock had a conversion price of $5.00 per share. Each Series B Preferred Stock had an automatic conversion feature based on the share price of Rekor.

As a result of the volume weighted average share price of the Company’s common stock being over $7.50 for thirty consecutive days, in the first
quarter of 2021, all of the Company’s issued and outstanding Series B Preferred Stock was converted pursuant to the original terms of the agreement into
517,611 shares of the Company’s common stock.
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Warrants
 

A summary of the warrant activity for the Company for the period ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021 is as follows:
 
 

  

Series A
Preferred

Stock
Warrants (1)   

Firestorm
Warrants (2)   

Secure
Education

Warrants (3)   

2018 Public
Offering

Warrants (4)   

2019
Promissory

Note
Warrants (5)   Total  

Active warrants January 1, 2020   242,963   631,254   66,666   16,437   1,549,375   2,506,695 
Exercised warrants   (101,174)   -   -   (11,551)   (1,480,625)   (1,593,350)
Outstanding warrants December 31, 2020   141,789   631,254   66,666   4,886   68,750   913,345 
Weighted average strike price of
outstanding warrants as of December 31,
2020  $ 1.03  $ 3.09  $ 5.96  $ 1.00  $ 0.74  $ 2.77 
Intrinsic value of outstanding warrants as
of December 31, 2020  $ 998,000  $ 3,142,000  $ 139,000  $ 35,000  $ 596,000  $ 4,910,000 
Shares of common stock issued during the
year ended December 31, 2020   98,229   -   -   8,659   1,446,279   1,553,167 
Active warrants January 1, 2021   141,789   631,254   66,666   4,886   68,750   913,345 
Exercised warrants   (99,793)   -   (51,110)   (1,381)   (68,750)   (221,034)
Outstanding warrants December 31, 2021   41,996   631,254   15,556   3,505   -   692,311 
Weighted average strike price of
outstanding warrants as of December 31,
2021  $ 1.03  $ 3.09  $ 6.06  $ 1.00  $ -  $ 3.02 
Intrinsic value of outstanding warrants as
of December 31, 2021  $ 232,000  $ 2,182,000  $ 8,000  $ 19,000  $ -  $ 2,441,000 
Shares of common stock issued during the
year ended December 31, 2021   99,793   -   51,110   1,280   64,766   216,949 
 
 

 
(1) As part of a Regulation A Offering in fiscal year 2016 and 2017, the Company issued warrants to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock (the

“Series A Preferred Stock Warrants”). The exercise price for these warrants is $1.03. The expiration date of the Series A Preferred Stock Warrants
is November 8, 2023.

 

(2) As part of the acquisition of Firestorm on January 24, 2017, the Company issued warrants to purchase 315,627 shares of its common stock,
exercisable over a period of five years, at an exercise price of $2.5744 per share, and warrants to purchase 315,627 shares of its common stock,
exercisable over a period of five years, at an exercise price of $3.6083 per share (the “Firestorm Warrants”). The expiration date of the Firestorm
Warrants is January 24, 2022. The Company has rejected requests from the holders of the Firestorm Warrants to exercise them pending resolution
of pending litigation (see NOTE - 13 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES)

 

(3) Pursuant to the Company’s acquisition of Secure Education Consultants on January 1, 2018, the Company issued warrants to purchase 33,333
shares of its common stock, exercisable over a period of five years, at an exercise price of $5.44 per share, and warrants to purchase 33,333 shares
of its common stock, exercisable over a period of five years, at an exercise price of $6.53 per share (the “Secure Education Warrants”). The
expiration date of the Secure Education Warrants is January 1, 2023.

 
(4) On November 1, 2018, in connection with an underwritten public offering of its common stock, the Company issued to the underwriters warrants

to purchase 206,250 shares of its common stock (the “2018 Public Offering Warrants”), exercisable over a period of five years, at an exercise
price of $1.00 per share. These warrants were exercisable commencing April 27, 2019 and expire on October 29, 2023.

 
(5) On March 12, 2019, in connection with the 2019 Promissory Notes, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2,500,000 shares of its common

stock (the “2019 Promissory Note Warrants”), which were immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $0.74 per share, to certain individuals
and entities. Of the 2,500,000 warrants, 625,000 were issued as partial consideration for the OpenALPR Technology Acquisition.
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NOTE 15 – EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
 

In  2017, the Company approved and adopted the 2017 Equity Award Plan (the “2017 Plan”) which replaced the 2016 Equity Award Plan (the “2016
Plan”). The 2017 Plan permits the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted and unrestricted stock awards, phantom stock, performance
awards and other stock-based awards for the purpose of attracting and retaining quality employees, directors and consultants. Maximum awards available
under the 2017 Plan were initially set at 3,000,000 shares.

 
In 2021, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-8 solely to register an additional 4,368,733 shares of its common stock available for

issuance under the 2017 Plan. This increase was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on May 7, 2021, and by the Company’s stockholders on
September 14, 2021 at the Company’s annual meeting.
 
Stock Options
 

Stock options granted under the 2017 Plan may be either incentive stock options (“ISOs”) or non-qualified stock options (“NSOs”). ISOs may be
granted to employees and NSOs may be granted to employees, directors, or consultants. Stock options are granted at exercise prices as determined by the
Board of Directors. The vesting period is generally three years with a contractual term of ten years.
 

Stock compensation expense related to stock options for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $116,000 and $313,000, respectively, and
is presented as part of general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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A summary of stock option activity under the Company’s 2017 Plan for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
 

  
Number of Shares
Subject to Option   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(Years)   

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value  

Outstanding balance at January 1, 2020   1,655,383  $ 1.68   8.33  $ 3,256,000 
Granted1   20,000   4.32   -     
Exercised   (298,392)   2.35   -     
Forfeited   (40,342)   3.17   -     
Canceled   (44,896)   2.13   -     

Outstanding balance at December 31, 2020   1,291,753  $ 1.44   7.57  $ 7,827,000 
Exercised   (208,919)   2.24   -     
Forfeited   (21,999)   1.04   -     
Expired   (48,499)   3.81   -     

Outstanding balance at December 31, 2021   1,012,336  $ 1.28   6.50  $ 5,002,000 

Exercisable at December 31, 2021   823,835  $ 1.34   6.36  $ 4,072,000 
(1) All shares granted in the current year were forfeited in the current year.
 

There were no options granted in the year ended December 31, 2021. The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted for the years ended
December 31, 2020, was $3.18. The intrinsic value of the stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2020, was $75,000. The total fair
value of shares that became vested after grant during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $121,000 and $316,000, respectively.
 

As of December 31, 2021, there was $48,000 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to unvested stock options granted under the 2017
Plan that will be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.5 years.
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Restricted Stock Units
 

Stock compensation expense related to RSU’s for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $3,793,000 and $483,000, respectively, and was
presented as part of operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
 

A summary of RSU activity under the Company’s 2017 Plan for years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
 

  Number of Shares   
Weighted Average

Unit Price   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(Years)  

Outstanding balance at January 1, 2020   -  $ -   - 
Granted   488,834   4.44   2.12 
Forfeited   (8,850)   3.75   - 

Outstanding balance at December 31, 2020   479,984  $ 4.45   2.12 
Granted   1,217,071   12.39   2.24 
Vested   (239,920)   7.54   - 
Forfeited   (109,256)   6.11   - 

Outstanding balance at December 31, 2021   1,347,879  $ 10.94   2.20 
 

The grant date fair value is based on the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. All RSUs granted vest upon the
satisfaction of a service-based vesting condition.
 

As of December 31, 2021, there was $12,306,000 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to unvested RSUs granted under the 2017 Plan
that will be recognized over an average remaining period of 2.20 years.
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NOTE 16 – LOSS PER SHARE
 

The following table provides information relating to the calculation of loss per common share (dollars in thousands, except per share data):
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
Basic and diluted loss per share         

Net loss from continuing operations  $ (26,777)  $ (13,962)
Less: preferred stock accretion   (101)   (865)
Less: preferred stock dividends   (51)   (460)

Net loss attributable to shareholders from continuing operations   (26,929)   (15,287)
Net loss from discontinued operations   (5)   (220)
Net loss attributable to shareholders  $ (26,934)  $ (15,507)

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted   41,164,564   24,192,680 
Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations  $ (0.65)  $ (0.63)
Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations   (0.00)   (0.01)

Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (0.65)  $ (0.64)

Common stock equivalents excluded due to anti-dilutive effect   3,052,526   4,051,601 
 

As the Company had a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, the following 3,052,526 potentially dilutive securities were excluded from
diluted loss per share: 692,311 for outstanding warrants, 1,012,336 related to outstanding options and 1,347,879 related to outstanding RSUs.
 

As the Company had a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020, the following 4,051,601 potentially dilutive securities were excluded from
diluted loss per share: 925,845 for outstanding warrants, 887,461 related to the Series A Preferred Stock, 515,057 related to the Series B Preferred Stock,
1,243,254 related to outstanding options and 479,984 related to outstanding RSUs.
 
 
NOTE 17 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
At-the-Market Issuance Sales Agreement
 

On February 24, 2022, the Company entered into an At-the-Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “2022 Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities,
Inc. (the “Agent”) to create an at the market equity program under which the Company from time to time may offer and sell shares of its common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $50,000,000 (the “Shares”) through or to the Agent. As of March 31, 2022 the
Company issued 728,452 shares of its common stock in exchange for net cash of $3,303,000 under the 2022 Sales Agreement. 

 
Roker SAFE
 

In March 2022, the Company invested an additional $150,000 in the Roker SAFE. 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 

None.
 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of
the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.
 

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Securities Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information we are required to disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 

Based on management’s review, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at December 31, 2021. 
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and that
our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
 

Under the supervision and with the participation with our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we assessed
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report based on the framework in “Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based upon this assessment,
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.
 

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. 
 
Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm because non-accelerated filers are not
required to provide such a report.
 
Changes to Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal year that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.
 

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.
 

Not applicable.
PART III

 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 

The following table sets forth our directors and executive officers.
 
Name  Age  Position
Executive Officer     
Robert A. Berman  62  Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of the Board
David Desharnais  50  President (January 2022)
Eyal Hen  49  Chief Financial Officer
Rodney Hillman  56  Chief Operations Officer
     
Directors:     
Paul A. de Bary  75  Lead Director
Glenn Goord  70  Director
David Hanlon  77  Director
Christine J. Harada  49  Director (Left July 2021)
Richard Nathan, Ph. D.  77  Director
Steven D. Croxton  54  Director
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Directors
 

Robert Berman has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors since March 2016. In July 2020 Mr. Berman was
appointed to be the Company’s Executive Chairman upon the recommendation of the Company’s Governance Committee. Since January 2000, Mr. Berman
has served as the General Partner of Avon Road Partners, L.P., a limited partnership investing in real estate and the broadcast media industry. From 2006
through March 2015, Mr. Berman held the office of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer at Cinium Financial Services Corporation, a privately-held
specialty finance company, and its predecessor, Upper Hudson Holdings, LLC. Prior to Cinium, Mr. Berman was Chief Executive Officer of Empire
Resorts, Inc., a NASDAQ-listed gaming company, from 2002-2005. We believe Mr. Berman is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors due to his
extensive executive leadership and management experience, his experience in private equity and with public companies, and his understanding of financial
markets and mergers and acquisitions.
 

Richard Nathan, Ph.D., has served on our Board of Directors since March 2016. From April 2016 until his retirement in February 2018, Dr. Nathan
served as our Chief Operating Officer. Prior to that, Dr. Nathan was the Chief Executive Officer of AOC Key Solutions. Dr. Nathan has over 45 years of
corporate management, program management and business and proposal development experience and experience managing service and technical contracts
for federal departments and agencies and state governments. Dr. Nathan holds a BS in Chemistry from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and a
PhD in Chemistry from the Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn. We believe Dr. Nathan is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his technical
background and executive leadership experience.
 

Glenn Goord has served on our Board of Directors since March 2016. From 1996 until his retirement in 2006, Mr. Goord served as Commissioner of
the New York State Department of Correctional Services (“NYSDCS”), where he oversaw the state prison system. Mr. Goord received the Carl Robison
Award, the highest honor bestowed by the Middle Atlantic States Correctional Association, in 1997. In 1998 he received the Charles Evans Hughes Award
for public service from the Albany based Capital Area Chapter for the American Society for Public Administration (ASPA). In 2002, ASPA awarded Mr.
Goord its highest honor, the Governor Alfred E. Smith Award, for his direction of the NYSDCA’s efforts to aid New York City following the September 11,
2001, terrorist attack. Mr. Goord holds a BA in Psychology from Fairleigh Dickinson University. We believe Mr. Goord is qualified to serve on our board
of directors due to his experience with government operations and procurement.
 

Paul A. de Bary has served on our Board of Directors since January 2017 and as Lead Director since November 2017. Mr. de Bary has previously
served as a partner in a Wall Street law firm and a managing director for several broker dealers, where he provided investment banking and financial
advisory services to governmental units and private businesses. He has served as a director, general counsel or CFO for several public companies and
currently serves as chair of the Board of Ethics of the Town of Greenwich, Connecticut. Mr. de Bary is a member of the American Bar Association, the
New York State Bar Association and the Association of the Bar of the City of New York. Mr. de Bary holds a JD, an MBA and an A.B. from Columbia
University. We believe Mr. de Bary is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his legal and investment experience and his experience as a
member of several boards of directors, including those of public companies.
 

David Hanlon has served on our Board of Directors since November 2018. Mr. Hanlon is a founding principal of Executive Hospitality Partners, a
strategic and asset management firm. Since 2008, he has served as Chief Executive Officer of Hanlon Investments which provides project development
consulting services to casinos, hotels and resorts. Mr. Hanlon has served as a member of Cornell University’s Industry Advisory Board, as well as on the
Board of Directors of the Cornell Football Association and was elected to be a lifetime member of the Cornell University Administrative Advisory Board.
He was also an advisor to the Wharton Entrepreneurial Program. Mr. Hanlon holds a B.S. in Hotel Administration from Cornell, an MBA in Finance and an
M.S. in Accounting from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania and graduated from the Advanced Management Program at the Harvard
Business School. We believe Mr. Hanlon is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his leadership and executive management experience and
experience serving on public company boards of directors.
 

Steven D. Croxton is the Managing Director of Rice, Voelker, LLC and has more than 30 years of experience in investment and commercial banking.
During his career, Mr. Croxton has been involved in financing and advisory transactions totaling more than $35 billion for a variety of public and private
corporations. He has previously served on the Board of Directors of Peninsula Gaming, LLC, and has held leadership roles with responsibilities related to
investment, corporate, and international banking. Mr. Croxton earned a B.S. in Finance from Louisiana State University, and a Master of International
Management from the American Graduate School of International Management (now Thunderbird School of Global Management), and holds FINRA
Series 7, 24, 63, and 79 licenses. We believe Mr. Croxton is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his in-depth knowledge of the capital
markets, as well as an extensive background in financing and advisory of public corporations.
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Christine J. Harada served on our Board of Directors from August 2017 to July 2021. Ms. Harada has over 20 years of experience leading government
and management consulting organizations. From November 2015 to January 2017, she served as the Federal Chief Sustainability Officer. Prior to that role,
Ms. Harada was the Acting Chief of Staff of the U.S. General Services Administration (“GSA”) from March 2015 through November 2015.
 
Executive Officers
 

Robert A. Berman, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Chairman of the Board - The biography for Robert A. Berman is set forth above in the section
entitled “Directors.”

 
David Desharnais, President -  On January 3, 2022, we publicly announced the appointment of David Desharnais, as our President.  Mr. Desharnais

has over two decades of experience leading growth strategies for technology driven businesses from start-ups to multinational corporations and across
multiple industries. Mr. Desharnais most recently served as Executive Vice President, Chief Digital Product Officer and as a member of the board of
directors for IDEMIA, where he was responsible for global strategy and teams across product management, engineering and application development,
customer delivery and integration, cybersecurity, data and analytics, strategic alliances and digital labs. Prior to IDEMIA, Mr. Desharnais was an executive
at Amazon, where he served as the General Manager of Worldwide Industries for Amazon Web Services (AWS). Prior to Amazon, Mr. Desharnais was an
executive at American Express, where he served as Senior Vice President and General Manager for Digital and Commercial Platforms and Global
Commercial Payments. Mr. Desharnais graduated summa cum laude with a Bachelor of Science in electrical engineering technology from University of
Calgary, and received a Master of Business Administration in strategy, finance, and marketing from the University of Washington, Michael G. Foster
School of Business.
 

Eyal Hen, Chief Financial Officer - Mr. Hen has more than 17 years of experience as a global finance and business management executive in corporate
environments, most recently with VAYA Pharma Inc. and Ormat Technologies, Inc. (NYSE: ORA). His expertise working as a finance executive in the
public markets, where he oversaw financial reporting, compliance initiatives, investor communications, and financing, will be instrumental as the Company
continues its growth. Mr. Hen holds a BA in Economics and Accounting from Ben Gurion University (Israel) and an MBA from the University of Phoenix.
 

Rodney Hillman, Chief Operating Officer - Mr. Hillman joined the Company in May 2012 and served as its Strategy & Finance Analyst since October
2012 and as its Director of Operations from May 2012 to September 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hillman served in various executive level
capacities during his career. He spent 10 years as Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Director of Game Trading Technologies, Inc.
(“GMTD”), a publicly-traded company in the consumer electronics industry that he co-founded. Prior to his tenure at GMTD, Mr. Hillman was Vice
President of Product Development at InterAct Accessories, Inc. and held various management positions at both Baltimore Gas & Electric and Constellation
Energy Group. Mr. Hillman has an M.S. degree in Finance from Loyola College in Baltimore, Maryland, an M.B.A. degree from the University of
Baltimore, and a B.S. degree in Electrical and Computer Engineering from The Johns Hopkins University.
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Independence of Directors
 

Our Board is currently comprised of six members, five of whom are independent directors. As of December 31, 2021, Robert A. Berman is not an
independent director. 
 

The Board, upon recommendation of the Governance Committee, unanimously determined that each of our five non-employee directors is
“independent,” as such term is defined in the Nasdaq Stock Market Rules (“Stock Market Rules”).
 

The definition of “independent director” included in the Stock Market Rules includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not an
employee of the Company, has not engaged in various types of specified business dealings with the Company, and does not have an affiliation with an
organization that has had specified business dealings with the Company. Consistent with the Company’s Corporate Governance Principles, the Board’s
determination of independence is made in accordance with the Stock Market Rules, as the Board has not adopted supplemental independence standards. As
required by the Stock Market Rules, the Board also has made a subjective determination with respect to each director that such director has no material
relationship with the Company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company), even if
the director otherwise satisfies the objective independence tests included in the definition of an “independent director” included in the Stock Market Rules.
 

In determining that each individual who served as a member of the Board is independent, the Board considered that, in the ordinary course of business,
transactions may occur between the Company and entities with which some of our directors are affiliated. The Board unanimously determined that the
relationships discussed in Item 13 below were not material. No unusual discounts or terms were extended. 
 

There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.
 
Committees of the Board
 

Our Board has four standing committees: Audit, Compensation, Nomination and Governance. Each of the committees is solely comprised of and
chaired by independent directors, each of whom the Board has affirmatively determined is independent pursuant to the Stock Market Rules. Each of the
committees operates pursuant to its charter. The committee charters are reviewed annually by the Governance Committee. If appropriate, and in
consultation with the chairs of the other committees, the Governance Committee proposes revisions to the charters. The responsibilities of each standing
committee are described in more detail below. From time to time, the Board of Directors may also appoint special committees for specific purposes. The
Board has also chartered an Executive Committee to serve in the event that our Chief Executive Officer is unable to discharge duties for a limited period of
time. The charters for the three standing committees are available on the Company's website at www.rekor.ai by following the link to “Investors” and then
to “Corporate Governance.”
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The Chair and members of each standing committee are summarized in the table below:
 

Name  Audit Committee  Compensation
Committee  Governance Committee  Nominations Committee

Paul A. de Bary - (Independent)  Chair  -  Member  -
Richard Nathan - (Independent)  -  Member  Chair  Member
Glenn Goord- (Independent)  -  Chair  Member  Member
David Hanlon - (Independent)  Member  -  -  Chair
Steven D. Croxton - (Independent)  Member  -  -  -
 
Audit Committee
 

We have an Audit Committee comprised of directors who are “independent” within the meaning of Nasdaq Rule 5605(b)(1). The Audit Committee
assists our Board in overseeing the financial reporting process and maintaining the integrity of our financial statements, and our financial reporting
processes and systems of internal audit controls, and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is responsible for
reviewing the qualifications, independence and performance of our independent registered public accounting firm and review our internal controls,
financial management practices and investment functions and compliance with financial legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for performing risk and risk management assessments as well as preparing any report of the Audit Committee that may be required by the
proxy rules of the SEC to be included in the Corporation’s annual proxy statement. Our Board has identified and appointed Paul de Bary as its “audit
committee financial expert,” as defined by the SEC in Item 407 of Regulation S-K. Mr. de Bary serves as the Chair of the Audit Committee and is joined
on the committee by Mr. Croxton, and Mr. Hanlon. 
 
Compensation Committee
 

We have a Compensation Committee comprised of members who are “Non-Employee Directors” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and “outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. They are
also “independent” directors within the meaning of NASDAQ Rule 5605(b)(1). The Compensation Committee is responsible for overseeing the
establishment and maintenance of our overall compensation and incentive programs to discharge the Board’s responsibilities relating to compensation of
our executive officers and directors, including establishing criteria for evaluating performance and setting appropriate levels of compensation, and
producing an annual report on executive compensation for inclusion in the Corporation’s proxy statement in accordance with the rules and regulations of
the SEC. The Compensation Committee advises and makes recommendations to our Board on all matters concerning director compensation. Mr. Goord
serves as Chair of the Compensation Committee and is joined by Mr. Nathan. 
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Governance Committee
 

Our Board has a Governance Committee that (1) reviews and recommends improvements to our governance guidelines and corporate policies; (2)
assists management in the preparation of any required proxy statement disclosure regarding director independence and the operations of the Governance
Committee; (3) reviews standards to be applied in making determinations as to the existence of material relationships between the Corporation and its
directors and reviews and either disapproves or grants approval or ratification of those transactions between the Corporation and the Corporation’s related
persons; (4) monitors compliance with our Code of Conduct and manages the whistleblower process; (5) reviews the performance of the Board of Directors
and its various committees and makes recommendations intended to improve that performance, (6) evaluates and makes recommendations concerning
changes in the charters of the various Committees of the Board of Directors; and (7) such other matters as may be required to ensure compliance with
applicable federal and state laws or the requirements of any exchange on which the Company maintains a listing for its securities. The committee is
required to be comprised of entirely “independent” directors within the meaning of NASDAQ Rule 5605(b)(1). Mr. Nathan currently serves as the Chair of
the Governance Committee and is joined on the committee by Mr. Goord and Mr. de Bary. 

 
Nominations Committee
 

The purpose of the Nominations Committee is to ensure proper performance of people and practices by (1) recommending new members of the Board;
(2) training new members of the Board; (3) reviewing the performance of the Board and its various committees and making recommendations intended to
improve that performance, (4) evaluating and making recommendations to the Governance Committee as to changes in the charters of the various
committees of the Board, (5) evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive Officer, (6) overseeing the development and implementation of succession
planning our senior management positions; and (7) identifying and recommending candidates for membership of the Board committees. Mr. Hanlon
currently serves as the Chair of the Nominations Committee and is joined on the committee by Mr. Goord and Mr. Nathan. 
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Compensation of Rekor Directors
 

The following table provides the total compensation for each person who served as a non-employee member of our Board of Directors during fiscal
year 2021, including all compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to each person who served as a non-employee director for some portion or all of fiscal
year 2021: 
 

  
Fees earned or

paid in cash   
Restricted stock

awards   Total  
Name  ($)   ($) (1)(2)(3)   ($)  
Paul de Bary  $ 108,250  $ 151,414  $ 259,664 
Glenn Goord   73,250   151,414   224,664 
Christine Harada (4)   38,750   151,414   190,164 
Richard Nathan, Ph. D.   68,500   151,414   219,914 
David Hanlon   70,250   151,414   221,664 
Steven D. Croxton   60,250   151,414   211,664 
 

(1) The amount shown reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of awards computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
Board Accounting Standards Codification 718.

(2) Amount represents the fair value of the issuances of 18,670 restricted stock units issued on January 6, 2021. Shares will vest 14 months after
the date of grant for all directors who have remained independent directors as of the end of the calendar year in which the grant was made. 

(3) Beginning in 2021, the number of RSU’s that will be granted to the independent directors as a group each January will be determined by
taking one third of one percent of the preceding November’s average daily market capitalization as reported by NASDAQ, divided by the
closing share price on the day preceding the grant. The number of shares granted to each independent director will be determined by dividing
the total number of units so determined by the number of independent directors as of the date of the grant.

(4) Ms. Harada left her position in our Board of Directors in July 2021.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021 our non-employee directors are compensated for their services as follows:
 
      Board Meeting Fee   Committee Meeting Fee  
  Annual Fee   In Person   Telephonic   In Person   Telephonic  
Position  ($) (1)   ($)   ($)   ($)   ($)  
Board Member   50,000   1,000   500   500   250 
Audit Committee Chair   30,000   1,500   500   500   250 
Compensation Committee Chair   10,000   1,500   500   500   250 
Governance Committee Chair   15,000   1,500   500   500   250 
Nominations Committee Chair   10,000   1,500   500   500   250 
Special Committee   -   500   250   500   250 
Lead Director   10,000   -   -   -   - 
(1) Payments are made on a quarterly basis.
 

Directors who are officers or employees of Rekor or its subsidiaries do not receive any compensation for service on our Board, but employee directors
will be reimbursed for expenses incurred in attending meetings of our Board or any committees thereof. 
 
Code of Ethics
 

We have adopted a Code of Conduct, which serves as our Code of Ethics, which applies to all of our employees, including our Chief Executive Officer
and our Chief Financial Officer. Our Code of Conduct is available on our website at www.rekor.ai. If we amend or grant a waiver of one or more of the
provisions of our Code of Conduct, we intend to satisfy the requirements under Item 5.05 of Item 8-K regarding the disclosure of amendments to or
waivers from provisions of our Code of Conduct that apply to our Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officer by posting the required information
on our website at the above address. Our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s directors, executive officers, and shareholders who own more than 10%
of the Company’s stock to file forms with the SEC to report their ownership of the Company’s stock and any changes in ownership. The Company assists
its directors and executives by identifying reportable transactions of which it is aware and preparing and filing the forms on their behalf. All persons
required to file forms with the SEC must also send copies of the forms to the Company. We have reviewed all forms provided to us. Based on that review
and written information given to us by our executive officers and directors, we believe that all Section 16(a) filings during the past fiscal year were filed on
a timely basis. 
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 

This section discusses material components of our 2021 compensation program for our named executive officers identified in the 2021 Summary
Compensation Table below.
 
2021 Summary Compensation Table
 

Name/Capacities in which compensation was
received  Year  Base Salary    Bonus   

Equity
incentive
awards    

All other
compensation

(3)   Total  
Robert Berman  2021  $ 645,000 (1) $ -  $ 1,000,004 (2) $ 24,877  $ 1,669,881 
Chief Executive Officer  2020   495,000    -   -    24,826   519,826 
Eyal Hen  2021   405,000 (4)  -   187,900 (5)  7,868   600,768 
Chief Financial Officer  2020   371,667 (4)  15,000   237,000 (6)  19,862   643,529 
Rodney Hillman  2021   342,500 (7)  -   -    12,358   354,858 
Chief Operating Officer  2020   303,333 (7)  -   118,500 (8)  12,871   434,704 
 
(1) In 2021, we increased Mr. Berman’s base salary from $495,000 to $695,000 per year effective April 1, 2021.
(2) Amount represents the fair value of the issuance of 53,220 restricted stock units to Mr. Berman on March 17, 2021.
(3) Amount represents 401(k) matching and health insurance contributions.
(4) In 2021, we increased Mr. Hen’s base salary from $375,000 to $405,000 per year effective January 3, 2021. Additionally, in 2021, we increased Mr.

Hen's base salary from $405,000 to $445,000 per year effective December 20, 2021. In 2020, we increased Mr. Hen’s base salary from $335,000 to
$375,000 per year effective February 3, 2020.

(5) Amount represents the fair value of the issuance of 10,000 restricted stock units to Mr. Hen on March 17, 2021.
(6) Amount represents the fair value of the issuance of 50,000 restricted stock units to Mr. Hen on February 21, 2020.
(7) In 2021, we increased Mr. Hillman’s base salary from $305,000 to $355,000 per year effective April 1, 2021. In 2020, we increased Mr. Hillman’s base

salary from $285,000 to $305,000 per year effective February 3, 2020. 
(8) Amount represents the fair value of the issuance of 50,000 restricted stock units to Mr. Hillman on February 21, 2020.
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Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table
 

The primary components of our compensation program for named executive officers include salary, cash incentive compensation and equity incentive
awards.
 
Base Salary
 

We pay our executive officers a base salary as the fixed component of our compensation program for named executive officers.
 
Equity Incentive Awards
 

In August 2017, the Company approved and adopted the 2017 Equity Award Plan (the “2017 Plan”). The purpose of the 2017 Plan is to promote the
interests of Rekor (including its subsidiaries and affiliates, if any) and its stockholders by using equity interests in Rekor to attract, retain and motivate its
management, nonemployee directors and other eligible persons and to encourage and reward their contributions to our performance and profitability. The
2017 Plan permits the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted and unrestricted stock awards, phantom stock, performance awards and
other stock-based awards for the purpose of attracting and retaining quality employees, directors and consultants. The 2017 Plan reserved 3,000,000 shares
of our common stock for future grants from time to time under awards administered by our Board of Directors. In 2021, the Company filed a registration
statement on Form S-8 solely to register an additional 4,368,733 shares of its common stock available for issuance under the 2017 Plan. This increase was
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on May 7, 2021, and by the Company’s stockholders on September 14, 2021 at the Company’s annual
meeting.
 

Rekor has also designed the 2017 Plan to include a number of provisions that Rekor’s management believes promote best practices by reinforcing the
alignment of equity compensation arrangements for non-employee directors, officers, employees, consultants and stockholders' interests. These provisions
include, but are not limited to, the following:
 

No Discounted Awards. Awards that have an exercise price cannot be granted with an exercise price less than the fair market value on the grant date.
 

No Repricing Without Stockholder Approval. Rekor cannot, without stockholder approval, reduce the exercise price of an award (except for
adjustments in connection with a Rekor recapitalization), and at any time when the exercise price of an award is above the market value of Rekor common
stock, Rekor cannot, without stockholder approval, cancel and re-grant or exchange such award for cash, other awards or a new award at a lower (or no)
exercise price.
 

No Evergreen Provision. There is no evergreen feature under which the shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2017 Plan can be
automatically replenished.
 

No Automatic Grants. The 2017 Plan does not provide for “reload” or other automatic grants to recipients.
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No Transferability. Awards generally may not be transferred, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a qualified domestic
relations order, unless approved by the Administrator.
 

No Tax Gross-Ups. The 2017 Plan does not provide for any tax gross-ups.
 

No Liberal Change-in-Control Definition. The change-in-control definition contained in the 2017 Plan is not a “liberal” definition that would be
activated on mere stockholder approval of a transaction.
 

“Double-trigger” Change in Control Vesting. If awards granted under the 2017 Plan are assumed by a successor in connection with a change in control
of Rekor, such awards will not automatically vest and payout solely as a result of the change in control, unless otherwise expressly set forth in an award
agreement.
 

No Dividends on Unearned Performance Awards. The 2017 Plan prohibits the current payment of dividends or dividend equivalent rights on unearned
performance-based awards.
 

Limitation on Amendments. No amendments to the 2017 Plan may be made without stockholder approval if any such amendment would materially
increase the number of shares reserved or the per-participant award limitations under the 2017 Plan, diminish the prohibitions on repricing stock options or
stock appreciation rights, or otherwise constitute a material change requiring stockholder approval under applicable laws, policies or regulations or the
applicable listing or other requirements of the principal exchange on which Rekor’s shares are traded.
 

Clawbacks. Awards based on the satisfaction of financial metrics that are subsequently reversed, due to a financial statement restatement or
reclassification, are subject to forfeiture.
 

When making an award under the 2017 Plan, the Administrator may designate the award as “qualified performance-based compensation,” which
means that performance criteria must be satisfied in order for an employee to be paid the award. Qualified performance-based compensation may be made
in the form of restricted common stock, restricted stock units, common stock options, performance shares, performance units or other stock equivalents.
The 2017 Plan includes the performance criteria the Administrator has adopted, subject to stockholder approval, for a “qualified performance-based
compensation” award.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
 

The following table sets forth information with respect to unexercised stock options, stock that has not vested, and equity incentive plan awards held
by our named executive officers at December 31, 2021.
 
    Option Awards (3)  Restricted Stock Awards(3)  

Name  Grant Date 

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Option -
Exercisable   

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options -
Unexercisable    

Option
Exercise Price 

Option Expiration
Date  

Number of
Shares that
Have Not

Vested    

Market Value
of Shares of
Stock that
Have not
Vested (2)  

Robert Berman  5/8/2019   33,334   16,666 (1)  1.00 5/8/2029   -    - 
Chief Executive
Officer  5/8/2019   33,334   16,666 (1)  1.50 5/8/2029   -    - 
Eyal Hen  3/17/2021                 6,667 (1)  43,669 
Chief Financial
Officer  2/21/2020                 16,667 (1)  109,169 
  5/15/2019   33,334   16,666 (1)  0.78 5/15/2029   -    - 
Rodney Hillman  11/9/2017                 8,334 (1)  54,588 
Chief Operating
Officer  11/9/2017   -   16,666 (1)  0.80 5/8/2029          
 
(1) The options and awards vest in equal annual installments over three years.
(2) Represents the market value of the restricted stock award or restricted stock unit based on the closing price of our common stock of $6.55 per share on

December 31, 2021.
(3) All of the options and restricted stock unit awards listed in the table were granted under our 2017 Equity Award Plan.
 
Employment Agreements and Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
 

We entered into written employment offer letters with each of our Named Executive Officers in connection with their initial employment with us.
 

Some of these employment offer letters were superseded and replaced in their entirety by amended and restated employment agreements which were
entered into and effective as of May 2019.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control 
 

In the event of a “Change of Control”, as defined in the Employment Agreement, whether during the initial term or thereafter, we shall have the right
to terminate the Named Executive Officers Employment Agreement. The Named Officer Executive is eligible to receive two times his base salary then in
effect if his employment with the Company is terminated within 120 days of a change in control.
 

The Named Executive Officers also agreed as consideration for entering into the Employment Agreements, that for the period during his employment
and for twelve months thereafter, (i) he will not compete with the Company in the “Geographic Area”, as defined in the Employment Agreement, and (ii)
he will not solicit any of our existing employees, suppliers or customers.
 
Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans
 

The following table provides information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2021.
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

  

Number of
securities to be

issued upon
exercise of

outstanding
options and

restricted stock
units   

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding
options and

restricted stock
units   

Number of
securities
remaining

available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected

in column (a))  
  (a)   (b)   (c)  
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   2,360,215  $ 1.28   4,247,289 
Total   2,360,215  $ 1.28   4,247,289 
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
 

The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 2022, information concerning the beneficial ownership of our common stock by, each person or group
of persons known to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, each person who is our executive officer or director,
and all such executive officers and directors as a group. Beneficial ownership and percentage ownership are determined in accordance with the rules of the
SEC. Under these rules, beneficial ownership generally includes any shares as to which the individual or entity has sole or shared voting power or
investment power and includes any shares that an individual or entity has the right to acquire beneficial ownership of within 60 days of March 31, 2022,
through the exercise of any option, warrant, conversion privilege or similar right. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and
the percentage ownership of that person, shares of our common stock that could be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options and warrants that are
exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022, are considered to be outstanding. These shares, however, are not considered outstanding when computing
the percentage ownership of any other person.
 
 

To our knowledge, except as indicated in the footnotes to the following table, all beneficial owners named in this table have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them. The percentage of ownership is based on 44,949,939 shares of common stock
outstanding as of March 31, 2022.
 
  Shares Beneficially Owned  

Name and address of beneficial owner (1)  
Number of Shares

beneficially owned (2)    Percent of class  
Directors and Named Executive Officers          
Robert A. Berman   3,265,323 (3)   7.3%
Richard Nathan   1,634,439 (4)   3.6%
Paul de Bary   147,169 (5)   * 
Glenn Goord   185,669 (6)   * 
David Hanlon   89,669 (7)   * 
Steven Croxton   67,169 (8)   * 
Eyal Hen   89,926 (9)   * 
Rodney Hillman   85,443 (10)  * 
All directors and named executive officers as a group (11 persons)   5,564,807    12.4%
5% or Greater Shareholders          
Avon Road Partners, L.P.   2,165,104 (3)   4.8%
Goldman Sachs Group Inc   2,276,054 (11)  5.1%
Arctis Global, LLC   2,322,782 (12)  5.2%
BlackRock, Inc.   2,264,368 (13)  5.0%
 
* Less than 1%
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(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of those listed is c/o Rekor Systems, Inc., 6721 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite 400, Columbia, MD 21046.

Unless otherwise indicated, all shares are owned directly by the beneficial owner
(2) Based on 44,949,939 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the March 31, 2022.
(3) As the general partner and Manager of Avon Road Partners, L.P. and Rekor Holdings LLC, respectively, Mr. Berman may be deemed to be the

beneficial owner of 3,265,323 shares of Rekor Systems, Inc. common stock, or 7.8% of the class of securities. He may be deemed to share with Avon
Road (and not with any third-party) the power to vote or direct the vote of and to dispose or direct the disposition of the 2,165,104 shares of Rekor
Systems, Inc. common stock beneficially owned by Avon Road, or 5.3% of the class of securities. It also consists of 973,609 shares of our common
stock, 26,610 restricted stock units and options to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock exercisable with 60 days of March 31, 2022. Based
on the Schedule 13D/A Amendment No. 7 filed with the SEC by Avon Road and Mr. Berman on November 19, 2021.

(4) Consists of 1,629,590 shares of our common stock and an Unit Warrant to purchase 4,849 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of
March 31, 2022.

(5) Consists of options to purchase 108,499 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022, and 38,670 shares of our common
stock.

(6) Consists of options to purchase 70,999 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022, and 114,670 shares of our common
stock.

(7) Consists of options to purchase 70,999 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022, and 18,670 shares of our common
stock.

(8) Consists of options to purchase 48,499 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022, and 18,670 shares of our common
stock.

(9) Mr. Hen has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer since May 15, 2019 and consists of options to
purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022, and 39,926 shares of our common stock.

(10) Consists of options to purchase 16,666 shares of our common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2022 and 68,777 shares of our common
stock.

(11) Based on the Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 24, 2022, reporting indirect ownership of 2,276,054 shares
of Rekor Systems, Inc. common stock, representing a beneficial ownership of 5.2% based on 43,977,218 shares issued and outstanding. The address of
the reporting person is 200 West Street, New York, New York 10282.

(12) Based on the Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 11, 2021, reporting beneficial ownership of 5.7% based on
40,994,510 shares issued and outstanding. The address of the reporting person is 70 East 77th Street, 8A, New York, New York 10075.

(13) Based on the Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2022, reporting beneficial ownership of 2,264,368
shares of Rekor Systems, Inc. common stock, reporting beneficial ownership of 5.1% based on 43,977,218 shares issued and outstanding. The address
of the reporting person is 55 East 52nd Street New York, NY 10055.

 
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
 

The Governance Committee has responsibility for reviewing and, if appropriate, for approving any related party transactions that would be required to
be disclosed pursuant to applicable SEC rules.
 

Described below are any transactions since January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2021 and any currently proposed or subsequent transactions to
which the Company was a party in which:

 
 ● The amounts involved exceeded or will exceed the lower of either $120,000 or 1% of the average of the Company’s

total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years; and
 ● A director, executive officer, holder of more than 5% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company, or any member of

such person’s immediate family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.
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Review and Approval, or Ratification of Transactions with Related Parties
 

Prior to adoption of the Company’s Code of Conduct in August 2017, we had no formal, written policy or procedure for the review and approval of
related-party transactions. The Code of Conduct requires all Company personnel to seek review of and obtain approval or ratification of any Company
transaction which involves them or certain family members or businesses they have economic interests in. The Charter of our Governance Committee also
requires that any transaction with a related person that must be reported under applicable rules of the SEC must be reviewed and either approved,
disapproved or ratified by our Governance Committee.
 

In February 2020, to further implement these requirements, the Board of Directors adopted a Conflict of Interest and Related Parties Transaction
Policy upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee. In the case of all directors and senior officers, this policy requires review and approval of
such transactions to be obtained from the Governance Committee.
 

Each of the transactions described below was approved by the Board of Directors after review and recommendation by the Governance Committee,
which consists entirely of officers and directors without any personal, business or family interest in the transactions described:
 
AOC Key Solutions Transaction
 

On March 16, 2020, the Corporation announced that it had received an offer to purchase its AOC Key Solutions subsidiary, for an aggregate price of
$4 million, from PurpleReign, LLC (“PurpleReign”), an entity formed by Mr. Greg McCarthy, the then Chief Executive Officer of AOC Key Solutions. As
founders of AOC Key Solutions and persons related to a principal in PurpleReign and a key executive of AOC Key Solutions, Mr. James McCarthy, the
then-Chair of our Board of Directors, and Dr. Richard Nathan, as a member of our Board of Directors, recused themselves from participation in any
discussions with management or the Board concerning the potential sale. In connection with its review of the transaction, the Governance Committee
retained the investment banking services of B. Riley FBR, Inc. (“BRFBR”) to review the terms of the proposed transaction and advise the Company
whether the consideration to be received was fair to the Company’s public stockholders. On April 2, 2020, the Company divested its AOC Key Solutions
subsidiary.
 
Investment in 2019 Promissory Notes and Exchange for Equity
 

On March 12, 2019, we financed the acquisition of certain assets through an agreement pursuant to which investors loaned us $20,000,000 in exchange
for promissory notes (the “2019 Notes”) and we issued warrants to purchase 2,500,000 shares of our common stock to the investors. The investors included
Avon Road, an affiliate of Robert Berman, Rekor’s Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors and Matt Hill, a principal in the
company selling the assets, who is now the Company’s Chief Science Officer. On July 15, 2020, the “Company completed an exchange provided for in
connection with the 2019 Notes. Approximately $15.1 million aggregate principal amount of the 2019 Notes were exchanged for 4,349,497 shares of the
Company’s common stock pursuant to the previously disclosed Exchange Agreements dated June 30, 2020. As part of the exchange, Matt Hill, Chief
Science Officer exchanged $1,726,676 into 431,669 common shares. After this transaction Matt Hill owns 961,669 common shares.
 
McCarthy – Berman Stock Purchase Agreement
 

On August 5, 2020, our former Chairman, Mr. James McCarthy entered into a privately negotiated Stock Purchase Agreement with Mr. Robert A.
Berman, our current CEO, President, and Executive Chairman, to sell Mr. Berman 2,725,836 shares of the Company’s common stock, at a price per share
of approximately $2.57. The transfer of the shares is conditioned upon Mr. Berman's full payment of the purchase price of $7,000,000 within forty-five
days, after which Mr. McCarthy will cease to be a beneficial owner of the Company’s common stock.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 

The Audit Committee reviews and pre-approves both audit and all permissible non-audit services provided by our independent registered public
accounting firm.
 

Friedman LLP (“Friedman”) has served as our principal auditor since June 2019.
 

The Audit Committee has considered whether the provision of services, other than services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual
financial statements, is compatible with maintaining Friedman’s independence. 
 

Aggregate fees billed or incurred related to the following years for professional services rendered by Friedman for 2021 and 2020 are set forth below.
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Audit fees  $ 289  $ 204 
All other fees   -   16 
Total  $ 289  $ 220 
 

Audit Fees for 2021 and 2020 include fees associated with the audits of the annual financial statements and the quarterly reviews of the unaudited
interim financial statements included in the Company’s Annual and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-K and 10-Q, respectively. Audit-related fees for 2021
primarily include costs associated with SEC filings and the supplemental audit and disclosure documents. 
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PART IV
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES
 

(a)   (1) List Financial Statements
 

See Index to Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report.
 

(2) List of Financial Statements Schedules
 

All applicable schedule information is included in our Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report. 
 

(b) Exhibits Index. We hereby file, as exhibits to this Annual Report, those exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature
page hereto.
 
    Incorporated by Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  FilingDate  

Filed/
FurnishedHerewith

             
2.1

 

Second Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan
of Merger dated July 12, 2017, by and among
Novume Solutions, Inc., KeyStone Solutions, Inc.,
Brekford Traffic Safety, Inc., KeyStone Merger Sub,
LLC, and Brekford Merger Sub, Inc.  

S-4/A  333-216014  2.1  7/13/17

 

 

3.1

 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of Novume Solutions, Inc. as filed with the
Secretary of State of Delaware on August 21, 2017  

8-K  333-216014  3.1  8/25/17

 

 

3.2

 

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of
Incorporation of Novume Solutions, Inc. as filed
with the Secretary of State of Delaware on April 30,
2019  

8-K   001-38338  3.1  4/30/19
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000119312517227097/d338934dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495417007916/novume_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495419004993/exhibit3_1rekorcertificate.htm


 
 

3.3

 

Second Certificate of Amendment to the Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Rekor
Systems, Inc., dated March 18, 2020  

8-K   001-38338  3.1  3/18/20

 

 

3.5
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Rekor Systems,
Inc.  

8-K  001-38338  3.2  12/15/21
 

 

4.1
 

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by
Novume Solutions, Inc. on January 25, 2017  

S-4/A
 

333-216014
 

4.3
 

6/9/17
 

 

4.2
 

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by
Novume Solutions, Inc. on January 25, 2017  

S-4/A
 

333-216014
 

4.4
 

6/9/17
 

 

4.3

 

Unsecured Subordinated Promissory Note issued to
Harry Rhulen by Novume Solutions, Inc. on
September 29, 2017  

8-K

 

000-55833

 

10.2

 

10/3/17

 

 

4.4

 

Unsecured Subordinated Promissory Note issued to
Suzanne Loughlin by Novume Solutions, Inc. on
September 29, 2017  

8-K

 

000-55833

 

10.3

 

10/3/17

 

 

4.5

 

Unsecured Subordinated Promissory Note issued to
James Satterfield by Novume Solutions, Inc. on
September 29, 2017  

8-K

 

000-55833

 

10.4

 

10/3/17

 

 

4.6

 

Unsecured Subordinated Promissory Note issued to
Lancer Financial Group, Inc. by Novume Solutions,
Inc. on September 29, 2017  

8-K

 

000-55833

 

10.5

 

10/3/17

 

 

10.1#

 

2017 Equity Award Plan of Novume Solutions,
Inc. (as amended and restated as of September 14,
2021)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*

10.2

 

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as of
October 1, 2017, by and between KeyStone
Solutions LLC and Novume Solutions, Inc.  

8-K

 

000-55833

 

10.1

 

10/3/17

 

 

10.3#
 

Form of Rekor Systems, Inc. Incentive Stock Option
Award Agreement  

10-K
 

001-38338
 

10.18
 

4/11/19
 

 

10.4#
 

Form of Rekor Systems, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock
Option Award Agreement  

10-K
 

001-38338
 

10.19
 

4/11/19
 

 

10.5#
 

Employment Agreement with Eyal Hen effective
May 15, 2019  

8-K
 

001-38338
 

10.1
 

5/21/19
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495420002829/rekr_ex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495421013186/rekr_ex32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000119312517199975/d338934dex43.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000119312517199975/d338934dex44.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495417009094/ex102-novumenoteharryrhul.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495417009094/ex103-novumenotesuzylough.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495417009094/ex104-novumenotejamessatt.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495417009094/ex105-novumenotelancerfin.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495417009094/ex101firestormnote-assign.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495419004295/a201810kex10_18formofisoa.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495419004295/a201810kex10_19formofnonq.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495419004295/a201810kex10_18formofisoa.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495419004295/a201810kex10_19formofnonq.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495419006410/rekr_ex101.htm


 
 

10.6#
 

Employment Agreement with Robert Berman
effective May 15, 2019  

8-K
 

001-38338
 

10.2
 

5/21/19
 

 

10.7#
 

Employment Agreement with David Deshanais
dated as of December 10, 2021  

8-K
 

001-38338
 

10.1
 

1/3/22
 

 

10.8
 

Form of Rekor Systems, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

*

10.9

 

First Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement,
dated March 26, 2020, by and among the Company,
the Purchasers from time to time party thereto and
the Agent.  

8-K  

 

001-38338

 

10.1

 

3/26/20 

 

 

10.10

 

Limited Waiver, dated as of March 26, 2020, by and
among the Company and the undersigned
Purchasers.  

8-K  

 

001-38338

 

10.2

 

3/26/20 

 

 

10.11

 

Share Purchase Agreement, dated August 6, 2021,
by and among Rekor Systems Inc., Waycare
Technologies Ltd., the sellers named therein, and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC, solely in
its capacity as representative of the sellers.  

8-K

 

001-38338

 

10.1

 

8/9/21

 

 

21.1  Subsidiaries of Rekor Systems, Inc.          *
23.1

 
Consent of Friedman LLP., Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

*

31.1
 

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief
Executive Officer  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

*

31.2
 

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief
Financial Officer  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

*

32.1
 

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive
Officer  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

**

32.2  Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer         **
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document      *
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document      *
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document      *
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document      *
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document      *
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document      *

104
 

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and included in Exhibit
101)  

 
 

 
 

 

 
* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
^ Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to redacted portions of this exhibit. Redacted portions of this exhibit have been filed separately

with the SEC.
 
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
 
None.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495422000138/rekr_ex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495420003333/rekr_ex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495420003333/rekr_ex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1697851/000165495421008629/rekr_ex101.htm


 
 
 

SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
  Rekor Systems, Inc.
   
  /s/ Robert A. Berman
 Name: Robert A. Berman
 Title: Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer
 Date: March 31, 2022
 
  /s/ Eyal Hen
 Name: Eyal Hen
 Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 Date: March 31, 2022
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.
 
Signature  Title  Date
     

/s/ Robert A. Berman
Robert A. Berman  Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer), Chairman of the Board and Director  March 31, 2022

     
/s/ Eyal Hen
Eyal Hen  Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  March 31, 2022

     
/s/ Richard Nathan

Dr. Richard Nathan  Director  March 31, 2022

     
/s/ Glenn Goord
Glenn Goord  Director  March 31, 2022

     
/s/ Paul de Bary
Paul de Bary  Director  March 31, 2022

     
/s/ David Hanlon
David Hanlon  Director  March 31, 2022

     
/s/ Steven D. Croxton
Steven D. Croxton  Director  March 31, 2022
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Exhibit 10.1
 
 

 
REKOR SYSTEMS, INC.

2017 EQUITY AWARD PLAN
 

(as amended and restated as of September 14, 2021)
 
 

Section 1
Purpose; Definitions

 
The 2017 Equity Award Plan of Rekor Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is intended to promote the best interests of the

Company and its stockholders by (i) assisting the Company and its Affiliates in the recruitment and/or retention of persons with ability and initiative, (ii)
providing an incentive to such persons to contribute to the growth and success of the Company’s businesses by affording such persons equity participation
in the Company, and (iii) associating the interests of such persons with those of the Company and its Affiliates and stockholders. The following capitalized
terms shall have the following respective meanings when used in the Plan:
 

(a) “Administrator” means the Board, or its Committee appointed in accordance with Section 3 of the Plan, as shall be administering the Plan.
 

(b) “Affiliate” means (i) any Subsidiary of the Company, (ii) any Parent of the Company, (iii) any corporation, or trade or business (including,
without limitation, a partnership, limited liability company or other entity) which is directly or indirectly controlled fifty percent (50%) or more (whether
by ownership of stock, assets or an equivalent ownership interest or voting interest) by the Company or one of its Affiliates, (iv) any other entity in which
the Company or any of its Affiliates has a material equity interest and which is designated as an “Affiliate” by resolution of the Committee; and (v) any
executive officer, director or ten percent (10%) shareholder of the Company.
 

(c) “Applicable Laws” means the legal requirements relating to the administration of plans providing one or more of the types of Awards described
in the Plan and the issuance of Shares thereunder pursuant to U.S. state corporate laws, U.S. federal and state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange
rules or regulations and the applicable laws, rules and regulations of any foreign country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the
Plan.
 

(d) “Award” means a grant of an Option, Restricted Stock, including a Restricted Stock Purchase Right, Restricted Stock Unit, Stock Appreciation
Right, Performance Award, Performance Share, Performance Unit or other stock-based Award under the Plan, all on a standalone, combination or tandem
basis, as described in or granted under the Plan.
 

(e) “Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a Recipient evidencing the terms and conditions of an individual
Award. The Award Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
 

(f) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
 

(g) “Cause” shall mean, unless otherwise set forth in an Award Agreement or determined in writing by the Administrator, termination of a
Recipient’s Continuous Service Status by the Company for any of the following reasons: (i) the conviction of the Recipient for committing, or entering a
plea of nolo contendere by the Recipient with respect to, a felony under federal or state law or a crime involving moral turpitude; (ii) the commission of an
act of personal dishonesty, embezzlement, or fraud involving personal profit that has caused or is reasonably expected to result in material injury to the
Company; (iii) the willful misconduct, gross negligence or deliberate failure on the part of the Recipient to perform his or her employment duties with the
Company in any material respect; (iv) the unauthorized use or disclosure by Recipient of any proprietary information or trade secrets of the Company or
any other party to whom the Recipient owes an obligation of nondisclosure as a result of his or her relationship with the Company; or (v) the failure to
comply with Company policies or agreements with the Company, in any material respect.
 

(h) “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events, each of which shall be determined independently of the others:
(i) any “Person” (as hereinafter defined) becomes a “beneficial owner” (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of a
majority of the stock of the Company entitled to vote in the election of directors of the Company; (ii) individuals who are Continuing Directors of the
Company (as hereinafter defined) cease to constitute a majority of the members of the Board; (iii) stockholders of the Company adopt and consummate
(x) a plan of liquidation for all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or (y) an agreement providing for the distribution of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Company; (iv) consummation of a merger, consolidation, other form of business combination or a sale of all or substantially all of its
assets, with an unaffiliated third party, unless the business of the Company following consummation of such merger, consolidation or other business
combination is continued following any such transaction by a resulting entity (which may be, but need not be, the Company) and the stockholders of the
Company immediately prior to such transaction hold, directly or indirectly, at least a majority of the voting power of the resulting entity; provided,
however, that a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) shall not constitute a Change in
Control; (v) there is a Change in Control of the Company of a nature that is reported in response to Item 5.01 of Current Report on Form 8-K or any similar
item, schedule or form under the Exchange Act, as in effect at the time of the change, whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting
requirements; or (vi) the Company consummates a transaction which constitutes a “Rule 13e-3 transaction” (as such term is defined in Rule 13e-3 of the
Exchange Act).
 

(i) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or replaced from time to time.
 

(j) “Committee” means one or more committee or subcommittees of the Board appointed by the Board to administer the Plan, in accordance with
Section 3 below.
 

(k) “Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.0001, of the Company.
 

(l) “Company” has the meaning set forth above in this Section 1 of the Plan.
 

(m) “Consultant” means any person, including an advisor (but excluding an Employee), who is engaged by the Company or any Affiliate to render
services and is compensated for such services, and any director of the Company whether compensated for such services or not.



 
(n) “Continuing Directors” shall mean the members of the Board on the Effective Date, provided that any person becoming a member of the Board

subsequent to such date whose election or nomination for election was supported by at least a majority of the directors who then comprised the Continuing
Directors shall be considered to be a Continuing Director; provided, however, that no individual initially elected or nominated as a Director as a result of an
actual or threatened election contest with respect to Directors or as a result of any other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies by or on behalf of any
person other than the Board shall be deemed to be a Continuing Director.
 

(o) “Continuous Service Status” means the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an Employee or Consultant. Continuous Service
Status as an Employee or Consultant shall not be considered interrupted in the case of: (i) sick leave; (ii) military leave; (iii) any other leave of absence
approved by the Administrator, provided that, for purposes of Incentive Stock Options, such leave is for a period of not more than ninety (90) days, unless
reemployment upon the expiration of such leave is guaranteed by contract or statute, or unless provided otherwise pursuant to Company policy adopted
from time to time; or (iv) in the case of transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company, any of its Affiliates or any of their respective
successors. A change in status from an Employee to a Consultant or from a Consultant to an Employee will not constitute an interruption of Continuous
Service Status so long as under the new title the person is still required to perform “substantial future services” (within the meaning of Treas. Reg. §
1.409A-1(d)) to the Company, its Affiliates or their respective successors.
 

(p) “Director” means a director serving on the Board who is not also an Employee; and who has been duly elected to the Board by the stockholders
of the Company or by the Board under applicable corporate law. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company shall,
without more, constitute “employment” by the Company.
 

(q) “Disability” means permanent and total disability as determined under procedures established by the Administrator for the purposes of the Plan;
provided, however, that (i) with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, such Disability must also fall within the meaning of “permanent and total disability”
as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, and (ii) with respect to all Awards, to the extent required by Section 409A of the Code, such Disability must also
fall within the meaning of “disabled” as defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(C) of the Code.
 

(r) “Effective Date” means the date described in Section 15(a) of the Plan.
 

(s) “Employee” means any common-law employee of the Company or any Affiliate, including Officers employed by the Company or any Affiliate;
provided, however, that a person serving solely as an interim officer of the Company or any Affiliate shall not be deemed an Employee for the purposes of
the Plan. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company shall, without more, constitute “employment” by the Company.
 

(t) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto, or the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.
 

(u) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as follows:
 

(i) If the Common Stock is listed on a U.S. national securities exchange, its Fair Market Value shall be either the mean of the highest and
lowest reported sale prices of the stock (or, if no sales were reported, the average of the closing bid and asked price) or the last reported sale price of the
stock, as determined by the Administrator in its discretion, on a U.S. national securities exchange for any given day or, if not listed on such exchange, on
any other national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is listed as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the
Administrator deems reliable;
 

(ii) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, the Fair Market Value of a
Share of Common Stock shall be either the mean between the high bid and low asked prices or the last asked price, as determined by the Administrator for
the Common Stock on any given day, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;
 

(iii) In the absence of an established regular public market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value shall be determined in good faith by
the Administrator pursuant to the reasonable application of a reasonable valuation method in accordance with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code
and the regulations thereunder and, with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, in accordance with such regulations as may be issued under the Code;
provided that with respect to an individual described in Section 5(c)(i)(A)(1) hereof, this Section 1(s)(iii) shall not be available if the resulting price fails to
represent the Fair Market Value of the stock on the date of grant as determined in accordance with Sections 1(s)(i) or (ii) above.
 

(v) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code and
the regulations promulgated thereunder.
 

(w) “Listed Security” means any security of the Company that is listed or approved for listing on a national securities exchange or designated or
approved for designation as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA).
 

(x) “Non-Qualified Stock Option” means any Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.
 

(y) “Officer” unless otherwise noted herein, means a person who is an officer of the Company or Affiliate.
 

(z) “Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.
 

(aa) “Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code, or any successor provision.
 

(bb) “Performance Award” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Plan.
 

(cc) “Performance Share” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Plan of a unit valued by reference to a designated number of
Shares, which value may be paid to the Recipient upon achievement of such performance goals as the Administrator may establish.
 

(dd) “Performance Unit” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 6(d) of the Plan of a unit valued by reference to a designated number of
Shares, which value may be paid to the Recipient upon achievement of such performance goals as the Administrator may establish.
 

(ee) “Plan” has the meaning set forth above in this Section 1 of the Plan.
 



(ff) “Recipient” means an Employee, former Employee, Consultant, former Consultant, Director or former Director who holds an outstanding
Award.
 

(gg) “Reprice” means the reduction of the exercise price of Options or Stock Appreciation Rights previously awarded, and, at any time when the
exercise price of Options or Stock Appreciation Rights is above the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock, the cancellation and re-grant or the
exchange of such outstanding Options or Stock Appreciation Rights for either cash or a new Award with a lower (or no) exercise price.

 
(hh) “Restricted Stock” means Shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to a grant of an Award or Restricted Stock Purchase Right under

Section 4 of the Plan.
 

(ii) “Restricted Stock Purchase Right” means the right to purchase Common Stock pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan.
 

(jj) “Restricted Stock Unit” means a notional account established pursuant to an Award granted pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan that is (i) valued
solely by reference to shares of Common Stock, (ii) subject to restrictions specified in the Award Agreement, and (iii) payable in Common Stock, cash or a
combination thereof. The Restricted Stock Unit awarded to the Recipient will vest according to time-based or performance-based criteria specified in the
Award Agreement.
 

(kk) “Retirement” means an Employee’s retirement from active employment with the Company or any Affiliate as determined under a pension plan
of the Company or any Affiliate applicable to the Employee; or the Employee’s termination of employment at or after age 55 under circumstances that the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, deems equivalent to retirement.
 

(ll) “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, as such rule may be amended from time to time, and any
successor rule, regulation, or statue fulfilling the same or a similar function.
 

(mm) “Section 162(m) Exception” means the exception on “applicable employee remuneration” under Section 162(m) of the Code for “qualified
performance-based compensation.”
 

(nn) “Service Provider” means an Employee, Director or Consultant.
 

(oo) “Stock Appreciation Right” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 6(a) of the Plan.
 

(pp) “Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 9 of the Plan.
 

(qq) “Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code.
 

(rr) “Substitute Awards” means Awards granted or Shares issued by the Company in assumption of, or in substitution or exchange for, awards
previously granted, or the right or obligation to make future awards, in each case by a company acquired by the Company or any Affiliate or with which the
Company or any Affiliate combines.
 

Section 2
Shares Subject to the Plan

 
(a) Shares Available for Issuance. Subject to the provisions of Section 9 of the Plan, the aggregate maximum number of Shares available for grants

of Awards under the Plan is 5,000,000 Shares. Awards may be issued entirely in the form of Incentive Stock Options or through any combination of any
one or more of the forms of Awards authorized under the terms of the Plan. The Shares subject to an Award under the Plan may be authorized but unissued,
or reacquired Common Stock or treasury shares.
 

(b) Shares Eligible for Reissuance. If any Shares subject to an Award are forfeited, an Award expires or otherwise terminates without issuance of
Shares, or an Award is settled for cash (in whole or in part) or otherwise does not result in the issuance of all or a portion of the Shares subject to such
Award (including on payment in Shares on exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right), such Shares shall, to the extent of such forfeiture, expiration,
termination, cash settlement or non-issuance, be added to the Shares available for grant under the Plan on a one-for-one basis. In the event that (i) any
Option or other Award granted hereunder is exercised through the tendering of Shares (either actually or by attestation) or by the withholding of Shares by
the Company, or (ii) withholding tax liabilities arising from such Option or other Award are satisfied by the tendering of Shares (either actually or by
attestation) or by the withholding of Shares by the Company, then in each such case the Shares so tendered or withheld shall be added to the Shares
available for grant under the Plan on a one-for-one basis.
 

(c) Dividends on Awards with Performance Goals. If an Award under the Plan is subject to vesting based on achievement of certain performance
goals, any dividend and dividend equivalents with respect to such Award shall be paid only upon and to the extent that the underlying Award vests.
 

(d) Substitute Awards. Substitute Awards shall not reduce the Shares authorized for grant under the Plan, nor shall Shares subject to a Substitute
Award be added to the Shares available for Awards under the Plan as provided in paragraph (a) above. Additionally, in the event that a company acquired
by the Company or any Affiliate, or with which the Company or any Affiliate combines, has shares available under a pre-existing plan approved by
stockholders and not adopted in contemplation of such acquisition or combination, the shares available for grant pursuant to the terms of such pre-existing
plan (as adjusted, to the extent appropriate, using the exchange ratio or other valuation ratio or formula used in such acquisition or combination to
determine the consideration payable to the holders of common stock of the entities party to such acquisition or combination) may be used for Awards under
the Plan and shall not reduce the Shares authorized for grant under the Plan (and Shares subject to such Awards shall not be added to the Shares available
for Awards under the Plan as provided in paragraphs (a) and (b) above); provided, that Awards using such available shares shall not be made after the date
awards or grants could have been made under the terms of the pre-existing plan, absent the acquisition or combination, and shall only be made to
individuals who were not Employees or Directors prior to such acquisition or combination.
 

Section 3
Administration of the Plan

 
(a) Administration; Committee Composition. The Plan shall be administered by the Board or a Committee, or a combination thereof, as determined

by the Board; provided, that, if applicable, with (i) respect to any Award that is intended to satisfy the requirements of Rule 16b-3, such Committee shall
consist of at least the number of Directors as is required by Rule 16b-3 and each such Director shall satisfy the required qualifications of such rule and



(ii) with respect to any Award that is intended to satisfy the requirements of the Section 162(m) Exception, such Committee shall consist of at least the
number of Directors satisfying the requirements of the Section 162(m) Exception. Committee members shall serve for such term(s) as the Board may
determine, subject to removal by the Board at any time. The Committee shall act by a majority of its members, or if there are only two members of such
Committee, by unanimous consent of both members. If at any time there is no Committee in office, the functions of the Committee specified in the Plan
shall be carried out by the Board.
 

(b) Powers of the Administrator. Except for the terms and conditions explicitly set forth in the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, the specific
duties delegated by the Board to such Committee, the Administrator shall have exclusive authority, in its discretion, to determine the Fair Market Value of
the Common Stock in accordance with Section 1(s) of the Plan and to determine all matters relating to Awards under the Plan, including the selection of
individuals to be granted an Award, the type of Award, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to an Award, all terms, conditions, restrictions and
limitations, if any, including, without limitation, vesting, acceleration of vesting, exercisability, termination, substitution, cancellation, forfeiture, or
repurchase of an Award and the terms of any instrument that evidences the Award. The Administrator shall also have exclusive authority to interpret the
Plan and its rules and regulations, and to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable under or for administering the Plan, subject to
Section 13 of the Plan. All actions taken and determinations made by the Administrator pursuant to the Plan shall be conclusive and binding on all parties
involved or affected. The Administrator may, by a majority of its members then in office, authorize any one or more of its members or any Officer of the
Company to execute and deliver documents on behalf of the Administrator, or delegate to an Officer of the Company the authority to make decisions
pursuant to Section 5(d) of the Plan, provided that the Administrator may not delegate its authority with regard to the selection for participation of or the
granting of Awards to persons subject to Section 13 of the Exchange Act.
 

(c) Compliance with Section 409A of the Code. Awards granted under the Plan shall be designed and administered in such a manner that they are
either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder. To the extent that the
Administrator determines that any Award granted under the Plan is subject to Section 409A of the Code, the Award Agreement shall incorporate the terms
and conditions necessary to avoid the imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code upon a Recipient. Notwithstanding any other
provision of the Plan or any Award Agreement (unless the Award Agreement provides otherwise with respect to this Section 3): (i) an Award shall not be
granted, deferred, accelerated, extended, paid out, settled, substituted or modified under the Plan in a manner that would result in the imposition of an
additional tax under Section 409A of the Code upon a Recipient; and (ii) if an Award constitutes “deferred compensation” within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code, and if the Recipient holding the Award is a “specified employee” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code, with such
classification to be determined in accordance with the methodology established by the Company), no distribution or payment of any amount on account of
a “separation from service” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code) shall be made before a date that is six (6) months following the date of such
separation from service, or, if earlier, the date of the Recipient’s death. Although the Company intends to administer the Plan so that Awards will be exempt
from, or will comply with, the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code, the Company does not warrant that any Award under the Plan will qualify for favorable tax treatment under
Section 409A of the Code or any other provision of federal, state, local or non-United States law. Neither the Company, nor its Affiliates, nor their
respective Directors, Officers, Employees or advisers shall be liable to any Recipient (or any other individual claiming a benefit through the Recipient) for
any tax, interest, or penalties the Recipient might owe as a result of the grant, holding, vesting, exercise, or payment of any Award under the Plan.
 

(d) “Double Trigger” Change in Control Vesting. Unless otherwise expressly set forth in an award agreement, if awards granted under the Plan are
assumed by a successor in connection with a change in control of the Company, such awards will not automatically vest and pay out solely as a result of the
Change in Control.
 

Section 4
Restricted Stock Award, Restricted Stock Purchase Right and Restricted Stock Units

 
(a) Awards of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Purchase Rights. Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units

may be issued either alone, in addition to, or in tandem with other Awards granted under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside of the Plan. The
Administrator shall determine the individuals to whom it will award Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, and it shall advise the
Recipient in writing, by means of an Award Agreement, of the terms, conditions and restrictions related to the Award, including the number of Shares of
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units to be awarded to the Recipient, the price to be paid, if any, the time or times within which such Awards may be
subject to forfeiture and any other terms and conditions of the Awards, in addition to those contained in this Section 4. The purchase price of the Shares
subject to the Restricted Stock Purchase Rights shall be as determined by the Administrator. The Administrator may condition the grant or vesting of
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units upon the attainment of specified performance goals of the Recipient or of the Company, its Affiliates for or
within which the Recipient is primarily employed, or upon such other factors as the Administrator shall determine. The provisions of an Award need not be
the same with respect to each Recipient. The terms of the Award of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units shall comply in all respects with Applicable
Law and the terms of the Plan.
 

(b) Awards and Certificates. Each Award shall be confirmed by, and subject to the terms of, an Award Agreement. Shares of Restricted Stock shall
be evidenced in such manner as the Administrator may deem appropriate, including book-entry registration or issuance of one or more stock certificates.
The Administrator may require that the certificates evidencing such Shares be held in custody by the Company until the restrictions thereon shall have
lapsed and that, as a condition of any Award of Restricted Stock, the Recipient shall have delivered to the Company a stock power, endorsed in blank,
relating to the Shares covered by such Award. Any certificate issued with respect to Shares of Restricted Stock shall be registered in the name of such
Recipient and shall bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to such Award, substantially in the following
form:
 

“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER AND OTHER TERMS AND
CONDITIONS (INCLUDING FORFEITURE) SET FORTH IN THE REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. 2017 EQUITY AWARD PLAN AND THE
AWARD AGREEMENT, BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER. COPIES OF SUCH PLAN AND AWARD
AGREEMENT ARE ON FILE AT THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF REKOR SYSTEMS, INC. ANY TRANSFER OR PURPORTED
TRANSFER OF THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE IN VIOLATION OF SUCH AWARD AGREEMENT SHALL BE
NULL AND VOID.”

 
(c) If and when the Restriction Period (hereinafter defined) expires without a prior forfeiture of the Restricted Stock subject to such Restriction

Period, the Recipient may request that unlegended certificates for such Shares be delivered to the Recipient. Such certificates may bear a legend pursuant to
Section 13, despite the removal of any legend under this Section 4.
 

(d) Terms and Conditions. Shares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:
 



(i) Restriction Period. Subject to the provisions of the Plan and the terms of the Award Agreement, during a period set by the Administrator,
commencing with the date of grant of such Award (the “Restriction Period”), which shall not be less than one (1) year, the Recipient shall not be permitted
to sell, assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise encumber Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units (the “Restrictions”). The Administrator may
provide for the lapse of such Restrictions in installments or otherwise and may accelerate or waive such Restrictions, in whole or in part, in each case based
on period of service, performance of the Recipient or of the Company, its Affiliates, division or department for which the Recipient is employed or such
other factors or criteria as the Administrator may determine.
 

(ii) Repurchase Option. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the Award Agreement granting a Restricted Stock Purchase Right of
Restricted Stock shall grant the Company a repurchase option exercisable during the Restriction Period upon the voluntary or involuntary termination of
the Recipient’s employment with the Company for any reason (including death or disability). Subject to any requirements of the Applicable Laws, the
terms of the Company’s repurchase option (including without limitation the price at which, and the consideration for which, it may be exercised, and the
events upon which it shall lapse) shall be as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion and reflected in the Award Agreement for such Restricted
Stock Purchase Rights.
 

(iii) Rights of Restricted Stock Recipients. Except as provided in this Section 4(d) of the Plan, the applicable Award Agreement and
Applicable Law, the Recipient shall have, with respect to the Shares of Restricted Stock, all of the rights of a stockholder of the Company holding the class
or series of Common Stock that is the subject of the Award Agreement, including, if so provided in the Award Agreement, the right to vote the Shares and
the right to receive any cash dividends. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator in the applicable Award Agreement for the Restriction Period,
(A) cash dividends on the Shares that are the subject of the Award Agreement shall be paid in cash to the Recipient and may be subject to forfeiture as
provided in the Award Agreement and (B) dividends payable in Common Stock shall be paid in the form of Restricted Stock. If there is a pro rata
distribution of warrants or other rights to acquire shares of Common Stock, then the Recipient shall have the right to participate in or receive such warrants
or other rights, provided, however, that any shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of such warrants or other rights shall be subject to
the same vesting requirements and restrictions as the underlying Common Stock.
 

(iv) Rights of Restricted Stock Unit Recipients. The Recipient of Restricted Stock Units shall not have any of the rights of a stockholder of the
Company and has no right to vote any shares of Common Stock or to receive any cash dividend. The Administrator shall be entitled to specify in a
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement that in the event that the Company declares a dividend on its Common Stock, the Company will hold in escrow an
amount in cash equal to the dividend that would have been paid on the Restricted Stock Units had they been converted into the same number of shares of
Common Stock and held by Recipient on the record date of such dividend. Upon adjustment and vesting of the Restricted Stock Unit, any cash payment
due with respect to such dividends shall be made to the Recipient.
 

(v) Termination of Service Provider Relationship. Except to the extent otherwise provided in the applicable Award Agreement or the Plan or
otherwise expressly authorized by the Administrator in its sole discretion, if a Recipient ceases to be a Service Provider for any reason during the
Restriction Period, all Shares or Restricted Stock Units still subject to restriction shall be forfeited by the Recipient.
 

(e) Other Provisions. The Award Agreement shall contain such other terms, provisions and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be
determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, including, without limitation, provisions relating to tax matters including wage withholding
requirements and prohibitions on elections by the Recipient under Section 83(b) of the Code. In addition, the terms of the Award Agreements for Restricted
Stock or Restricted Stock Units need not be the same with respect to each Recipient.
 

Section 5
Options

 
(a) Limitations on Options. For a Director, each Option shall be designated in the written Award Agreement as a Non-Qualified Stock Option. For an

Employee, each Option shall be designated in the written Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock Option or a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
However, notwithstanding such designation for an Employee, to the extent that Incentive Stock Options are amended, the aggregate Fair Market Value of
the Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the Recipient during any calendar year (under all plans of the
Company and any Affiliate) exceeds $100,000 or other circumstances exist that would cause the Options to lose their status as Incentive Stock Options,
such Options shall be treated as Non-Qualified Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 5, Incentive Stock Options shall be taken into account in the
order in which they were granted. The Fair Market Value of the Sharesshall be determined as of the time the Option with respect to such Shares is granted.
If an Option is granted hereunder that is part Incentive Stock Option and part Non-Qualified Stock Option due to becoming first exercisable in any calendar
year in excess of $100,000, the Incentive Stock Option portion of such Option shall become exercisable first in such calendar year, and the Non-Qualified
Stock Option portion shall commence becoming exercisable once the $100,000 limit has been reached.
 

(b) Term of Option. The term of each Option shall be stated in the Award Agreement but shall be no longer than ten (10) years from the date of grant
or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement. Moreover, in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Recipient who, at the
time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company
or any Subsidiary (taking into account the attribution rules under Section 424(d) of the Code), the term of the Incentive Stock Option shall be five (5) years
from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement.
 

(c) Option Exercise Price and Consideration.
 

(i) Exercise Price. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of an Option shall be determined by the
Administrator, subject to the following:

 
(A) In the case of an Incentive Stock Option,

 
(1) granted to an Employee who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten percent
(10%) of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Subsidiary (taking into account the attribution rules under
Section 424(d) of the Code), the per Share exercise price shall be not less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date
of grant, or

 
(2) granted to any Employee other than an Employee described in paragraph (A)(1) immediately above, the per Share exercise price
shall be not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

 



(B) In the case of a Non-Qualified Stock Option, the per Share exercise price shall be not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per
Share on the date of grant; provided, that in the case of Substitute Awards, the exercise price may be less than 100% of Fair Market Value per
Share on the date of grant.

 
(ii) Waiting Period and Exercise Dates. The Administrator shall have the authority, subject to the terms of the Plan, to determine any vesting

restriction or limitation or waiting period with respect to any Option granted to a Recipient or the Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of such
Option; provided, however, that such vesting restriction or limitation or waiting period shall not be less than one (1) year.

 
(iii) Form of Consideration. The Administrator shall determine the acceptable form of consideration for exercising an Option, including the

method of payment. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the Administrator shall determine the acceptable form of consideration at the time of
grant. Unless limited by the Administrator, such consideration may consist entirely of:

 
(A) cash (in the form of a certified or bank check or such other instrument as the Company may accept);

 
(B) other Shares owned on the date of exercise of the Option by the Recipient based on the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on

the date the Option is exercised; provided, however, that in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the right to make a payment in the form of
already owned Shares may be authorized only at the time the Option is granted;

 
(C) any combination of (A) and (B) above;

 
(D) by delivery of a properly executed exercise notice together with such other documentation as the Administrator and a qualified

broker, if applicable, shall require to effect an exercise of the Option, and delivery to the Company of the proceeds required to pay the
exercise price;

 
(E) by requesting that the Company withhold such number of Shares then issuable upon exercise of the Option as will have a Fair

Market Value equal to the exercise price of the Shares being acquired upon the exercise of the Option; or
 

(F) such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of Shares to the extent permitted by the Administrator and
Applicable Laws.

 
(d) Exercise of Option.

 
(i) Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Stockholder. Except as otherwise authorized by the Administrator, any Option granted hereunder shall

be exercisable according to the terms of the Plan and at such times and under such conditions as determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award
Agreement. If the Administrator provides that any Option is exercisable only in installments, the Administrator may at any time waive such installment
exercise provisions, in whole or in part, based on such factors as the Administrator may determine. The Administrator may at any time, in whole or in part,
accelerate the exercisability of any Option.
 

An Option shall be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i) written notice of exercise (in accordance with the Award Agreement)
from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is exercised. Full payment may consist
of any consideration and method of payment authorized by the Administrator in accordance with Section 5(c)(iii) of the Plan and permitted by the Award
Agreement. Shares issued upon exercise of an Option shall be issued in the name of the Recipient. Until the stock certificate evidencing such Shares is
issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or
receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder shall exist with respect to such Shares, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Company
shall issue (or cause to be issued) such stock certificate promptly after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for
which the record date is prior to the date the stock certificate is issued, except as provided in Section 9 of the Plan.
 

(ii) Termination of Relationship as Employee. If a Recipient ceases to be an Employee, other than for Cause or upon the Recipient’s death,
Disability or Retirement, the Recipient, subject to the restrictions of this Section 5(d)(ii), may exercise his or her Option within the time specified in this
Section 5(d)(ii) to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of termination, including any acceleration of vesting granted by the Administrator, and
has not yet expired as set forth in the Award Agreement. Unless otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement, such Option may be exercised as follows:
(i) if the Option is a Non-Qualified Stock Option, it shall remain exercisable for the lesser of the remaining term of the Option or three (3) months from the
date of such termination of the relationship as a Service Provider; provided, however, that if the Recipient dies within such three-month period, any
unexercised Option held by such Recipient shall, notwithstanding the expiration of such three-month period, continue to be exercisable (to the extent to
which it was exercisable at the time of death) for the lesser of a period of twelve (12) months from the date of such death, the expiration of the stated term
of such Option; or (ii) if the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, it shall remain exercisable for the lesser of the term of the Option or three (3) months
following the Recipient’s termination of his or her relationship as a Service Provider; provided, however, that if the Recipient dies within such three-month
period, any unexercised Option held by such Recipient shall, notwithstanding the expiration of such three-month period continue to be exercisable (to the
extent to which it was exercisable at the time of death) for the lesser of a period of twelve (12) months from the date of such death, the expiration of the
stated term of such Option, or the exercise period that applies for purposes of Section 422 of the Code. If, on the date of termination, the Recipient is not
vested as to his or her entire Option and the Administrator has not granted any acceleration of vesting, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the
Option shall revert to the Plan. If a Recipient ceases to be a Service Provider for Cause, the Option shall immediately terminate, and the Shares covered by
such Option shall revert to the Plan. If, after termination, the Recipient does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified herein, the Option shall
terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan.
 

Notwithstanding the above, in the event of a Recipient’s change in status from Employee to non-Employee Officer or Director, the Recipient
shall not automatically be treated as if the Recipient terminated his or her relationship as a Service Provider, nor shall the Recipient be treated as ceasing to
provide services to the Company solely as a result of such change in status. In the event a Recipient’s status changes from Employee to non-Employee
Officer or Director, an Incentive Stock Option held by the Recipient shall cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and shall be treated for tax
purposes as a Non-Qualified Stock Option three (3) months and one (1) day following such change of status.
 

(iii) Disability of Employee. If, as a result of the Recipient’s Disability, a Recipient ceases to be an Employee, the Recipient may exercise his
or her Option subject to the restrictions of this Section 5(d)(iii) and within the period of time specified herein to the extent the Option is vested on the date
of termination, including any acceleration of vesting granted by the Administrator, and has not yet expired as set forth in the Award Agreement. Unless
otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement, such Option shall be exercisable for the lesser of the remaining period of time specified in the Award
Agreement or twelve (12) months from the date of such termination. If, on the date of termination, the Recipient is not vested as to his or her entire Option



and the Administrator has not granted any acceleration of vesting, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option shall revert to the Plan. If, after
termination, the Recipient does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified herein, the Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such
Option shall revert to the Plan. In the event of termination of employment by reason of Disability, if an Incentive Stock Option is exercised after the
expiration of the exercise periods applicable under Section 422 of the Code, such Option will thereafter be treated as a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
 

(iv) Death of Employee. If a Recipient dies while an Employee, the Option may be exercised subject to the restrictions of this Section 5(d)(iv)
and within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement (but in no event later than the earlier of twelve (12) months from the date of such
death or the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement), but only to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of death,
including any acceleration of vesting granted by the Administrator, and has not yet expired as set forth in the Award Agreement. If, at the time of death, the
Recipient is not vested as to his or her entire Option and the Administrator has not granted any acceleration of vesting, the Shares covered by the unvested
portion of the Option shall immediately revert to the Plan. The Option may be exercised by the executor or administrator of the Recipient’s estate or, if
none, by the person(s) entitled to exercise the Option under the Recipient’s will or the applicable laws of descent or distribution. If the Option is not so
exercised within the time specified herein, the Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan. In the event of
termination of employment by reason of death, if an Incentive Stock Option is exercised after the expiration of the exercise periods that apply for purposes
of Section 422 of the Code, such Option will thereafter be treated as a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
 

(v) Retirement of Employee.
 

(A) Non-Qualified Stock Options. If, as a result of the Recipient’s Retirement, a Recipient ceases to be an Employee, the Recipient
may, subject to the restrictions of this Section 5(d)(v), exercise his or her Non-Qualified Stock Option within the time specified herein to the
extent the Option is vested on the date of termination, including any acceleration of vesting granted by the Administrator, and has not yet
expired as set forth in the Award Agreement. Unless otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement, such Option may be exercised for the lesser
of the remaining period of time specified in the Award Agreement or three (3) years following the Recipient’s Retirement. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, if the Recipient dies within such three-year (or shorter) period, any unexercised Non-Qualified Stock Option held by such
Recipient shall, notwithstanding the expiration of such period, continue to be exercisable to the extent to which it was exercisable at the time
of death for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of death or the expiration of the stated term of such Option, whichever period is
shorter.

 
(B) Incentive Stock Options. If the Recipient holds an Incentive Stock Option and ceases to be an Employee by reason of his or her

Retirement, such Incentive Stock Option may continue to be exercisable by the Recipient to the extent to which it was exercisable at the time
of Retirement for a period of three (3) months from the date of Retirement or the expiration of the stated term of such Option, whichever
period is the shorter of the two. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Recipient dies within such three-month period, any unexercised
Incentive Stock Option held by such Recipient shall, notwithstanding the expiration of such period, continue to be exercisable to the extent to
which it was exercisable at the time of death for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of such death, the expiration of the stated term
of such Option, or the exercise period that applies for purposes of Section 422 of the Code, whichever period is shorter.

 
If, on the date of termination due to Retirement, the Recipient is not vested as to his or her entire Option and the Administrator has not

granted any acceleration of vesting, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option shall revert to the Plan. If, after termination due
to Retirement, the Option is not exercised within the time specified herein, the Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option
shall revert to the Plan.

 
(vi) Termination of Relationship as Director. Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement, if a Recipient ceases to be a Director,

other than for Cause, the Recipient, subject to the restrictions of this Section 5(d)(vi) and to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of termination of
service as a Director, including any acceleration of vesting granted by the Administrator, may exercise his or her Option for the lesser of the remaining term
of the Option or three (3) years from the date of such termination of the service as a Director. If, on the date of termination, the Recipient is not vested as to
his or her entire Option and the Administrator has not granted any acceleration of vesting, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option shall
revert to the Plan. If a Recipient ceases to be a Director for Cause, the Option shall immediately terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall
revert to the Plan. If, after termination, the Recipient does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified herein, the Option shall terminate, and
the Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan.
 

(vii) Death of Director. If a Recipient dies while a Director, the Option may be exercised subject to the restrictions of this Section 5(d)(vii)
and within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement (but in no event later than the earlier of three (3) years or the expiration of the term
of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement), but only to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of death, including any acceleration of
vesting granted by the Administrator, and has not yet expired as set forth in the Award Agreement. If, at the time of death, the Recipient is not vested as to
his or her entire Option and the Administrator has not granted any acceleration of vesting, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option shall
immediately revert to the Plan. The Option may be exercised by the executor or administrator of the Recipient’s estate or, if none, by the person(s) entitled
to exercise the Option under the Recipient’s will or the applicable laws of descent or distribution. If the Option is not so exercised within the time specified
herein, the Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan.
 

(viii) Cash Out Provisions. On receipt of written notice of exercise, to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and the regulations
thereunder, the Administrator may elect, but shall not be required, to cash out all or any part of the shares of Common Stock for which an Option is being
exercised by paying the Recipient an amount, in cash, equal to the excess of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock over the option price times the
number of shares of Common Stock for which an Option is being exercised on the effective date of such cash out. Cash outs pursuant to this Section 5(d)
(viii) relating to Options held by Recipients who are actually or potentially subject to Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act shall comply with the provisions
of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder, to the extent applicable.
 

(ix) No Option Repricing. Except as provided in Section 9 of the Plan, the Administrator shall not be permitted to Reprice an Option after the
date of grant without the approval of the Company’s stockholders.
 

Section 6
Other Awards

 
The Administrator, in its sole discretion, but subject to the terms of the Plan, may grant the following types of Awards (in addition to or in

combination with the Awards of Options and Restricted Stock described above) under the Plan on a standalone, combination or tandem basis:
 



(a) Stock Appreciation Right. The Administrator may grant a right to receive the excess of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the Stock
Appreciation Right is exercised over the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the Stock Appreciation Right was granted (the “Spread”). Upon exercise
of a Stock Appreciation Right, the Spread with respect to a Stock Appreciation Right will be payable in cash, Shares with a total Fair Market Value equal to
the Spread or a combination of these two. The terms of the Award Agreements granting Stock Appreciation Rights need not be the same with respect to
each Recipient. The term of each Stock Appreciation Right shall be stated in the Award Agreement but shall be no longer than ten (10) years from the date
of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement. A Stock Appreciation Right shall be subject to adjustment as provided in
Section 9 of the Plan. Except as provided in Section 9 of the Plan, the Administrator shall not be permitted to Reprice a Stock Appreciation Right after the
date of grant without the approval of the Company’s stockholders. The Administrator may provide for the automatic exercise on the last day of the term for
any Stock Appreciation Right where the Fair Market Value of the Stock Appreciation Right is greater than zero.
 

(b) Performance Award. The Administrator may grant a Performance Award based on the performance of the Recipient over a specified performance
period. A Performance Award may be awarded to an Employee contingent upon future performance of the Company or any Affiliate, division or
department thereof in which such Employee is employed, if applicable, during the performance period. The Administrator shall establish the performance
measures applicable to such performance prior to the beginning of the performance period, but subject to such later revisions as the Administrator may
deem appropriate to reflect significant, unforeseen events or changes. The Performance Award may consist of a right to receive Shares (or cash in an
amount equal to the Fair Market Value thereof) or the right to receive an amount equal to the appreciation, if any, in the Fair Market Value of Shares over a
specified period. Payment of a Performance Award may be made following the end of the performance period in cash, Shares (based on the Fair Market
Value on the payment date) or a combination thereof, as determined by the Administrator, and in a lump sum or installments as determined by the
Administrator. Except as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement or as determined by the Administrator, a Performance Award shall terminate if the
Recipient does not remain continuously in the employ of the Company at all times during the applicable performance period. The terms of the Award
Agreements granting Performance Awards need not be the same with respect to each Recipient.
 

(c) Performance Shares. The Administrator may grant Performance Shares to a Recipient. Performance Shares may be awarded to an Employee
contingent upon future performance of the Company or any Affiliate, division or department thereof in which such Employee is employed, if applicable,
during the performance period. The Administrator will set the performance periods and performance objectives that, depending on the extent to which they
are met, will determine the number of Performance Shares payable in cash, Shares, or a combination of cash and Shares, as applicable. Unless otherwise
provided in an Award Agreement or determined by the Administrator, Performance Share Awards shall terminate if the Recipient does not remain an
Employee of the Company or its Affiliates at all times during the applicable performance period. The terms of the Award Agreements granting
Performance Shares need not be the same with respect to each Recipient.
 

(d) Performance Units. The Administrator may grant Performance Units that will result in a payment to an Employee only if performance goals
established by the Administrator are achieved. The Administrator will set the performance periods and performance objectives that, depending on the
extent to which they are met, will determine the amount of Performance Units payable in cash, Shares, or a combination of cash and Shares, as applicable.
Unless otherwise provided in an Award Agreement or determined by the Administrator, Performance Unit awards shall terminate if the Recipient does not
remain an Employee of the Company, or its Affiliates at all times during the applicable performance period. The terms of the Award Agreements granting
Performance Units need not be the same with respect to each Recipient.
 

(e) Other Share-Based Awards. The Administrator may, in its discretion, grant other Share-based Awards which are related to or serve a similar
function to those Awards set forth in this Section 6.
 

Section 7
Qualified Performance-Based Compensation

 
The Administrator may designate any Award as “qualified performance-based compensation” for purposes of the Section 162(m) Exception.

Accordingly, in the case of such Awards, the Plan shall be administered and the provisions of the Plan or any related Award Agreement shall be interpreted
in a manner consistent with the Section 162(m) Exception. Any Awards designated as “qualified performance-based compensation” shall be conditioned on
the achievement of objective goals based on one or more of the following performance measures as determined by the Administrator:
 

(i) earnings;
 

(ii) operating profits (including measures of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), or adjusted
EBITDA);

 
(iii) free cash flow or adjusted free cash flow;

 
(iv) cash from operating activities;

 
(v) revenues;

 
(vi) net income (before or after tax);

 
(vii) financial return ratios;

 
(viii) market performance;

 
(ix) stockholder return and/or value;

 
(x) net profits;

 
(xi) earnings per share;

 
(xii) profit returns and margins;

 
(xiii) stock price;

 
(xv) working capital;



 
(xvi) capital investments;

 
(xvii) returns on assets;

 
(xviii) returns on equity;

 
(xix) returns on capital investments;

 
(xx) selling, general and administrative expenses;

 
(xxi) discounted cash flows;

 
(xxii) productivity;

 
(xxiii) expense targets;

 
(xxiv) market share;

 
(xxv) cost control measures;

 
(xxvi) strategic initiatives;

 
(xxvii) changes between years or periods that are determined with respect to any of the above-listed performance criteria;

 
(xxviii) net present value;

 
(xxix) sales volume;

 
(xxx) cash conversion costs;

 
(xxxi) leverage ratios;

 
(xxxii) maintenance of liquidity;

 
(xxxiii) integration of acquired businesses;

 
(xxxiv) operational efficiencies, including Lean Six Sigma initiatives;

 
(xxxv) regulatory compliance, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and

 
(xxxvi) economic profit.

 
Performance criteria may be measured solely on a Company, Affiliate or business unit basis, on specific capital projects or groups of projects or a

combination thereof. Further, performance criteria may reflect absolute entity performance or a relative comparison of entity performance to the
performance of a peer group of entities or other external measure of the selected performance criteria. The measure for any such award may include or
exclude items to retain the intents and purposes of specific objectives, such as losses from discontinued operations, extraordinary gains or losses, the
cumulative effect of accounting changes, acquisitions or divestitures, foreign exchange impacts, acceleration of payments, costs of capital invested,
discount factors, and any unusual or nonrecurring gain or loss. The performance criteria (and any exclusions) will be established by the Administrator
before the earlier of (i) 90 days after the commencement of the applicable performance period and (ii) 25% of the performance period has elapsed and will
not be subject to change (although future awards may be based on different performance criteria). The performance periods may extend over one (1) to five
(5) calendar years, and may overlap one another.
 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan (other than Article 11), with respect to any Award that is subject to this Section 7, the Administrator may
adjust downwards, but not upwards, the amount payable pursuant to such Award, and the Administrator may not waive the achievement of the applicable
performance goals except in the case of the death or disability of the Recipient or as otherwise determined by the Administrator in special circumstances.
The Administrator must certify, in writing the amount of the Award for each Recipient for such performance period before payment of the Award is made
 

Section 8
Non-Transferability of Awards

 
Unless otherwise specified by the Administrator in the Award Agreement, an Award may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred,

or disposed of in any manner other than (i) by will or by the laws of descent or distribution, (ii) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order (as defined
in the Code or Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or the rules thereunder), (iii) to family members of a
Recipient or trusts for the benefit of family members of a Recipient in transactions not involving payment of consideration or (iv) as permitted by Rule 701
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Options and other Awards may be exercised, during the lifetime of the Recipient, only by
the Recipient or by the guardian or legal representative of the Recipient or by an alternate payee pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order. Any
attempt to assign, pledge or otherwise transfer any Award or any right or privileges conferred thereby, contrary to the Plan, or the sale or levy or similar
process upon the rights and privileges conferred hereby, shall be void.
 

Section 9
Adjustments upon Changes in Capitalization

 
Subject to any required action by the stockholders of the Company, the number of Shares covered by each outstanding Award and the number of

Shares which have been authorized for issuance under the Plan but as to which no Awards have yet been granted or which have been returned to the Plan
upon cancellation or expiration of an Award, as well as the price per Share covered by each such outstanding Award, shall be proportionately adjusted for



any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting from a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, special cash
dividend, combination or reclassification of the Common Stock, or any other increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock
effected without receipt of consideration by the Company; provided, however, that (a) conversion of any convertible securities of the Company shall not be
deemed to have been “effected without receipt of consideration;” and (b) no adjustment shall be made below par value and no fractional shares of Common
Stock shall be issued. Such adjustment shall be made by the Board in its sole discretion, whose determination in that respect shall be final, binding and
conclusive. In the event of an extraordinary cash dividend, the Administrator may, in its sole discretion, equitably adjust the aggregate number of Shares
available under the Plan, as well as the exercise price, number of Shares and other appropriate terms of any outstanding Award in order to preserve the
intended benefits of the Plan. Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible
into shares of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of Shares subject to an
Award.
 

Section 10
Eligibility for Awards

 
Awards may be granted to Employees and Directors. In addition, an Award may be granted to a person who is offered employment by the Company

or an Affiliate, provided that such Award shall be immediately forfeited if such person does not accept such offer of employment within such time period as
the Company or Affiliate may establish. If otherwise eligible, an Employee or Director who has been granted an Award may be granted additional Awards.
 

Section 11
Date of Grant

 
The date of grant of an Award shall be, for all purposes, the date on which the Administrator makes the determination granting such Award, or such

other later date as is determined by the Administrator. Notice of the determination shall be provided to each Recipient within a reasonable time after the
date of such grant.
 

Section 12
Amendment and Termination of the Plan

 
(a) Amendment and Termination. Subject to this Section 12, the Board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the Plan. Subject to

Section 7 and the other terms of the Plan, the Administrator may amend the terms of any Award theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively, but no
such amendment shall impair the rights of any Recipient without the Recipient’s consent.
 

(b) Stockholder Approval. The Company shall obtain stockholder approval of any material Plan amendment and any amendment to the extent
necessary and desirable to comply with the Code (or other applicable law, rule or regulation, including the requirements of any exchange or quotation
system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted). Such stockholder approval, if required, shall be obtained in such a manner and to such a degree as
is required by the Applicable Law, rule or regulation.
 

(c) Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of the Plan shall impair the rights of any Recipient
(except such an amendment made to comply with Applicable Law, including without limitation, Section 409A of the Code, stock exchange rules or
accounting rules), unless mutually agreed otherwise between the Recipient and the Administrator, which agreement must be in writing and signed by the
Recipient and the Company.
 

Section 13
Conditions upon Issuance of Shares

 
(a) Legal Compliance. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or any agreement entered into by the Company pursuant to the Plan, the

Company shall not be obligated, and shall have no liability for failure, to issue or deliver any Shares under the Plan unless such issuance or delivery would
comply with the Applicable Laws, with such compliance determined by the Company in consultation with its legal counsel. As a condition to receiving an
Award, the Company may require the Recipient to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise, purchase or vesting that the Shares are being
purchased or held only for investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such
a representation is required by law. Shares issued upon exercise, purchase or vesting of Awards granted prior to the date on which the Common Stock
becomes a Listed Security shall be subject to certain restrictions on transfer and certain conditions regarding the voting rights of such Shares, as reflected in
the applicable Award Agreement. In addition, Awards issued prior to the date on which the Common Stock becomes a Listed Security shall require the
Recipient to agree to a lock-up agreement in connection with public offerings of the Company’s stock that applies to all capital stock and rights to purchase
capital stock of the Company held by the Recipient on such terms and subject to such conditions as are reflected in the applicable Award Agreement. The
Administrator may cause a legend or legends to be placed on any certificates for Shares or other securities delivered under the Plan as it may deem
appropriate to make reference to such legal rules and restrictions, or to impose any restrictions on transfer.
 

(b) Withholding Obligations. The Administrator may take such steps as are considered necessary or appropriate for the withholding of any federal,
state, local or foreign taxes of any kind which the Company is required by any law or regulation of any governmental authority to withhold in connection
with any Award under the Plan, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the withholding of all or any portion of any payment or the
withholding of the issue of Common Stock to be issued under the Plan, until such time as the Recipient has paid the Company for any amount which the
Company is required to withhold with respect to taxes. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, withholding obligations may be settled with
vested Common Stock, including vested Common Stock that is part of the Award that gives rise to the withholding requirement. The Administrator may
establish such procedures as it deems appropriate, including the making of irrevocable elections, for the settlement of withholding obligations with vested
Common Stock.
 

(c) Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, which authority is
deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, shall relieve the Company of any liability in
respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which such requisite authority shall not have been obtained.
 

(d) Grants Exceeding Allotted Shares. If the number of Shares covered by an Award exceeds, as of the date of grant, the number of Shares which
may be issued under the Plan without additional stockholder approval, such Award shall be void with respect to such excess Shares, unless stockholder
approval of an amendment sufficiently increasing the number of Shares subject to the Plan is timely obtained in accordance with Applicable Law and
Section 12(b) of the Plan.
 



Section 14
Information and Documents to Recipients

 
Prior to the date, if any, upon which the Common Stock becomes a Listed Security and if required by the Applicable Laws, the Company shall provide
financial statements at least annually to each Recipient during the period such Recipient has one or more Awards outstanding, and in the case of an
individual who acquired Shares pursuant to the Plan, during the period such individual owns such Shares. The Company shall not be required to provide
such information if the issuance of Awards under the Plan is limited to key employees whose duties in connection with the Company assure their access to
equivalent information. Furthermore, prior to the date, if any, upon which the Common Stock becomes a Listed Security, to the extent that the Company is
relying on the exemption from registration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act provided in Rule 12h-1(f)(1) under the Exchange Act, the Company
shall provide each Recipient the information described in Rules 701(e)(3), (4), and (5) under the Securities Act not less frequently than every six months
with the financial statements being not more than 180 days old and with such information provided either by physical or electronic delivery to the
Recipient or by written notice to the Recipients of the availability of the information on an Internet site that may be password-protected and of any
password needed to access the information.
 

Section 15
General Provisions

 
(a) Term of Plan. The Plan shall become effective upon its approval by the stockholders of the Company (“Effective Date”), provided that such

approval occurs on or before the first anniversary of the date of its adoption by the Board. Such stockholder approval shall be obtained in the manner and to
the degree required under Applicable Laws and the rules of any stock exchange upon which the Common Stock is listed. It shall continue in effect for a
term of ten (10) years unless terminated earlier under Section 12 of the Plan.
 

(b) No Contract of Employment. Neither the Plan nor any Award hereunder shall confer upon an individual any right with respect to continuing such
individual’s employment relationship with the Company, nor shall they interfere in any way with such individual’s right or the Company’s right to
terminate such employment relationship at any time, with or without cause.
 

(c) Severability. In the event that any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect
the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.
 

(d) Governing Law. The Plan and all Awards made and actions taken thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of Delaware.
 

(e) Prohibition on Loans to Recipients. The Company shall not lend funds to any Recipient for the purpose of paying the exercise or base price
associated with any Award or for the purpose of paying any taxes associated with the exercise or vesting of an Award.
 

(f) Unfunded Status of Plan. It is intended that the Plan constitute an “unfunded” plan for incentive and deferred compensation. The Administrator
may authorize the creation of trusts or other arrangements to meet the obligations created under the Plan to deliver Common Stock or make payment;
provided, however, that, unless the Administrator otherwise determines, the existence of such trusts or other arrangements is consistent with the “unfunded”
status of the Plan.
 

(g) Liability of Administrator. Except as provided under Applicable Law, no member of the Board or the Committee will be liable for any action or
determination made in good faith by the Board or the Committee with respect to the Plan or any Award under it. Neither the Company, the Board nor the
Committee, nor any Affiliate, nor any directors, officers or employees thereof, shall be liable to any Recipient or other person if it is determined for any
reason by the Internal Revenue Service or any court that an Incentive Stock Option granted hereunder does not qualify for tax treatment as an “incentive
stock option” under Section 422 of the Code.
 

(h) Return and/or Forfeiture of Performance-Based Payments or Awards. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan or in any Award
Agreement, in the event that pursuant to the terms or requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, or of any applicable laws, rules or regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time, and in the event
any Award is based upon the satisfaction of financial performance metrics which are subsequently reversed due to a restatement or reclassification of
financial results of the Company, then any payments made or awards granted shall be returned and forfeited to the extent required and as provided by
applicable laws, rules, regulations or listing requirements.
 

(i) Participants in Foreign Countries. The Administrator shall have the authority to adopt such modifications, procedures and sub-plans as may be
necessary or desirable to comply with provisions of the laws of foreign countries in which the Company or its Affiliates may operate to assure the viability
of the benefits from Awards granted to Recipients performing services in such countries and to meet the objectives of the Plan.
 

*            *             * 
 



Exhibit 10.8
 

REKOR SYSTEMS, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this [[GRANTDATE]] by and between Rekor Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the

“Company”), and [[FIRSTNAME]] [[LASTNAME]] (the “Recipient”), pursuant to the Novume Solutions, Inc. 2017 Equity Award Plan (the “Plan”).
Terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Plan. This Agreement and the award
contained herein are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan, which are incorporated by reference herein, and the following terms and
conditions:
 

WITNESSETH:
 

WHEREAS, the Recipient is an Employee of the Company (in such capacity, the “Service Recipient”);
 

WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Plan in order to promote the interests of the Company and its stockholders by using equity interests in the
Company to attract, retain and motivate its management and other eligible persons and to encourage and reward their contributions to the Company’s
and/or its Affiliates’ performance and profitability; and
 

WHEREAS, the Administrator has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to grant Restricted Stock Units (as defined herein) under
the Plan to the Recipient pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the various covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the
parties hereto agree as follows:
 

1. Award of Restricted Stock Units. In consideration for the prior and/or continued service of the Recipient to the Service Recipient, the Company
hereby awards to the Recipient, under the Plan, [[SHARESGRANTED]] restricted stock units (“Restricted Stock Units”) effective as of:
[[GRANTDATE]] (the “Date of Grant”). The Company hereby represents that the Date of Grant set forth above is the date on which the Administrator
authorized and approved the grant of the Restricted Stock Units to the Recipient, or such later date as set forth in the Administrator’s action authorizing the
grant; provided, that, in no event may the Date of Grant precede the date of on which the Recipient commenced providing services to the Service
Recipient.  In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the terms of this Agreement shall control.
 

2. No Rights of Stockholder. Restricted Stock Units represent the Company’s unfunded and unsecured promise to issue shares of the common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”), of the Company, at a future date subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Plan.  The Recipient shall
have no rights of a stockholder with respect to any Shares which may be issued in settlement of any Restricted Stock Units until the date of the issuance of
a certificate for any such Shares (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the
Company). Until that time, the Recipient shall have no voting rights, and except as provided in Section 3 and Section 7 of this Agreement, no adjustment
shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights, with respect to any Shares that are issued in settlement of any Restricted Stock Units.
 

3. Dividend Equivalents. Subject to the provisions of Section 5, in the event that the Company declares a cash dividend on its Common Stock, the
Company will hold in escrow an amount in cash equal to the dividend that would have been paid on the Restricted Stock Units had they been converted
into the same number of shares of Common Stock and held by the Recipient on the record date of such dividend. Upon vesting of the Restricted Stock
Units and on the Settlement Date (as defined below), any such dividend equivalents with respect to the vested Restricted Stock Units shall be paid to the
Recipient.

 
4. Vesting of Restricted Stock Units.

 
(a) Restricted Stock Unit Vesting. The Restricted Stock Units shall vest in accordance with the following schedule provided that the Recipient

is engaged through such date by the Service Recipient:

 

 

 

[[ALLVESTSEGS]]
 

(b) Forfeiture.  If the Recipient ceases to be a Service Provider of the Service Recipient for any reason, all Restricted Stock Units that have not
vested as of the date of termination will be automatically forfeited by the Recipient.
 

(c) Change of Control. To the extent the Restricted Stock Units have not previously been forfeited:
 

(i) if there is a Change in Control after which this award of Restricted Stock Units is continued by the Company, assumed by the
resulting entity (or one of its affiliates) or substituted by the resulting entity (or one of its affiliates) into an equivalent award, then the Restricted Stock
Units will continue to vest in accordance with Section 4(a) of the Plan, unless otherwise accelerated by the Administrator;
 

(ii) if there is a Change in Control after which this award of Restricted Stock Units is not continued, assumed or substituted as
described above, then all unvested Restricted Stock Units will immediately vest upon the consummation of such Change in Control.
 

5. Settlement of Restricted Stock Units. On the Settlement Date (as defined below), Restricted Stock Units shall be (i) converted into an equivalent
number of shares of Common Stock that will be issued to the Recipient, or in the event of the Recipient’s death, the Recipient’s beneficiary, (ii) payable in
cash determined by reference to the Fair Market Value of such shares of Common Stock, or (iii) some combination thereof. Promptly, but in no event later
than sixty (60) days after the Settlement Date, certificates representing such shares of Common Stock shall be delivered to the Recipient. The “Settlement
Date” shall be the date of vesting as set forth in Section 4; provided, however, that, to the extent that all or part of the Restricted Stock Units are to be
settled with shares of Common Stock and on the date of such vesting the Recipient is prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities pursuant to the



Restriction Period set forth in Section 6 below, applicable securities laws and/or the Company’s policy on securities trading and disclosure of confidential
information, then the Settlement Date shall be, in the determination of the Administrator, the first date the Recipient is no longer prohibited from such
trading.
 

6. Restrictions on Transfer. In addition to any other limitation on transfer created by applicable securities laws and except as otherwise provided in
this Agreement, during the period from the Date of Grant until [the earlier of] the date that is one year from the Date of Grant [or a Change in Control], the
Recipient may not may not sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or otherwise dispose of (“Transfer”) any Restricted Stock Units (or the underlying
shares of Common Stock) other than (A) by will or the laws of descent or distribution or (B) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order (as defined in
Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or the rules thereunder). Any transferee (direct or indirect) of any Restricted
Stock Units (or the underlying shares of Common Stock) shall be bound by the all restrictions of transfer or other conditions on such units as set forth in
this Agreement or the Plan. Any Transfer or purported Transfer by the Recipient of any of the Restricted Stock Units not otherwise permitted herein shall
be null and void, and the Company shall not recognize or give effect to such Transfer on its books and records or recognize the person to whom such
purported Transfer has been made as the legal or beneficial holder of such Restricted Stock Units.
 

7. Adjustment Provisions. Subject to any required action by stockholders of the Company, the Administrator, in a manner consistent with Section 9
of the Plan, shall make or cause to be made a proportionate adjustment in the number of Restricted Stock Units, including a substitution or adjustment in
the aggregate number or kind of shares subject to this Agreement, for any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting
from a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, special cash dividend, combination or reclassification of the Common Stock, or any other similar
increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock effected without receipt of consideration by the Company; provided, however, that
(a) conversion of any convertible securities of the Company shall not be deemed to have been “effected without receipt of consideration”; and (b) no
adjustment shall be made below par value and no fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued. Any securities, awards or rights issued pursuant to
this Section 7 shall be subject to the same restrictions as the underlying Restricted Stock Units to which they relate.
 

8. Tax Withholding. As a condition precedent to the receipt of any Restricted Stock Units hereunder, the Recipient agrees to pay to the Company, at
such times as the Company shall determine, such amounts as the Company shall deem necessary to satisfy any withholding taxes due on income that the
Recipient recognizes pursuant to this award. The obligations of the Company under this Agreement and the Plan shall be conditional on such payment or
arrangements, and the Service Recipient shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment otherwise due to
the Recipient. In addition, the Recipient may elect with the consent of the Company, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, to satisfy the
withholding requirement by (i) having the Company withhold shares of Common Stock with a Fair Market Value, as of the date of such withholding,
sufficient to satisfy the withholding obligation, or (ii) if permitted under the Company’s applicable Insider Trading Policy as then in effect, to conduct a sell
to cover (a “Sell to Cover”) by selling a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock resulting from the vesting of the Award to satisfy any resulting
withholding obligation of the Company.
 

9. Registration. This grant is subject to the condition that if at any time the Administrator shall determine, in its discretion, that the listing of the
shares of Common Stock issuable upon vesting and conversion of the Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder on any securities exchange, or the
registration or qualification of such shares under any federal or state law, or the consent or approval of any regulatory body, shall be necessary or desirable
as a condition of, or in connection with, the grant, receipt or delivery of shares of Common Stock hereunder, such grant, receipt or delivery will not be
effected unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained free of any conditions not
acceptable to the Administrator. The Company agrees to make every reasonable effort to effect or obtain any such listing, registration, qualification,
consent or approval.
 

10. Rights of the Recipient. In no event shall the granting of the Restricted Stock Units or the other provisions hereof or the acceptance of the
Restricted Stock Units by the Recipient interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Service Recipient to terminate the Recipient’s engagement at any
time, nor confer upon the Recipient any right to continue in the engagement of the Service Recipient for any period of time or to continue his present or any
other rate of compensation.
 

11. Confidentiality. The Company and the Recipient acknowledge that the services to be performed by the Recipient under this Agreement are
unique and extraordinary and, as a result of his or her engagement therefor, the Recipient shall be in possession of Confidential Information relating to the
business practices of the Company and its Affiliates. The term “Confidential Information” shall mean any and all information (oral and written) relating
to the Company and any of its Affiliates, or any of their respective activities, or of the clients, customers, acquisition targets, investment models or business
practices of the Company or any of its Affiliates, other than such information which (i) is generally available to the public or within the relevant trade or
industry, other than as the result of breach of the provisions of this Section 11, or (ii) the Recipient is required to disclose under any applicable laws,
regulations or directives of any government agency, tribunal or authority having jurisdiction in the matter or under subpoena or other process of law. The
Recipient shall not, during the period the Recipient is engaged by the Service Recipient nor at any time thereafter, except as may be required in the course
of the performance of his duties hereunder and except with respect to any litigation or arbitration involving this Agreement, including the enforcement
hereof, directly or indirectly, use, communicate, disclose or disseminate to any person, firm or corporation any Confidential Information regarding the
Company or any of its Affiliates nor of the clients, customers, acquisition targets or business practices of the Company or any of its Affiliates acquired by
the Recipient during, or as a result of, his engagement by the Service Recipient without the prior written consent of the Company. Without limiting the
foregoing, the Recipient understands that the Recipient shall be prohibited from misappropriating any trade secret of the Company or any of its Affiliates or
of the clients or customers of the Company or any of its Affiliates acquired by the Recipient during, or as a result of, his engagement by the Service
Recipient at any time during or after the period the Recipient is engaged by the Service Recipient.
 

12. Continuing Obligation. In the event of any violation of Section 11 of this Agreement, the Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the post-
termination restrictions contained in Section 11 shall be extended by a period of time equal to the period of such violation, it being the intention of the
parties hereto that the running of the applicable post-termination restriction period shall be tolled during any period of such violation.
 

13. Miscellaneous.
 

(a) Successors. This Agreement and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto
and their respective legal representatives, heirs and successors, except as expressly herein otherwise provided.
 

(b) Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the matters referred
to herein. Subject to Section 12 of the Plan, this Agreement may not be amended by the Administrator without the Recipient’s consent if the amendment
shall impair the Recipient’s rights under this Agreement.
 



(c) Capitalized Terms; Headings; Pronouns; Governing Law. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein are deemed to have the
same meanings as in the Plan. The descriptive headings of the respective sections and subsections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of
reference only and shall not be deemed to modify or construe the provisions which follow them. Any use of any masculine pronoun shall include the
feminine and vice-versa and any use of a singular, the plural and vice-versa, as the context and facts may require. The construction and interpretation of this
Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Delaware.
 

(d) Notices. Each notice relating to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given if delivered by registered or certified mail,
or by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, with postage or charges prepaid, to the address hereinafter provided in this Section 13. Any such
notice or communication given by first-class mail shall be deemed to have been given two business days after the date so mailed, and such notice or
communication given by overnight delivery service shall be deemed to have been given one business day after the date so sent, provided such notice or
communication arrives at its destination. Each notice to the Company shall be addressed to it at its offices at 7172 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite 400,
Columbia, MD 21046 (attention: Chief Financial Officer), with a copy to the General Counsel of the Company or to such other designee of the
Company. Each notice to the Recipient shall be addressed to the Recipient at the Recipient’s address shown on the signature page hereof.
 

(e) Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under
applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any party or circumstance shall be prohibited by or invalid under
applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the minimal extent of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement or the application
of such provision to other parties or circumstances.
 

(f) Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which, when
taken together, shall constitute the entire document.
 

*            *             *
 

 



 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be duly executed by its officer thereunto duly authorized, and the Recipient
has executed this Agreement all as of the day and year first above written.
 

   
REKOR SYSTEMS, INC.
 
By:
Its: Chairman
 
RECIPIENT
 
 
[[FIRSTNAME]] [[LASTNAME]]
[[RESADDR1]] [[RESADDR2]]
[[RESCITY]], [[RESSTATEORPROV]]
[[RESPOSTALCODE]]
 
 

 
 

[[SIGNATURE]]
 

[[SIGNATURE_DATE]]
 
 
 



Exhibit 21.1
 

Subsidiaries of Rekor Systems, Inc.
  
  

Legal Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
Rekor Recognition Systems, Inc. Delaware
Rekor Public Safety Network, LLC Delaware
Firestorm Franchising, LLC Delaware
Firestorm Holdings, LLC Delaware
Firestorm Solutions, LLC Delaware
Global Public Safety, LLC (19.99% ownership) Delaware
Columbia Gateway Investors, LLC Delaware
OpenALPR Software Solutions, LLC Delaware
Ollie Dee LLC Delaware
Roker, Inc. (50% ownership) Delaware
Waycare Technologies Ltd. Israel
Waycare Technologies Inc. Delaware
 



Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPNDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Rekor Systems, Inc. and  Subsidiaries on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-
220864, 333-260153 & 333-259041) and Forms S-3 (File No. 333-224423, 333-252735, 333-259447 & 333-260607) of our report dated March 31, 2022,
with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Rekor Systems, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,
2021.

 
/s/ Friedman LLP 
 
East Hanover, New Jersey
March 31, 2022
 
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Robert A. Berman, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rekor Systems, Inc.
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d 15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared.

 
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation. and
 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information. and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 31, 2022 /s/ Robert A. Berman
 Robert A. Berman
 Chief Executive Officer
 Principal Executive Officer
 
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Eyal Hen, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rekor Systems, Inc.
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d 15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared.

 
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation. and
 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information. and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 31, 2022 /s/ Eyal Hen
 Eyal Hen
 Chief Financial Officer
 
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to, and as required by, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Rekor Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report
on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
Date: March 31, 2022 /s/ Robert A. Berman
 Robert A. Berman
 Chief Executive Officer
 Principal Executive Officer
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to Rekor Systems, Inc. and will be
retained by Rekor Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being
furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.
 
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to, and as required by, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Rekor Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report
on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
Date: March 31, 2022 /s/ Eyal Hen
 Eyal Hen 
 Chief Financial Officer
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to Rekor Systems, Inc. and will be
retained by Rekor Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being
furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.
 
 


